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Company Profile

Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“we”, "us”, “Modern Land” or the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries as the “Group”) is a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) from 12 July 2013 with Class 1 qualification in real
estate development in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or
“China").

The Company has always been adhering to the development
concept of “Technology Buildings and Quality Living”, sticking to the
development philosophy of “Natural Simplicity, Harmonious Health,
Simple Focus, and Endless Vitality” and focusing on the theme of
“Action of Loving My Homeland” to bring home owners the sincere
and real life experience and achieve positive economic and social
benefits.

The Company pours herself to a homeland of “Green + comfort
+ energy-saving + full life cycle with mobile internet”. In 2002,
"MOMA" was born. MOMA consists of four text graphics
“METOTTMT AT Two “M™ symbolises our home, “O" represents
the origin of the universe and “ /A" stands for human. The left and
right half of the pattern symbolises architecture and life respectively,
which in turn provides a vivid interpretation for the concept of the
Company of “Technology Buildings and Quality Life”. At present,
MOMA has become an iconic brand in the energy-saving real estate
industry of China.

For many years, the Company has established and improved the
standard development mode of product line, forming three types of
standard product lines which gained a lot of positive feedbacks from
the market. The first type aims to generate “profit + cash flow” while
the second type only aims to generate cash flow, and the third type
focuses on net profit margin. With the successful operation within
three types of product lines, in 2013, in order to solve the two major
problems faced by human beings in 21st century, i.e. sustainable
development and aging population, the Company proposed the
strategy of “heating and cooling unique solution + air quality unique
solution + energy consumption and operation cost reduction unique
solution + full life cycle aging population solution + industry-leading
solution under the theme of sustainable development”. To this end,
the Company has been committed to making product innovation
and has its own Research, Development and Design Department
for self-designing of ten major technical architecture systems
including the geothermal pump, exterior temperature preservation,
ceiling radiation, overall fresh air displacement ventilation and
noise reduction systems. In 2014, a powerful instrument for haze
clearing named “AirDino 1 (RFEZ5%)" was introduced, which has
dual effects including fresh air displacement and purification, wisely
solving the air quality problem throughout the house with only one
machine.

Tk
o
Vag
]
i
B
il
|
Pl
>
]
<
o
o
()
=
=
=
Q
=
o
n
3.
=
e
Q)
)
L
3
=
(0]
o




il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
p-
=)
=
|
N
o
—
=Y

DA/
Company Profile

RAE20RF R K [(REFBEE - KaEiE]
HREHEZLER  CBTHERE 5
MAREMUN [ E+E7 B+ e+ BB A S
EWmBEHERERE] AZLRE N o HAIE
BESTEENEET (2FEBEERNME
EREREE20-26C - BEE30%-70% ©
AISO7730RF EEM R EIERE) - MOMA
EMNEREREATREEBEEN3 B
BEEBEHERERDN  AAEEERTMNE

REIRIT o

HE2014F » RRIRTBFRARIEHEEF
HA0%RTE © 2013F - A MEEMOMN B
ERAMOMNAREFRGBRE-ZBLIZ
e BRl BAKRQFBE—ROEESTH
ErBgeRE=-2BLIZH (APELK
BREETFRZSIEH) - ArIEEEESFTEH
EHEAIFMIE  BInEEE  hRETH
E EHEIBMBANCERRELSCRE
MEPESLHEERE -

The Company has developed the core expertise on technological
real estate, i.e. “high comfort level and low energy consumption”
since 2002. With over a decade of development, “Green +
comfort + energy-saving + full life cycle residential properties
with mobile internet” has become the core competitiveness of
the fourth-generation product. When creating an equally high
comfortable level, with the indoor temperature around 20-26°C and
humidity around 30%-70%, which fits the definition of the “most
comfortable environment” within 1ISO7730, the energy consumption
of MOMA products is estimated to be only 1/3 of that of other
normal residential buildings in China at present. This will save a slew
of cost for the residents and create a pleasant ecological environment
for the society.

As of 2014, the Company and its subsidiaries held a total of over
40 patents. In 2013, both Nanchang Man Ting Chun MOMA
and Modern MOMA passed China Green Building Three-Star
Certification. Up to now, the Company is the only enterprise that has
passed the top certification for green building in China — China Green
Building Three-Star Certification twice. The Company has successively
obtained various honours including but not limited to the Innovative
Brand of Chinese Real Estate (F B &= b & &l #1 & §2), the Elite
Technology Award (#5#5%#%4%), the Chinese Responsible Property
Developer (| B & {f # =), the Real Estate Internet Innovation
Enterprise (EibE G B4 AT 3) and the Best Green Building Real
Estate Enterprise (R1EAR R IEEME D), etc.



BRIRR -

REREAL2ARES((EF) g (85
@) MAREAEEEZ2014%12A31H
HFEZEBRBEHARESE -

FHF

HAE2014F  BAIHEBRF] - 8EER
RER  S4HEEERN T ARK?,356.58
BT At RE8.5%  EFMKER TITE
ERMA06%  ANEEATEEFHEEBRAS
CHEN 20140 B EHEXLKEE 100
e LR AEAEEEEE BT RS A
EERZEAFEE  WEATAR . £8m
% SERROTR T EEN - ¥ FHER TG
REFHI BYBEZIRTENEFEHE
HEENEBEAIE - HARERLERR - B
BTHAREPENT —REAEREBERE
G—IRESHI([RESH] EATRS
EHBEBRRZE)  MARREEHER
EFYEEA LG 3IBERBARE L T
R Bk E R D Bl SR (E 5B FOIk 46 22 R 5B
BREZE —EREIEH ARKEENE
BHEERME - E=REF &K A%
BHBERL  BRAES  2RITHENZHE
APPL#R « IlEZECOCOMOMAREFEER
8o REINARIFE B+ETE+ENRE+2 B
B2 EmARERRENREER R
A[ZAZHZH=RIMA | WERBZE &
20155 BB EARETREESHEZSGA
BHEEHE F—AFER

EE®E

Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders,

[, on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”
and each a “Director”) of the Company, am pleased to present the
business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014
and its prospects.

A GALLOPING YEAR

2014 was our galloping year, so to speak. First of all, we had
significant improvement in scale by achieving contracted sales of
RMB7,356.5 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 68.5%,
with gross profit margin at an industry-leading level of 40.6%. As
such, the Company was ranked by the China Real Estate Industry
Association as among the “Top 100 Real Estate Enterprises” in China
by overall strength in 2014. In respect of land bank expansion, by
acquiring nine parcels of land, we gained a number of new projects in
cities where we had existing projects with our comprehensive efforts,
and entered into the Hefei and Shanghai markets. Construction of
all land parcels acquired during the first half of the year commenced
in the same year. We also established strategic cooperation with
numerous outstanding real estate developers in the industry. Secondly,
we achieved remarkable improvement in products by developing a
new generation of air-filtering system installed at residential units
with enhanced customers’ loyalty — “AirDino 1 (Z8Z9%)", a unique
solution concerning air quality. In November, an online whole-
process real estate crowdfunding platform was officially launched,
attracting great attention from the industry. In addition, Jiujiang
Modern and Xiantao Modern were awarded with the Green Building
2 Star and 3 Star Certification by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-
Rural Development, while the Company obtained the Prize of High-
end Technology at the 11th Appraisal. Thirdly, we made substantial
progress on innovation by cross-industry integration that capitalised
on mobile internet concept, such as the launch of a nationwide sale
software, namely Yunxiaobao (E$5E) APP, and the official debut of
the Shunyi COCOMOMA crowdfunding platform. The Company is
still committed to the development of full life-cycle residences with
green, comfortable, energy-saving and mobile internet elements, and
adheres to the management philosophy of “three Cooperational, three
Capable, three Vertical, three Horizontal and four Creations”. In 2015,
we believe that the Company will reach a new level in the China’s real
estate industry in terms of overall strength.
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"THREE COOPERATIONAL"

"Three Cooperational” refers to the sharing of risks and the
achievement of a win-win situation. The first type of cooperation:
cooperation within the sector, i.e. to acquire new collaboration projects
and gain new partners by working with outstanding developers in
the sector. The second type of cooperation: cooperation within the
industry, i.e. the cooperation with the upstream and downstream
industry chain and service operators. The Company will establish an
industry fund company in 2015 to complete land acquisition and
project development with financial institutions. Meanwhile, we will
work with the relevant partners in the upstream and downstream
industries with efforts to create a green lifestyle and fully leverage
on the MOMA product effect. The third type of cooperation: Zhiye
(& %) partnership. We initiate our staff’s enthusiasm and passion
of entrepreneurship through Zhiye partners policy which allows the
staff to share risks and interests with the Company and facilitates the
formation of an outstanding team of Zhiye partners. Such initiative
can also help break bureaucracy and develop a system of rights and
responsibilities, hence the shape of organisational structure changes
from pyramid to flat.

“THREE CAPABLE"

“Three Capable” refers to the development of product capability,
service capability and marketing capability concurrently. The
first Capable: product capability, i.e. our core competitiveness —
MOMA products. In 2015, we will create a green and healthy
real estate industry chain based on the research and development
of green products by means of green real estate operation. The
second Capable: service capability, i.e. Modern MOMA HOME -
to truly realise our brand value and product premium by delivering
value-for-money service to the exact customers accurately and
comprehensively and fully interacting with every customer. The third
Capable: marketing capability, i.e. rapid marketing. With a three-
dimensional marketing team, we accelerate the sales for the purpose
of selling out all units immediately after the launch by means of mass
data marketing, internet marketing, customer-oriented marketing
processes, continuously refined brand strategy and experiential
marketing.
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Chairman’s Statement

"THREE VERTICAL"

“Three Vertical” refers to the vertical expansion and continuous
exploration of 3 specialised models. Vertical expansion of the first
model: further development of the product model. In order to realise
speed, profit and rapid development in scale, we focus on three types
of standardised product lines. The first type of product line represents
projects which generate cash flow and profits, those projects must
satisfy the 6-10-678-12Mt W principle and achieve a gross profit
margin of more than 25%; the second type of product line represents
projects which generate cash flow, those projects must satisfy the
6-8-678-10Mct 2 principle and achieve a gross profit margin of more
than 10%; the third type of product line represents projects which
generate profits, those projects must satisfy the 6-12-678-18MNote 3
principle and achieve a gross profit margin of more than 35%. During
the first half of 2015, we will use the first type of standardised
product line to achieve gross profit and will use the second type
of standardised product line to expand our scale. We place great
emphasis on the cost model and carry out profound development
in major selected cities. We complete “the best planning scheme
with multiple business operations and a diversified product mix”, the
proper composition between high-end and low-end projects and the
general floor planning of projects based on the standardised scheme
estimation model before land acquisition to achieve product premium
and form a standardised product library. Vertical expansion of the
second model: establishment of a customer model. We create a real
estate sales model in which a customer base is developed before
products by collecting information on various cities, conducting
analysis and city mapping. We classify our customers into different
categories so as to create a product value tree and realise a high
turnover rate and rapid sale of inventory. Vertical expansion of
the third model: implementation of the cost model. We carry out
thorough accounting on the land value by conducting 3 review
meetings regarding the selected land, with a view to determining
the limit of land costs and reducing the limit of the construction
and installation costs of new projects by 10% based on the existing
value. We strive to provide plenty of highlights in respect of the high
product premium by using the costs mainly on our customers’ needs
and perceived value.
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6-12-678-18 : BNVEHIE B 14618 A W4 7E
M 1288 ANARE  F—XHELN
EELEHTERENCO%EE  £—F
F1670% + F—1EA X1£80% + 18 AR
WEBRBSMEE -

Notes:

6-10-678-12 means that the construction of a project must
be commenced within 6 months after acquisition thereof; the
project must be launched for sales within 10 months; at least
60% of the saleable area must be launched for sale in the first
launch, 70% of the inventory has to be sold in the first week
and 80% in the first month, and positive cash flow must be
realised within 12 months.

6-8-678-10 means that the construction of a project must be
commenced within 6 months after acquisition thereof; the
project must be launched for sales within 8 months; at least
60% of the saleable area must be launched for sale in the first
launch, 70% of the inventory has to be sold in the first week
and 80% in the first month, and positive cash flow must be
realised within 10 months.

6-12-678-18 means that the construction of a project must
be commenced within 6 months after acquisition thereof; the
project must be launched for sales within 12 months; at least
60% of the saleable area must be launched for sale in the first
launch, 70% of the inventory has to be sold in the first week
and 80% in the first month, and positive cash flow must be
realised within 18 months.
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"THREE HORIZONTAL"

“Three Horizontal” refers to the horizontal financing and cohesive
support of three platforms. The first platform: establishing a green
financial capital platform and forming a green industry foundation to
expand the Company’s financing scale, enhance the sales-to-financing
ratio and reduce financing costs, such that a healthy gearing ratio
can be maintained and the balance among three important financial
indicators, namely cash flow, gross profit and net debt to equity,
can be well realised. The second platform: improving the green real
estate development platform by using core technologies to save
energy effectively while providing a healthy and comfortable lifestyle;
acquiring land with total construction scale no less than 1 million
sq.m. through ways such as bidding, auction, listing and cooperation;
solving the air quality problem of all rooms within one residential unit
fully by AirDino 1; tapping into three industries, i.e. the class 1 and
class 2 development of the real estate of the standardised product
line of Senior Garden MOMC, a housing project for the elderly,
industry investment fund and the operation of hotels for the elderly
through co-operation with domestic and foreign enterprises. The
third platform: establishing a green mobile internet platform to build
a community platform by way of “crowdfunding and customisation”
instead of the traditional one-off profit.
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"FOUR CREATIONS”

In 2015, we will apply the philosophy of “four creations” to develop
a new market situation.

Creation of business refers to our focus on providing green,
comfortable, energy-saving and full life cycle residential properties
with the adoption of mobile Internet. This year is the fifteenth year
of Modern Land after its establishment. During the past 15 years,
Modern Land has only done one thing which was the construction
of comfortable and energy-saving buildings. To date, haze obscures
the sky to such an extent that it interferes with our residential
environment. In response, the Company has set a goal to complete
the second creation of business by using green and comfortable
technology. In 2014, the Company launched the air-filtering system
installed at residential units — AirDino 1, which can reduce the PM2.5
value to below 5 within a residential area of 150 sqg.m. in only half an
hour. Under the circumstances of a mild increase in cost, it improves
indoor environment significantly and demonstrates the power of
small business innovation. Moreover, the Company will make the
debut of “AirDino 2 (ZgE&5%)” in 2015. It will be an upgraded and
optimised version of AirDino 1 with higher value added of MOMA
products through technological innovation. Besides, the Company
encourages its internal staff to create their business, in the forms of
amoeba model, project joint investment or Zhiye partnership. Thus,
an atmosphere of creation of business among the employees of the
Company and team makers was developed.

Creation of customers refers to the real estate crowdfunding.
In respect of crowdfunding projects, we use the fund of home
purchasers directly in the real estate development, which constitutes
profit sharing through home purchase and each home purchaser
becomes a “developer”, truly realising home purchase at a lower
price. As such, home purchasers may spend money on buying
properties and make investments at the same time. Using the model
of whole-process real estate crowdfunding, we find customers first
and then solve the problem of financing, planning and positioning as
well as selling through the early-stage customers. On 26 December
2014, Modern Land formally announced the first whole-process real
estate crowdfunding platform in China, namely “Wu You Wo Fan”
(EEZ #H B) (www.51wofang.com) and Modern North Star COCO
MOM A in Shunyi, Beijing was treated as the first crowdfunding real
estate development project of Modern Land being launched in the
market.
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Chairman’s Statement

Creation of business opportunities refers to the development of
green real estate overseas. We believe that the two major challenging
problems in the 21st century are sustainable development and aging
population. We develop green and energy-saving properties for the
purpose of sustainable development and we choose to develop senior
housing business overseas since such industry is more mature in
other countries. In addition to the Company’s senior housing projects
in the U.S., Modern Land has established the Crown District Centre
(2FRIEH L) in Houston, the U.S. in order to build a “Partners
Alliance” being exclusive to MOM A families by way of investment
immigration. This does not only allows Modern Land to share its
profits with customers, but can also provide comprehensive value-
added services to property owners.

Creation of a new operation model refers to our community service
020 platform. It is a new real estate operational model with the
community as channel. By capitalising on the strength of property
companies of directly facing customers, Modern Land aims to build
a community service 020 platform known as “Intelligent and Fun
Living (B #47&)". Such platform will develop each single community
as a group by way of mobile application and thus become a platform
of decentralised community owner services and property management
and operations.

Modern Land safeguards the right balance among three important
financial indicators, namely cash flow, gross profit and gearing
through “three Cooperational, three Capable, three Vertical, three
Horizontal and four Creations” and realises creative development
with vision, activeness, perseverance and spirit, in bid to become
strong and continue to get stronger. We lay a solid foundation for
every move and we refine every detail. We will continue to focus
on providing green, comfortable, energy-saving and full life cycle
residential properties with the adoption of mobile Internet and
endeavor to achieve our targets in 2015.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere thanks to
our shareholders for their unwavering support and trust, and the
Group would like to express its deepest gratitude to the Board, the
management team and all staff of the Group for their dedication and
diligence!

Zhang Lei
Chairman

24 March 2015
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PROSPECTS

2014 was a major year regarding the regulation of the real estate
industry in China. Under the “New Normal” (}1 & #&), all real
estate companies, regardless of their positioning and geographical
coverage, have been influenced differently by the transformation
of the macro-economy, a slowdown in urbanisation and the
decreasing demographic dividend. The major problems faced by
the industry are general funding pressure and inventory pressure. In
light of a more accommodative monetary policy in 2015, stronger
measures on targeted RRR cuts are expected. As 2015 is the final
year of the 12th Five-Year Plan, it is expected that the injection and
investment in infrastructure will play a positive role in boosting the
macro-economy. Furthermore, with consumption acting as the main
driving force for domestic demand expansion, facilitating household
consumption becomes a major factor concerning the formulation
of future policies. Given that real estate accounts for a major part
of household consumption, it is unlikely that the government will
continue to introduce monetary policies which have a negative effect
on the real estate industry. The introduction of “Chinese Dream” also
provides guidance for the real estate market to further push forward
the implementation of promotional policies on security housing in
respect of the rigid demand, so as to stimulate both the supply and
demand in the market. We have also noticed that the whole industry
has a positive outlook as a result of differentiated credit policies and
the easing of the property-purchase restrictions in various cities. With
regard to the pressure of de-stocking, the government has already
introduced relevant policies to address the problem gradually and the
trend of adopting a competitive-price and more-volume strategy by
various companies is expected to stop at the end of the year.
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We believe that China’s real estate market will continue to sustain
a rapid growth in the next 10 years and will experience structural
changes to become highly-focused with a large proportion of
enterprises being eliminated. Land prices in first-tier cities, such
as Beijing and Shanghai, have been gradually increasing since
the beginning of 2015 in light of real estate developers’ positive
expectation over better market conditions in the future, hence,
property prices are expected to increase moderately again. In
addition, due to the concentration of resources, increased spending
and urbanisation in those cities, the real estate market will continue
to achieve stable growth. Second and third-tier cities are expected
to have divergent development with some cities continuing to grow
as a result of increasing demand for properties and some cities
losing such development opportunity due to unsatisfactory economic
transformation. In respect of the competition among second and
third-tier cities, with increasing demand for improved housing, real
estate developers should break the rugged development pattern of
real estate in the “"Golden Era” with integrity and innovation in order
to possess advantages in the competition. In view of the economic
growth and significant improvement in the living standards of the
people in China, demand on the living environment, quality of
housing and subsequent services is gradually increasing, as such, real
estate developers with certain specialties and core competitiveness to
satisfy the changing and strong needs of housing will be more and
more well-accepted by the market.

From the perspective of real estate financing, the consequential effect
of the end of the quantitative easing program by the U.S. Federal
Reserve has caused real estate developers with a higher ratio of
overseas funding to be exposed to exchange rate risk and refinancing
risk, more international hot money flowing back into the country
and liquidity tightening in the PRC. Capital of some real estate
developers was constrained as the fund received during the previous
year was lower than expected. However, following the loosening of
the monetary policy and the real estate financing policy in China,
financing and capital pressure faced by the real estate developers will
gradually be mitigated.

Under the “New Normal”, the market will gradually become the main
factor for regulating the allocation of resources between supply and
demand. The Company’s products have competitive advantages and
the Company with its innovative ideas and solutions will be benefited
during the market transformation period. We are confident at the
Company’s 2015 prospect and we expect the Company’s contracted
sales for 2015 will achieve over RMB10 billion.
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HE2014F12A318FE  AEEWEHEE
Wz A AREE40182BE T BH 22013
FI2AMBLEFERERI72% AEER
014 RIS MERFEEEE ((BEEE))
431,044 75 K F11,0191E B iL o ¥ % 4
EEFEER2013F RBRKERBEN - A
40.6% ° B £2014F12A31H L FE#ER
FHEEER ([FHEE]) BARY9077
TSR K BUEREFHEEAARE
103,636, f@ °

it E 87z Waihtt
REVENUE BY REGION

{2832 Carparks
1L E X Hubei Modern

STPEE K Jiangxi Modern

LLPEE X Shanxi Modern

A E X Hunan Modern
37%

1ERE K Beijing Modern
JTFE R Jiangxi Modern

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue is mainly attributable to sale of properties and
leasing of properties.

Sale of Properties

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s revenue from
sale of properties amounted to RMB4,018.2 million, representing
an increase of 17.2% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2013. The Group delivered 431,044 sq.m. of property in terms of
total gross floor area (“GFA"”) and 1,019 units of carparks in 2014.
Gross profit margin of sale of properties amounted to 40.6%, a slight
increase from the level in 2013. Recognised average selling price
("ASP") was RMB9,077 per sq.m. and that for car parking spaces was
RMB103,636 per unit for the year ended 31 December 2014.

RiEE D 2EREEGEH
CONTRACT SALES BY REGION

. {ZE B Carparks
L/ EMR Shanghai Mon P
[ 9% |

3L E R Hubei Modern
1L E R Beijing Modern

ILFEE X Shanxi Modern

#AEE A Hunan Modern
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F—  REFYXEEEIWZZBHAM (1218  Table 1: Breakdown of revenue from sale of properties of the B
B&45) Group by projects ﬁil:
e
* HBR AT [ 1 *  After deducting sales tax B
20145 20136 Bt
ERATH BEXAH g
THERRE IHERRE 4
ERREN B
2014 2013 s
Total saleable Total saleable o
HRAR gz GFA or units THEE Wizs GFA or units FHER 5
Project name Revenue delivered ASP Revenue delivered ASpP o
ARET ARET 2
EHK EHK EHK FHK A
BE & HEL HEL =
ARETT sq.m. RMB/sq.m. AREFT sq.m. RMB/sq.m. 2
RMB’000 or units or unit RMB’000 or units or unit 5
AREEHMOMA C
Wan Guo Cheng MOMA (Taiyuan) 508,919 39,550 12,868 837,691 60,791 13,780 ,E:?,
FEHEEMOM A g
Man Ting Chun MOMA (Nanchang) 172,386 24,423 7,058 661,172 104,900 6,303
ERERMOMA
Modern MOM A (Beijing) 1,153,569 17,742 65,019 629,719 12,041 52,298
NIHREFEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Jiujiang) 178,406 33,039 5,400 472,190 88,709 5,323
ERMOMAEEH
MOMA Forest Forever (Beijing) 177,248 6,353 27,900 229,064 8,770 26,119
RDOBEFEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOMA (Changsha) 3,781 822 4,600 196,670 38,704 5,081
RHEEHMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A
(Changsha) 69,971 11,282 6,202 87,981 13,289 6,621
flBkmEFMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Xiantao) 180,177 55,749 3,232 126,162 38,608 3,268
RO RBREEMOMA
Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOM A
(Changsha) 1,437,644 240,950 5,967 - - -
EREEHMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Beijing) 3,212 157 20,459 39,888 1,003 39,769
L REMOMA
YueMOM /\ (Beijing) 27,329 977 27,972 3,488 197 17,706
LERMOMA
iIMOMA (Beijing) - - - 1,453 86 16,895
Nt
Subtotal 3,912,642 431,044 9,077 3,285,478 367,098 8,950
fe 2 1,019 units  103,636/unit 1,033 units ~ 137,594/unit
Car park 105,605 A= /B 142,135 (e ind /B
st
Total 4,018,247 3,427,613
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Q EHHE Contracted Sales
>
= HZE2014F12831BILEE - KEBAS4L4E  For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group achieved
,ZE; E5EE ARE7 35658 8T - A 22013 contracted sales of RMB7,356.5 million, representing an increase
= F12A31H IFEE FF685% c A& @4 of 68.5% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2013. The
§ € 48 S| FE789,365F 5 K 11,194 & Group sold 789,365 sq.m. in total GFA and 1,194 units of carparks,
= fi7 - WEE2013F12A31HILEEHRIIEE  representing an increase of 114.3% and a decrease of 30.7%,
E 114.3%F NF&30.7% ° respectively as compared to the year ended 31 December 2013.
F=  REFL X ELEBH A Table 2: Breakdown of contracted sales of the Group
* P ERINRR S R LA AT *  Before deducting sales tax
20145 2013F
2014 2013
r5E
FEfhRER
Attributable BRHE BHHE
HEER interest to  Contracted BERR THEE  Contracted HEEE THER
Project name the Group sales GFA ASP Sales GFA ASP
ARET ARETT
(‘FrK) VEI2 (F7HK) S K
(%) AR®TFr HE BELY AREFT gEf 4B
(in sq.m.)  RMB/sq.m. (insq.m.)  RMBI/sq.m.
(%) RMB'000 or units or unit RMB’000 or units or unit
EREAMOMA
Modern MOM A (Beijing) 100% 965,462 12,633 76,424 1,145,392 18,413 62,206
EREBEHMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Beijing) 100% 7,900 235 33,617 - - -
AEEBEHEMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Taiyuan) 100% 1,139,644 91,058 12,516 1,118,781 81,338 13,755
ROHEREEMOMA
Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOM A
(Changsha) 100% 1,088,572 159,291 6,834 1,043,317 159,131 6,556
NIWEEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Jiujiang) 100% 405,056 83,040 4,878 246,775 42,885 5,754
ERERFREREEMOMA
Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun
MOMA (Beijing) 53.75% 1,365,100 143,758 9,496 - - -
IEEMOMAEEH
MOMA Forest Forever (Beijing) 100% 104,222 3,592 29,015 229,274 7,681 29,849
HEMEFEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Nanchang) 100% 61,365 6,609 9,285 128,859 17,514 7,357
LHREFMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Xiantao) 100% 250,137 73,619 3,398 120,606 34,810 3,465
ERERHTRE
Modern City Garden (Beijing) 100% - - - 65,000 4,626 14,051
IEEIMOMA
iMOMA (Beijing) 100% 9,995 515 19,408 29,300 977 29,990
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20146 20135 B
2014 2013 ﬁ“ﬁ
r&E e
LT $ T
Attributable ENHE BHIHE
BEE® interestto  Contracted EEEE FHEE  Contracted BEmiE THER 3
Project name the Group sales GFA ASP Sales GFA ASP =
AR¥T ARET >
(B5K)  SERK (k) SERK 2
(%) AREFRT BN REY  ARETRT &) HEL <
(in sq.m.)  RMB/sq.m. (in sq.m.)  RMB/sq.m. 3
(%) RMB’000 or units or unit RMB’000 or units or unit g
=
RPEBEHEMOMA o
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Changsha) 100% 84,854 9,570 8,867 11,182 897 12,466 2’
EDREEMOMA g
Man Ting Chun MOMA (Changsha) 100% 1,001 158 6,335 695 140 4,964 =
HEERMOMA T a
Modern MOM A New City (Nanchang) 65% 209,232 29,404 7,116 - - - e
HEERER MOMA C
Modern International g
MOMA (Nanchang) 65% 371,295 49,680 7,474 - - - o
REEGHREFMOMA
Hanyang Man Ting Chun
MOMA (Wuhan) 99.02% 26,700 4,928 5,418 - - -
EOMOMA ERES
MOMA Modern Plaza (Changsha) 51% 252,922 60,985 4,147 - - -
ROERETL MOMA
Modern Binjiang MOM A (Changsha) 51% 57,724 8,600 6,712 - - -
BREXARESE MOMA
Guanggu Man Ting Chun
MOMA (Wuhan) 60% 138,911 21,377 6,498 - - -
FENIBESR
Songjiang Yi Jing Yuan (Shanghai) 35% 640,344 30,313 21,124 - - -
Nt
Subtotal 7,180,436 789,365 9,096 4,139,181 368,412 11,235
{zE5 1,194 units 147,438/unit 1,724 units~ 131,095/unit
Car park 176,041 fBEf /B 226,007 {AEfL /B
@it
Total 7,356,477 4,365,188
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MEEE

HE2014F12A31B8ILEE - KREBYME
HMEWFZBARE365AET  KEZE2013
F12A3THIEFEHRES 5% - AEEKE
YIEMTE R69,398F kK BRELMAXRA
92.8% °

TR

MR2014% 128318 » REBRHP B L
H(TRREEEMMERBIEARNDE) &
14,477,447 F 7K

B AKEZ LBEBSHRIR 8D A
BREIE - AUT ik RET 2R
=2

Leasing of Properties

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s revenue from
leasing of properties amounted to RMB36.5 million, representing an
increase of 5.5% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2013.
The Group owned investment properties of 69,398 sq.m., with an
overall occupancy rate of 92.8%.

Land Bank

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s total land bank in the PRC
(excluding investment properties and properties held for own use)
was 4,477,447 sq.m.

A

Note: The land bank of the Group includes lands in Beijing, Changsha,

Taiyuan, Nanchang, Jiujiang, Xiantao, Dongdaihe, Hefei and Shanghai.



AEEN Lo EEE D AT
K= AEE L HHE

Bkt

BEAE

Project name

ERERMOMA
Modern MOMA (Beijing)
ERBBEHEMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOMA (Beijing)
KREBBHMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOMA (Taiyuan)
ROHBREEMOMA
Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOMA (Changsha)
FULHEFMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOMA (Jiujiang)
EEMOMABER
MOM A Forest Forever (Beijing)
MEMEEMOMA
l\/Ian Ting Chun MOM A (Nanchang)
LERERXEMEEMOMA
Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun MOM A (Beijing)
IWmEFEMOMA
Man Ting Chun M OM A (Xiantao)
IERERBTRE
Modern City Garden (Beijing)
EEIMOMA
iMOM A (Beijing)
RO EBEHMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Changsha)
EOWEFEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOMA (Changsha)

The geographic spread of the land bank of the Group was as follows:

EEENRR DM
Management Discussion and Analysis

Table 3: Land bank of the Group

Land bank in China

A%EE
LR
Attributable
interest to
the Group
(%)

(%)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
53.75%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

20145
12A31H
RELEEER
(Hist)

Total GFA
unsold as at
31 December
2014

(Note)
(F7HXK)
(sq.m.)

14,990

296,169
292,980
134,015
7,985
31,465
152,400
758,790
7,372
1,262
15,749

31,613

RACHHESE
MEHER
RRNWEEER
Aggregated

GFA sold but
undelivered with
sales contracts
(FHK)

(sq.m.)
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E 20145
= 128318
= FEHEEERE ZICEHELE
S (#3) WEHEE
> rEE Total GFA RXFHEEEE
= iR unsold as at Aggregated
=t Attributable 31 December GFA sold but
§ BEER interest to 2014 undelivered with
& Project name the Group (Note) sales contracts
(%) (F7HXK) (FFK)
(%) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
EREEMOMA
Shangdi MOM A (Beijing) 100% 4,145 -
EREMOMA
Yue MOM A (Beijing) 100% 1,162 -
MEEAMOMAFH
Modern MOM A New City (Nanchang) 65% 90,432 25,942
EEEREBEMOMA
Modern International MOM A (Nanchang) 65% 207,084 49,680
RZZEEMEFEMOMA
Hanyang Man Ting Chun MOMA (Wuhan) 99.02% 120,473 4,928
EPMOMAERES
MOM A Modern Plaza (Changsha) 51% 341,778 60,985
EAEREIMOMA
Modern Binjiang MOM A (Changsha) 51% 229,374 8,600
BEERMOMA
Modern MOM A (Hefei) 51% 189,073 -
RZEHAREFMOMA
Guanggu Man Ting Chun MOMA (Wuhan) 60% 283,100 21,377
JUIEBEEMOMA
Chao Yang Li MOMA (Jiujiang) 100% 168,292 -
sl EEI/T_t TRIEEF
Modern Land ¢ CIFI Villa (Beijing) 50% 158,213 -
/i*ﬁ/llig = =
Songjiang Yi Jing Yuan (Shanghai) 35% 146,307 30,313
REGTRE T e A2BMOMA
Dongdaihe e Bai Jin Hai MOM A (Dongdaihe) 100% 346,675 -
REIERER « ARGERE
North Star-Modern e Guanggu Green Home (Wuhan) 45% 315,203 -
ERERIER ¢ HMOMA
Modern North Star ® Yue MOM A (Beijing) 50% 131,346 -
@zt
Total 4,477,447 744,211

Kiit : RERREEEOERFTEEHEESRN  Note: Total GFA unsold includes aggregated GFA sold but not yet delivered
B EERRZTEERE - with sales contracts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group wholly owns a parcel of land with a site area of
approximately 196,156 sg.m. located in Pearland, Texas, the U.S.
for future development. So far, this parcel of land is still at the
early stage of planning, and the estimated GFA data has not been
determined accurately.

Land Acquisitions

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group acquired 9 parcels
of land, details of which are as follows:

On 16 January 2014, the Group successfully acquired the state-
owned land use rights and entire interests of a parcel of land (Parcel
No. DGC2013014) in Jiujiang, Jiangxi Province, the PRC through an
online auction of the land use rights of state-owned construction
land in Jiujiang, Jiangxi Province, the PRC. The total consideration
was RMB263 million. The GFA of the land is 165,829 sq.m..

On 25 February 2014, the Group successfully acquired the state-
owned land use rights and entire interests of a parcel of land ([2014]
Chang Tu Wang Land Parcel No.006) in Changsha, Hunan Province,
the PRC through an online auction of the land use rights of state-
owned construction land in Changsha, Hunan Province, the PRC. The
total consideration was RMB705.08 million. The GFA of the land is
228,358 sgq.m..

On 26 February 2014, Modern Green Development Co., Ltd.
("Modern Green Development”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and CIFI Holdings (Group) Co., Ltd. successfully
acquired the state-owned land use rights and entire interests of a
parcel of land (No. A02-01 and A02-02) in Daxingzhuang, Pinggu
District, Beijing, the PRC in a joint participation through an online
auction of the land use rights of state-owned construction land in
Beijing, the PRC. The total consideration was RMB778.00 million. The
GFA of the land is 132,183 sg.m..

On 27 February 2014, the Group successfully acquired the state-
owned land use rights and entire interests of a parcel of land
(P(2014) No. 010) in Wuhan, Hubei Province, the PRC through an
online auction of the land use rights of state-owned construction
land in Wuhan, Hubei Province, the PRC. The total consideration was
RMB198.47 million. The GFA of the land is 127,218 sq.m..
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MR2014F4 /158 - AEBRBHRBFEE
EVEBRERLAMERBEESHREAN
RINER A KD BB T A82013]167%
HMRMWBEE L FEREREE TR - A1
BAARE3II415HE T - ZHMBHEER
f&/4338,761F 5K -

MR2014F7A38 EREEEXEMERS
MEERHERASEERET A NEAE
FRBBETHAETEEZE A FEHE
HEIZY KWESLTRESETERERE
ZWQTB-043-2 38 9 B 5 E a8 A b R AE K
EHe2EHEns REAARESISHE T - A
EEER R ELEMEIE A140,655F F

NV
7N °

M2014567H38 - EREREE FMIL =i
REEXBRDERAF ([IEREE]) UBE
BrAEeFEMItERETEEERAM
FRERSEES  KINESHILERETR
W= BT R T 2 mP(2014)057 5k ¥R A BU B
THEAEREEHER  BRERARE
626.81EH &L - AEETEFZ IR B IEE
EfE/5241,079F 5K o

MR2014F 108138 » ERFEEENILLRE
FEMRMBARBBRATEAREIMEILRT
Bl A EZRAERAERAEETE - KINEST
B4 4t 7 JIE 2 [@ Bl #E 7 501-02-09 + 01-02-
10~ 01-02-07—$EFE(F A - FEEREEAE
B~ At =tE bR B A EZR A E
AR - HbIRARAREIEEEMIE109,346F 5K o

On 15 April 2014, the Group successfully acquired the state-owned
land use rights and entire interests of a parcel of land (Guo Tu Wang
Gua [2013] No.67) in Changsha County, Hunan Province through a
live auction of the land use rights of state-owned construction land in
Changsha County, Hunan Province, the PRC. The total consideration
was RMB314.15 million. The GFA of the land is 338,761 sq.m..

On 3 July 2014, Modern Green Development and Huainan Xinyi Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd successfully acquired the state-owned
construction land use rights and entire interests of a parcel of land
(ZWQTB-043-2) in Municipal District, Hefei, Anhui Province in a joint
participation through an auction of state-owned construction land
use rights in Hefei, the PRC. The consideration was RMB835 million.
It is expected that the GFA of the land will be 140,655 sqg.m..

On 3 July 2014, Modern Green Development and Beijing North
Star Company Limited JERIERBERMDABRAF]) (“North Star”)
successfully acquired the state-owned land use rights and entire
interests of a parcel of land (No. P (2014) 057) in Wuhan East Lake
High-tech Development Zone, Hubei Province in a joint participation
through an auction of state-owned construction land use rights
in Wuhan, Hubei Province, the PRC. The total consideration was
RMB626.81 million. It is expected that the total GFA of the land will
be 241,079 sgq.m..

On 13 October 2014, the consortium formed by Modern Green
Development and North Star successfully acquired the state-owned
construction land use rights of three land parcels (01-02-09, 01-
02-10 and 01-02-07) for rank 2 housing purpose, mixed residential
and public construction land use and child care purpose in Qianjin
Xincheng, Shunyi District, Beijing, the PRC through an auction of
state-owned construction land use rights in Beijing, the People’s
Republic of China. The total planned GFA of the land parcels is
109,346 sg.m..
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On 15 October 2014, Modern Green Development entered into
an equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”)
with Hangzhou Huagin Investment Management Company Limited
("Hangzhou Huagin”) and Shanghai Yujing Investment Management
Company Limited (“Shanghai Yujing”), pursuant to which, Modern
Green Development acquired 100% equity interest in Shanghai
Yujing at a consideration of RMB10 million. Upon completion of
the acquisition, Shanghai Yujing was held as to 100% by Modern
Green Development and accounted for as an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Shanghai Yujing owns 35% equity
interest in Shanghai Shengming Real Estate Development Company
Limited (“Shanghai Shengming”), which owns the land use rights
with respect to the land located in Yongfeng Street, Songjiang
District, Shanghai. The land has a planned GFA of approximately
121,207 sq.m. and is intended to be developed into a commodity
property project.
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TEIEH MAJOR PROJECTS
BENUENANAL
As at 31 December 2014
B{iER
fisdng
EROE H/ER  EH/ER
Approximate GREEE  HERSE  AEASE BIA #IA
total land HERE  UTEHE  MEBHE  Expected Expected/
site area in EXE AER  SREER  AREERE Al Actual
respect of BEEEE  Total GFA  Total GFA  Total GFA construction  construction
R theentie AEEEE  Total GFA  lessGFA  withlease  withlease commencement completion TEFiE K& it
Project project  Total GFA  delivered  delivered under 5years over5years date date Major usage Status Address
(Frf)  (Br) (BN Frt) () ()
(sq.m) (sg.m) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m) (sgm)
FRERMOMA 60004 157577 142587 14990 6975 1302 2005.11 w00 [FEEEEE %I IRARIE
Modern MOM\ (Beijing) Residential, Completed ~ ETEE1S
commercial, 1 Xiangheyuan Street,
aar parks Dongcheng District,
Beijing
JREEHMOMA a6 838 28385 - 1910 5,756 2001.09 00704 [iE AEEE ORI FRTEHE
Wan Guo Cheng Residental, Completed ~ EWEE1R
MOMA (Beijing) commercia, 1 Xiangheyuan Street,
aar parks Dongcheng District,
Beijing
EEMOMNEEH 183160 100,141 9,156 7985 869 320 2006.04 w12 BT FEEE RI IRTIEEE
M OM A Forest Forever Residental, Completed  BEZEAFH
(Beijing) commercial, Huosi Road,
aar parks Gaoliying Town,

Shunyi District, Beijing
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il BENUENANAL
95;3 As at 31 December 2014
E BEER
S Fyun
- EROY BE/EB  EH/ER
5 Approximate BREER  HERSE  AMASE BIA KRIA
% total land FERE  UTEHE  MEBHE  Expected Expected/
N site area in ERE BEE SEEEE  SRERE Acul Actual
= respect of BEEEE  Total A Total GFA  Total GFA construcion  construction
%A theentire HEHME  TotalGFA  lessGFA  withlease  withlease commencement completion TEZR k& it
Project project  Total GFA  delivered  delivered under5years over5years date date Major usage Status Address
) (F N N R (A
(sq.m) (sgm) (sq.m.) (sqm) (sq.m) (sq.m)
IREREE 26865 29867 25725 13941 - 2,141 200708 w010 BT FEEE %L FRTERE
Modern Real Estate (Beijing) Residential Completed ~ ZEFFER1S
commercil, 1 Anningzhuang
aar parks West Road,
Haidian District, Beijing
BEREEMOMA 116,349 251,833 220,368 31,465 599 2,339 2010.04 w302 HEEEEE ORI IEERET
Man Ting Chun MOMA Residental, Completed ~ BILHEAR—%
(Nanchang) commercia, Chengdongyi Road,
aar parks Qingshanhu District,
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province
KEEEHMOMA 12449 584641 288472 296169 141 13754 2009.12 0601 BEEE AR WEEART
Wan Guo Cheng MOMA Residentia, Under REF416%
(Taiyuan) commercia, construction 16 Changfeng
aar parks West Street,
Taiyuan City,
Shanxi Province
ROREEMOMA 88T 1078751 TBAI0 340341 1,158 17,021 2007.07 w60 [FEEEOEEOEE AEERLT
Man Ting Chun MOMA Residental, Under FERETER199%
(Changsha) commercial, construction 199 Fuyuan
qar parks West Road,
Kaifu District,
Changsha City,
Hunan Province
PULREEMOMA 114,634 325,098 191,083 134,015 - 8,119 201110 01610 HEBE-BE AR IEENIM
Man Ting Chun MOMA Residentia, Under BEEELAR
(Jivjiang) commercia, construction  Lufeng West Road,
aar parks Xunyang District,
Jiujiang City,

Jiangxi Province



R
Project

lBREEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOMA
(Xiantao)

REXAREEMOMA
Guanggu Man Ting Chun
MOMA (Wuhan)

BEEREBMOMA
Modern International
MOMA (Nanchang)

FRERFEREEMOMA
Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun
MOMA (Bejing)

HEERMOMAF
Modern MOM A\ New City
(Nanchang)

B{iER
frpfns
ERAY
Approximate
total land
site area in
respect of
the entire
project
(F7)
(sq.m)

226,09

94,050

70,000

61,306

31,201

ERE
BREEE
HBREEAR  Total GFA
Total GFA  delivered
(Frk) (T
(sq.m) (sq.m)
867628 108,837
283,100 -
207,084 -
152,400
90432 -

HZ20145128318L
As at 31 December 2014

HREER  BARSE

HERE  UTEHE
GEE AREER
Total GFA  Total GFA
less GFA  with lease
delivered under 5 years
(Frx) (FHA)
(sq.m) (sq.m)
758,791 240
283,100 -
207,084 -
152,400 -
90,432 -

BERSE
WEEHA
BREnk

Total GFA
with lease

over 5 years
(FHA4)
(sq.m)

6,814

4/ 88
HIA
Expected/
Actual
construction
commencement
date

2014.11

2014.07

2014.04

2014.06

2014.03

B /BB
KIA
Expected/
Actual
construction
completion
date

2018.08

2016.09

2016.03

2015.11

2015.11
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IZRE

Major usage

= B% 28
Residential,
commercial,

aar parks

=z B EE
Residential,
commercial,

aar parks

iz B% 28
Residential,
commercial,

aar parks

=z B EE
Residential,
commercial,

aar parks

=z B EE
Residential,
commercial,

aar parks

ke
Status

iz
Under
construction

s
Under
construction

iz
Under
construction

s
Under
construction

s
Under
construction

it
Address

)i 1 i
BTFER
EEINCTEC
88 Huangjin Main
Road (West),
Ganhe Bangshichu,
Xiantao City,

Hubei Province

MERED
REFRERAMmE
Guanggusi Road,
Donghu
Development Zong,
Wuhan City,

Hubei Province

NG
TEERITER
Changzhen
West Road,
Xinjian County,
Nanchang City,
Jianxi Province

FRTAERASR
ki

Caiyu Street,
Caiyu Town,
Daxing, Bejing

IRERET
FRETEAE
Gongye Main Road,
Xinjian County,
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province
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il BENUENANAL

95;3 As at 31 December 2014

= B{iER

= s

- HENY B/ BB B /BB

5 Approximate BREER  HERSE  AMASE BIA KRIA

% total land FERE  UTEHE  MEBHE  Expected Expected/

N site area in ERE BEE SEEEE  SRERE Acul Actual

= respect of BREEE  Total GFA  Total GFA  Total GFA construction  construction
%A theentire HEHME  TotalGFA  lessGFA  withlease  withlease commencement completion TEZR k& it
Project project  Total GFA  delivered  delivered under5years over5years date date Major usage Status Address

(k) N (BN R (BN (A
(sq.m) (sgm) (sq.m.) (sqm) (sq.m) (sq.m)

REEBREEMOMA Q314 120473 - 0B - - 201408 00512 fE BEOEE AR MR Em
Hanyang Man Ting Chun Residential, Under EERER
MOMA (Wuhan) commercial, construction  {AE HAEE
car parks AETERER
Intersection point of
Houguanwu
Main Road and
Fengshusi Road,
Wuhan Economic
Development Zong,
Hubei Province

ATEREMOMA 5849% 168,292 - 168292 - - 0150 0608 (% BHEEE AR TRENTTH
Chao Yang Li MOMA Residential, Under ERRRHRE
(liujiang) commercial, construction  EERELER
aar parks Intersection point of
Huancheng
North Road and
Lufeng East Road,
Xunyang District,
Jiujiang City,
Jiangxi Province

EOMOMAERES 19374 341778 - T8 - - 201407 0610 #E BFEE AR HBeRIERTRE
MOM A Modern Plaza Residental, Under BEAETER
(Changsha) commercia, construction  Intersection paint of

aar parks Kaiyuan Road and
Huangxing Main Road,
Changsha County,
Hunan Province
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R
Project

ROERBIMOMA
Modern Binjiang MOMA
(Changsha)

ARERMOMA
Moderm MOM A\ (Hefei)

JRERILR « EMOMA
Modern North Star ¢
Yue MOMA (Beiing)

RETRET 0 0LE
MOMA
Dongdaihe ¢ Bai Jin Hai
MOMA (Dongdaihe)

B{EER

g bk

HENY
Approximate

total land

site area in BRE
respect of BREER
theentie  AREER  Total GFA
project  Total GFA  delivered
(FHA) (F5) (FHA)

(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m.)

48,241 229374 -

56,262 189,073 -
52,842 131,346 -
185,564 346,675 -

HZ20145128318L
As at 31 December 2014

BREER  RAERSE  HAHASE
WERE NTERA MLEHE
BEE MEEER SREER
Total GFA  Total GFA  Total GFA
less GFA  with lease  with lease

delivered under 5 years over 5 years
K B (A
(sq.m) (sgm) (sq.m)

229,374 - -

189,073 - -

131,346 - -

346,675 - -

4/ 88
HIA
Expected/
Actual
construction
commencement
date

2014.10

2015.02

2015.04

2015.05
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B/ &R

KIA

Expected/

Actual

construction

completion  TEFR

date Major usage

01609 0% EEER
Residential,
commercial,
aar parks

01708 BEEEOEE
Residential,
commercial,
aar parks

01608 i BE EE
Residential,
commercial,
qar parks

0800 fEBE EE
Residential,
commercial,
aar parks

ke
Status

iz
Under
construction

iz
Under
construction

s
Under
construction

iz
Under
construction

it
Address

HEERDT
B)ERRER
Intersection point of
Hanguang Road and
Guanshaling Road,
Yuelu District,
Changsha City,
Hunan Province

pCCR ]
IBEEERE
rEERA (EfR)
Intersection point of
Huaining Road and
Xiuning Road (riverside
of Kuang River),

Hefei Municipal District,
Anhui Province

IRMEZE
ElEREEEM
(EYREIRHE
Southwestern side of
Wolong Roundabout,
Shunyi District
(intersection point of
Shunsha Road and
Shunbai Road),
Beijing

RELREANE
EBARRLER
Baijin Haian,
Binhai Highway,
Dongdaihe

New District,
Liaoning Province
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il BENUENANAL
95;3 As at 31 December 2014
5 BEER
S Fyun
- HENY BH/BR  BH/ER
5 Approximate BREER  HERSE  AMASE BIA KRIA
% total land FERE  UTEHE  MEBHE  Expected Expected/
N site area in ERE BEE SEEEE  SRERE Acul Actual
= respect of BEEEE  Total A Total GFA  Total GFA construcion  construction
%A theentire HEHME  TotalGFA  lessGFA  withlease  withlease commencement completion TEZR k& it
Project project  Total GFA  delivered  delivered under5years over5years date date Major usage Status Address
) (F N N R (A
(sq.m) (sgm) (sq.m.) (sqm) (sq.m) (sq.m)
JRER o J0EE A 158213 - 18213 - - 201412 0608 BF EE AR IRmTAR
Modern Land » CIFl Villa Residental, Under TAREH
(Beijing) commercl, construction  BEFOERRER
aar parks Intersection point of
Pinggu Main Street
and Tiyuzhongin West
Road, Pinggu District,
Beijing
HENIEER 63,128 146307 - 46307 - - 201405 01608 % BE EE AR LETIIE
Songjiang Yi Jing Yuan Residential Under RERH10585
(Shanghai) commercial, construction 1058 Nong,
aar parks Rongle West Road,
Songjiang District,
Shanghai
RERER  tAREFE 140817 315203 - 31503 - - 201505 01806 (T BEEE AR eRET
North Star-Modern « Residential, Under RHEAA=HRIE -
Guanggu Green Home commerc, construction 3T B LA
(Wuhan) aar parks East of
Guanggusan Road
and South of
Gaoxiner Road,
Gaoxin District,
Wuhan City,
Hubei Province
At Total 2537088 6758940 2281492 4477447 11,893 57,566
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MAJOR PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT

ARBBEHMOMA :
Taiyuan Wan Guo Cheng MO M A:

ﬁE%ImMOMA%%%%Fﬁﬁ CHER
BIE BAERBRBAAE A —BEBORET
RAREE - &ﬂ%hﬁéﬂJ@ékﬁmﬁﬁtﬁﬁ%
@ BIZmmEEMAERE - Z24LHEKE
bt - AEIEEE - AEME - AEMERER
FEE - ZTEB —HIEEETE A251,610F 5
Ko BEMmMIE169,261 F HK  ZHiEER
& A108,012F 5 K » B &M E58,560F 7
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Taiyuan Wan Guo Cheng MOMA is a luxury community complex
of retail shops, 5-star hotels, offices and serviced apartments, which
is located at Changfeng Business District, Taiyuan, Shanxi Province,
the major development area of the city. Wan Guo Cheng MOMA
(Taiyuan) is close to Shanxi Grand Theatre, Shanxi Library, Shanxi Art
Gallery, Shanxi Museum and Shanxi Science & Technology Museum.
Phase 2 of the project has a GFA of 251,610 sq.m. and the area
sold amounts to 169,261 sq.m. Phase 3 of the project has a GFA of
108,012 sgq.m. and the area sold amounts to 58,560 sg.m.

ROBBBREEMOMA :
Changsha Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOM A:

EAPHEBREBTEMOMA - ZInEeHttE -
BREESEMNTERE - LERNHEER
M HETR B AT IEAE R T B SRR E Y
FITIEBEA - RIBE A IR MR IKIR TR
ARHTENFHFENERE - ZHEEAE
EMiE /550,106 F 772K - 2 B H1E366,992

Changsha Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOMA is a mixed-use community
consisting of residential units and retail shops. It is located at
Changsha, Hunan Province and within walking distance of the Metro
Line One which is under construction. The project was designed
according to local geographical and climate conditions, and provides
a comfortable environment during all four seasons. The project has a
GFA of 550,106 sg.m. and the area sold amounts to 366,992 sg.m.
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MEMEFMOMA :
Nanchang Man Ting Chun MO M A:

FAEMETEMOMAR —EHEEEEEL -
TEES 2T Bm - PR - KB
EREMOERE - EBUNTIREAEEMSE LH
MRA EEEMHR LD ESEREER -
g ATEAMBAAFEZELENEER
M BMERAEEEE —BAZ MR
% > ZIHBEEMEA251,833F 7K B
EmEE218,140F K

Nanchang Man Ting Chun MOMA is a community consisting of
residential units, retail shops, clubhouse, supermarket, kindergarten,
swimming pool and restaurants. It is located at the east side of
Qingshan Lake, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province and within a 25-minute
drive of downtown Nanchang. This project is an attempt to create
Nanchang’s first new mixed-use community that features energy
conservation, comfort and design innovation. The project has a GFA
of 251,833 sg.m. and the area sold amounts to 218,140 sg.m.
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TIREBEMOMA :
Jiujiang Man Ting Chun MO M A:

NITHEEMOMARZR NI ¥ — 85 ik fE
ELRHERREE - LFEIAENIT
EHER G AAERI- - ATHRENINERE
RIE ZMEBSF A EAMREAR - XIE
REBET R H A EIRE T - ZTEE BEEEA
241,193 5% - BEMEIE220,096F 52K ©

Jiujiang Man Ting Chun MOM A, the only high-end residential and
commercial development project in Jiujiang, is located at Xunyang
District, Jiujiang City, Jiangxi Province and faces the Yangtze River.
The community will utilise a ground-source geothermal heat pump,
ceiling radiation and other energy-saving technologies to improve
the living environment of Jiujiang. The project has a GFA of 241,193
sg.m. and the area sold amounts to 220,096 sq.m.
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WHEREEMOMA :
Xiantao Man Ting Chun MO M A

IHGHEEMOMA 2 —BEE R E a3
RIER  EFRETREARE - BE &
FTAER « ARk E S RENE
A - ZIBEEEMEAESS2473F K B
EmTE136,185F 7K ©

Xiantao Man Ting Chun MOMA is a residential and commercial
development project which contains a serviced apartment, hotel,
clubhouse and school. It is located at the south side of Huangjin
Boulevard, Xiantao, Hubei Province. The project has a GFA of 852,473
sq.m. and the area sold amounts to 136,185 sq.m.

] 3 REWEEMOMNA -
! Caiyu Man Ting Chun MO M A:

ERREMEEMOMARIERTRERKKE
MEEAAREERE  bEF-ERAKE
ERERMAENBEERMEERE - R
RMAERREE  BEREHHRAZE
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&%ﬁil’ii‘@i}'ﬁﬁﬂi’@% I E BB R AR
R BEBEBAS ”‘ﬁﬁé’%ﬁﬁ%
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ZIEBEBEAEER169,941F K BEE®E
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Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun MOMA (ERRXEMEZFMOMA) is
a commodity property project for self-living with the lowest limited
price in Beijing, and it is also the first commodity property project for
self-living developed by adopting the green energy-saving technology.
The project is located at Caiyu Town, Daxing District, Beijing. The
project covers an area ending at the West Green Line (FA%k4R) of
Shouzhen Road (BIERE) with the stipulated boundary of the land
parcel in the east; the North Green Line (1t4%#%) of Yulin Street (B
M) with the stipulated boundary of the land parcel in the south;
the East Green Line (B#k4R) of Caifeng Road (CRJBLEX) in the west;
and the South Red Line (F4I4%) of Yusheng Street (FF#T) in the
north. The total construction scale of Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun
MOM /A project is approximately 170,000 sq.m., and its major flat
type is two-bedroom and three-bedroom layout ranging from 80-135
sq.m. There are approximately 1,482 flats in total with an average
price of approximately RMB9,500/sq.m. The project has a GFA of
169,941 sq.m. and the area sold amounts to 143,758 sg.m.
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ERERAMOMA :
Hefei Modern MO M A:

ARERMOMARRAA BT BB E#Z
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TE#ISSML - BREMBENISEF K BEX
2.5 BREBXCERE R - AIETHERA
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R BERBB RS 8E =X+
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Hefei Modern MOMA (BIEEARMOMA) is located at the centre of
Hefei Municipal and Culture District, which is the intersection point of
Huaining Road and Xiuning Road (riverside of Kuang River). It faces the river
with mountain at the back, like the backyard of the municipal government.
The project mirrors the essence of Beijing Modern MOMA (JEREX
MOMA), one of the “10 best architectural marvels of the world”, and
becomes the first low-density energy-saving residential property with
refined decoration in Hefei. It applies the sophisticated energy-saving
technology to build a homeland of green, comfort, energy-saving and full
life cycle (featuring constant temperature, humidity, oxygen content and
tranquility) for the wealth class of Anhui, and takes the development of
deluxe residence of Auhui in a new direction. The project covers a total
area of approximately 85 mu with a total GFA of approximately 180,000
sg.m. and a plot ratio of 2.5, which is the last piece of low-density land
in the Municipal and Culture District that can rarely be found in Hefei.
The project is developed in two phases comprising a total of 8 high-rise
buildings, 10 houses and a number of commercial buildings for ancillary
services. Its major flat type is 150 sq.m. up, with a small amount of
high-rise units of 95 sgq.m. and a very few of houses of 120 sq.m. For
ancillary purpose, the project will develop kindergarten and service space
exclusively for residents such as community clinic, leisure and fitness as well
as private banquet venues, and it will introduce the “China Circle (FFE
&))", which is established by taking Beijing Modern MOM A as a sample,
into Anhui. The project was formerly a low-density residential land, which
was the last piece of land for solely residential purpose in the Municipal
and Culture District and rarely seen within the second ring, therefore it has
an extremely high land value. Situated at a crowded area where one can
nevertheless live in a quiet environment, the project is accessible with a
convenient transport system in the surrounding area, and shares a beautiful
environment surrounded by Kuang River and the distant lush scenery in
the Municipal and Culture District. It enjoys a spectacular view of 10-year
development in the Municipal and Culture District and 1,000-mu swan
lake, and there are Wanda Plaza (83#£), Ganghui Plaza (BIEE%), Intime
Plaza (38Z%) and various major municipal and financial institutions nearby.
In addition, there will be a one-stop quality educational facility to be built,
including a branded kindergarten, Daoxiangcun Primary School (F&4/\
£) and Shushan Secondary School (&|LiH£2). The project has a total GFA
of 189,073 sq.m.
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REXRBEEMOMA :
Wuhan Guanggu Man Ting Chun MOM A
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Wuhan Guanggu Man Ting Chun MOMA (BE X AMEFMOMA)
is located at the intersection point of Gaoxiner Road and Guanggusi
Road of Wuhan. The project covers a total area of approximately
95,000 sq.m. with a total GFA of approximately 280,000 sq.m., a
construction density of 17.4%, a plot ratio of 2.5 and a greenery
coverage of 35%. It comprises 7 33-storey high-rise buildings and
13 11-storey small high-rise buildings (which are planned to have
around 2,372 flats) and its ratio of parking space is 1:0.7. With the
cross landscape as its axis, the community of MOM /A Huan Cheng
(MOM A #235) will be developed as a young and energetic community
with elegant, health and comfort, technological and energy-saving
environment. The overall planning of MOM /A Huan Cheng is based
on the south-north axis, in which the architectures are designed
on the principle of increment of height from south to north, and
the layout is made in a progressive manner. The whole planning is
divided by cluster, and multiple fenced central garden courtyards are
established along the south-north main axis, such that the front-yard
gardens can share the same charm of the green area in the clusters.
Moreover, thanks to the ingenious combination of different types of
plants and garden ornaments, and the great effort put in the settings
between buildings in pursuit of a balanced ideal environment, every
resident can appreciate the beautiful scenery in his own flat. The
commercial ancillary facilities behind the experience centre, which is
held by the community, can satisfy the owners’ various needs in the
daily life. In addition, the Sports Star Clubhouse GEZhz 2€Ff) is
developed by the community itself, which has such sports venues as
badminton court, dance room and gymnasium. The project has a GFA
of 283,100 sg.m. and the area sold amounts to 21,377 sq.m.
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REEBREEMOMA :
Wuhan Hanyang Man Ting Chun MO M A
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Wuhan Hanyang Man Ting Chun MOMA project (RZZRHEE
HMOMAIEE) is located at the intersection point of Houguanhu
Avenue and Fengshusi Road of Dunkou, Wuhan, facing the natural
wetland of Houguan Lake of 17,000 mu with beautiful lake view. The
project is located at Houguanhu Avenue to the north and Fengshusi
Road to the east, and is near Dongfeng Avenue. The project covers a
total area of approximately 42,000 sq.m. with a GFA of approximately
106,000 sg.m., in which the area of approximately 98,000 sq.m. is
for residential purpose and approximately 7,000 sg.m. for commercial
purpose. The community within the whole project comprises quality
residences of plate-type small high-rise and high-rise buildings (10
buildings in total), and there are 1,087 flats in aggregate, of which
buildings 1#-8# are 18-storey small high-rise buildings with two
elevators for four flats on every floor, while buildings 9#-11# are
33-storey or 34-storey high-rise buildings with two elevators for four
flats on every floor. The project has a GFA of 120,473 sq.m. and the
area sold amounts to 4,928 sq.m.

RZEIMOMA :
Changsha Binjiang MOM A

EDERBIMOMAEEE LM  NE
BEE B ERIEER FEJER
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Nestled in Binjiang New City, Changsha Modern Binjiang MOMA (&
DERBETIMOMA) is located at the intersection point of Hanguang
Road and Guanshaling Road of Yuelu District. It is intended to be
developed into a new green and deluxe residence that is the most
suitable for living in Changsha, integrating the deluxe residence with
technology. The whole project covers a total area of approximately
48,000 sg.m. with a total GFA of approximately 180,000 sq.m.,
a greenery coverage of 35% and a plot ratio of 3.8. It has about
1,134 flats in total, comprising 7 technological deluxe residences, 1
technological boutique apartment, 4 single commercial buildings and
a kindergarten covering an area of nearly 3,000 sg.m. It is the only
green, deluxe and less-carbon community (which is known for cool in
summer and warm in winter) with deluxe residence in Changsha. The
project has a GFA of 229,374 sq.m. and the area sold amounts to
8,600 sg.m.
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ROPMOMAERES :
Changsha MOM A Modern Plaza:
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Changsha MOMA Modern Plaza (E2MOMAE R EE) is the
first technological habitat complex project in Xingsha (£ built by
Hunan Moma Real Estate Co., Ltd. under the Group, which is located
at the south-eastern corner of the intersection point of Kaiyuan
Road and Huangxing Avenue of Xingsha. The project comprises
7 technological residential buildings, 2 apartment buildings and
commercial space of 110,000 sg.m., including apartment hotel, metro
plaza, IMAX cinema and large supermarket, together with a branded
kindergarten. Modern MOM A Modern Plaza (EAMOMAERES) is
situated at the junction of Kaiyuan Road and East Eight Line (R /\4%)
in Xingsha Economic and Development Zone, a major development
zone in Changsha which is located at the core development zone
at the east of Xingsha and will be the future political and cultural
centre. Surrounding the project is a well-developed road network,
and thus it enjoys a very convenient travel to Huanghua Airport by
car within 15 minutes. In addition, as there are bus routes such as
205 and 204, and even the station of Metro Line Three (Huangxing
Avenue Station), it has enormous potential for appreciation in future.
The project has a GFA of 341,778 sq.m. and the area sold amounts
to 60,985 sq.m.

ik
=
Van
]
i
B
af
|
<
>
Il
<
o

o
o

=

>

=
Q

>

o
o
3.
>

03
Q)
°

.
3.
=
()

o

37



il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
p-
=)
=
|
N
o
—
=Y

38

EEENWE DN

Management Discussion and Analysis

Bt %5 2]
W 28

REBOWRBEE2013F12831HILFE
HARE3,469.08 BB INA17.6%EHE
2014F12A3MB IEFEH AR4,079.58
B FERARNERERMOMA - KRB
BEIHMOMA « EAFHABHMESZEMOMALL
MM EEMOMASYEERIER &5
BRISIHERANY - AEEMEEEHER
EAmEREZ2013F12A831BIEFELYD
367,098 F I KIEIMEEFHE2014512 A31H
IEFEE4431,044F 53K ©

HEA

NEE0M4FRHEER RN ABARE2,424.2
BETT - L2013FEINL15.5%  EERA
BHEEMMBEINN2014F RNIEE 2 W ER K

B -
EMNRERNR

EREXF - NEBE014FHEN A
A R #1,655.38 & T+ 20134 8 11 49
20.8% ' M20144F #) E F & £40.6% ' Lt
2013FHUELI 1A B DB -

HBA ~ WEREE

HEmUA ~ W R EIBREE2013F12 31
AEFENARKSTIBEBITIEINLT67.9%
EHZE2014F12A3MBIEFEHARETS 3
AEX TZHAEE2014F12A3181EF
EEEPEERFERA - HERB LA AM
ek & B IR RS AIEINFTER -

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately 17.6% to
approximately RMB4,079.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2014 from approximately RMB3,469.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2013. Such increase was mainly attributable to sales
revenue from the property development projects, collectively, such
as Modern MOM A (Beijing), Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Taiyuan),
Changsha Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOMA and Xiantao Man Ting
Chun MOMA. The property-related delivered GFA of the Group
increased from approximately 367,098 sg.m. for the year ended 31
December 2013 to approximately 431,044 sq.m. for the year ended
31 December 2014.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately 15.5% to
RMB2,424.2 million in 2014 from 2013. Such increase was mainly
due to an increase in sold area with higher cost of sales in 2014.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit increased by
approximately 20.8% to RMB1,655.3 million in 2014 from 2013 and
the Group’s gross profit margin in 2014 was 40.6%, representing a
slight increase of approximately 1.1 percentage points as compared
to 2013.

Other Income, Gains and Loss

Other income, gains and loss for the year ended 31 December 2014
increased by approximately 767.9% to approximately RMB75.3
million from approximately RMB8.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2013. Such increase was primarily due to an increase in
interest income from loans to joint ventures, gain on disposal of
subsidiaries and management service income for the year ended
31 December 2014.
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Change of Fair Value

Change of fair value includes fair value gain of completed properties
for sale upon transfer to investment properties and changes in fair
value of investment properties. The changes in fair value for the
year ended 31 December 2014 increased from RMB76.5 million
in 2013 to RMB202.0 million in 2014, representing an increase of
approximately 164.1%, which was mainly attributable to an increase
in fair value gain of completed properties for sale upon their transfer
to investment properties and better market conditions on rental.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The selling and distribution expenses of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2014 increased by approximately 21.1% to
approximately RMB206.8 million from approximately RMB170.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2013, primarily due to a
substantial increase in the pre-sales volume of the Group’s properties
in 2014, resulting in corresponding increase in the related selling and
distribution expenses.
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Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014 increased by approximately 18.6% to approximately
RMB242.1 million from approximately RMB204.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2013, primarily due to an increase of day-to-
day management expenses arising from commencement of various
projects of the Group in the same period.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group amounted to approximately RMB265.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2014, representing a
significant increase of approximately 646.4% from approximately
RMB35.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2013. Such
increase was primarily attributable to a significant increase in senior
notes balances for 2014 as compared to 2013.

For the breakdown of interest capitalisation, please refer to note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Profit before Taxation

Profit before taxation of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2014 increased by approximately 14.1% to approximately
RMB1,166.9 million from approximately RMB1,022.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2013 for the above reasons.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014 increased by approximately 26.6% to approximately
RMB625.6 million from approximately RMB494.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2013, primarily due to an increase in revenue
and the scale of the Group.
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Profit for the Period Attributable to Owners of the
Company

As a result of the foregoing, the profit of the Group attributable
to owners of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014
decreased by approximately 1.5% to approximately RMB521.1
million from approximately RMB528.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2013.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash position

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had cash, restricted cash and
bank balances of approximately RMB3,943.9 million (31 December
2013: RMB2,869.5 million), representing an increase of approximately
37.4% as compared with that as at 31 December 2013. As at 31
December 2014, some of the Group’s cash was deposited with
certain banks as guarantee deposits for mortgage financing loans
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties. As at 31 December
2014, the above guarantee deposits amounted to approximately
RMB47.8 million in total.

Borrowings and pledge of the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had total borrowings of
approximately RMB4,507.2 million, including bank and other loans of
approximately RMB1,795.2 million and senior notes of approximately
RMB2,712.0 million. As at 31 December 2014, certain banking and
other facilities granted to the Group were secured by the Group’s
assets, such as investment properties, properties under development,
properties held for sale and property, plant and equipment, which
had a carrying amount of approximately RMB3,273.9 million. A
majority of the carrying value of all the Group's bank loans was
denominated in RMB. Domestic bank loans of the Group bore
interests at variable rates pegged with the benchmark loan interest
rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China. The Group was exposed
to interest rate risk which was mainly related to variable interest rates
of the domestic bank loans.
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Breakdown of indebtedness

By type of borrowings and maturity

20144 20134
12A31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
AR¥Fx ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bank and other loans
Within one year or on demand 1,314,317 256,910
Over one year and within two years 365,900 827,200
Over two years and within five years 115,000 60,000
Over five years - 110,000
Subtotal 1,795,217 1,254,110
Offshore senior notes
Over two years and within five years 2,712,020 904,753
TOTAL 4,507,237 2,158,863
Less:
Cash and restricted cash 3,943,938 2,869,509
Net (debt)/cash (563,299) 710,646
Total equity 3,233,739 2,470,993
FHe
Net debt to equity 17.4% Net cash
Total debt/total equity 139.4% 87.4%
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By currency denomination

201445 20134
12A31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
AR¥Fx ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

REREBERERERBERES By type of borrowings and maturity
— UAREFHE — Denominated in RMB 2,688,195 1,224,818
— LAUBTTETE — Denominated in HK$ 136,317 -
— LAETTEHE — Denominated in USD 1,682,725 934,045
4,507,237 2,158,863

g Leverage

M2014F 128318 » REESEFEFHA
R¥5633BEL - AEEFRBEE ORH
BERTEARE) f2013F12A31BHH A
R#1,27498 8Bt EH#71.4%F20144F
12A31HN N ARE21856B&E L Mk
B (RBEE,/REBHAE) BIA2013F
12A31HBI#A119.2% L FE20149F12 A31
HEI4)125.1%
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As at 31 December 2014, the Group recorded net debt of
approximately RMB563.3 million. The Group’s net current assets
(being current assets less current liabilities) increased by approximately
71.4% to approximately RMB2,185.6 million as at 31 December 2014
from approximately RMB1,274.9 million as at 31 December 2013. Its
current ratio (being current assets/current liabilities) increased from
approximately 119.2% as at 31 December 2013 to approximately
125.1% as at 31 December 2014.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s functional currency is RMB. Most of the transactions are
denominated in RMB. Transactions of the Group’s foreign operations
(such as the purchase of land held for future development) and
certain expenses incurred are denominated in foreign currencies.
As at 31 December 2014, the Group had monetary assets which
are denominated in US dollars and HK dollars of approximately
RMB84.9 million and approximately RMB2.5 million, respectively
and liabilities which are denominated in US dollars and HK dollars of
approximately RMB1,682.7 million and RMB136.3 million respectively.
Those amounts were exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in place
but the management will monitor foreign exchange exposure and will
consider to hedge against any significant foreign currency exposure
when necessary.
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounting to approximately RMB2,680.4 million (31 December 2013:
approximately RMB2,128.4 million) in relation to guarantees provided
to the domestic banks for their mortgage bank loans granted to the
Group's customers. Under the terms of the guarantees, if a purchaser
has defaulted on mortgage payments, the Group will be liable for
the payment of outstanding mortgage principals plus accrued interest
and penalties as owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, and,
in such circumstances, the Group will be entitled to take over the
legal title and ownership of the relevant properties. These guarantees
will be released upon the earlier of: (i) the satisfaction of the
mortgage loan by the purchaser of the property; and (ii) the issuance
of the property ownership certificate for the mortgaged property and
the completion of registration of other ownership certificates.

Employees and Compensation Policy

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had 973 employees (31
December 2013: 725). Employee’s remuneration is determined based
on the employee’s performance, skills, knowledge, experience and
market trends. The Group regularly reviews compensation policies
and programs, and will make any necessary adjustment in order to be
in line with the remuneration levels in the industry norm. In addition
to basic salaries, employees may be granted with discretionary bonus
and cash awards based on individual performance.

FUND AND TREASURY POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES

Executive Directors and president office will hold meeting with
finance and operation teams in the first week of every month to
discuss the cash position and indebtedness situation. In addition,
board office circulates weekly capital market reports to board
members so that the Board can assess equity/debt financing
opportunities. At project level, all projects are expected to reach
the internal rates of return of over 15%-20%, depending on the
locations and categories of the projects.
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MATERIAL INVESTMENT, ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

A summary of the material investment, acquisitions and disposals of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2014 is set out as
follows:

On 8 December 2013, Modern Green Development entered into
an equity transfer agreement (the “Modern Moma Investment
Management Equity Transfer Agreement”) with Modern Construction
Investment Management Co., Ltd. (“Modern Construction”),
pursuant to which Modern Green Development agreed to
conditionally purchase from Modern Construction the entire equity
interest in Beijing Modern Moma Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. at a consideration of RMB10 million. Under the Modern Moma
Investment Management Equity Transfer Agreement, on completion,
Modern Green Development will assume the obligation to provide
shareholder loan to Suizhong Changlong Property Development
Co., Ltd. (“Suizhong Changlong”), which shall then be used by
Suizhong Changlong to set off and repay the existing shareholder
loan provided by Modern Construction. It was expected that the
shareholder loan to be provided by Modern Green Development
to Suizhong Changlong in this connection to be approximately
RMB127.42 million. The transaction was completed in January 2014.
Details of the transaction are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 9 January 2014.

On 18 March 2014, Jiangxi Modern Green Development Co., Ltd. (T
FAENREEEEEARAR) (“Jiangxi Modern Green”), the Company's
wholly-owned subsidiary, and AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“AVIC Trust”)
entered into an equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer
Agreement |”) whereby Jiangxi Modern Green agreed to dispose of
and AVIC Trust agreed to purchase 35% equity interest in Nanchang
Moma Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Nanchang Moma”) at a consideration
of RMB140 million (equivalent to approximately HK$175 million). As
at 18 March 2014, Nanchang Moma was owned by the Company
and Jiangxi Modern Green Development as to 65% and 35%
respectively. Upon completion of the transactions contemplated
under the Equity Transfer Agreement |, Nanchang Moma will be
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owned by the Company and the trust scheme established by AVIC
Trust as to 65% and 35% respectively. Nanchang Moma is a project
company established by the Company and Jiangxi Modern Green
for development of a parcel of the land designated as DAK2013022
located in Xinjian County (¥1#28%), Nanchang City (B9 &), Jiangxi
Province, the PRC (the “Land 3022”). On the same date, Jiangxi
Modern Green and AVIC Trust entered into another equity transfer
agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement II”) whereby Jiangxi
Modern Green agreed to dispose of and AVIC Trust agreed to
purchase 35% equity interest in Nanchang New Modern Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanchang Modern”) at a consideration of
RMB80.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$101 million). As
at 18 March 2014, Nanchang Modern was owned by the Company
and Jiangxi Modern Green as to 65% and 35% respectively.
Upon completion of the transactions contemplated under the
Equity Transfer Agreement Il, Nanchang Modern will be owned
by the Company and the trust scheme established by AVIC Trust
as to 65% and 35% respectively. Nanchang Modern is a project
company established by the Company and Jiangxi Modern Green
for development of a parcel of the land designated as DAK2013021
located in Xinjian County (#717#£%%), Nanchang City (F9&T), Jiangxi
Province, the PRC (the “Land 3021").

On 18 March 2014, the Company, Jiangxi Modern Green, AVIC
Trust and Nanchang Moma entered into a project management
agreement (the “Project Management Agreement |”) in respect of
the project relating to development of the Land 3022. Under the
Project Management Agreement |, Jiangxi Modern Green granted
to AVIC Trust a put option regarding the 35% equity interest in
Nanchang Moma. Further, on 18 March 2014, the Company, Jiangxi
Modern Green, AVIC Trust and Nanchang Modern entered into
another project management agreement (the “Project Management
Agreement I1”) in respect of the project relating to development
of the Land 3021. Under the Project Management Agreement II,
Jiangxi Modern Green granted to AVIC Trust a put option regarding
the 35% equity interest in Nanchang Modern. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 18 March 2014 for details
relating to the Equity Transfer Agreement I, the Equity Transfer
Agreement I, the Project Management Agreement I, the Project
Management Agreement Il and the transactions contemplated
thereunder.
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On 12 June 2014, Beijing Modern Green Investment Fund
Management Co. Ltd. (“Modern Green Fund Management”) (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Modern
Green Development entered into the Investment Agreements
(comprising a partnership admission agreement and an amended
and restated limited partnership agreement) with Minsheng Royal
Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“MRAM"). Pursuant to the Investment
Agreements, the parties agreed that, among others, MRAM shall
make the investment in Beijing Green Spring Equity Investment
Fund (Limited Partnership) (the “Fund”) by way of subscription
for the senior units in the amount of RMB370 million and become
a senior limited partner in the Fund (the “Investment”). Upon
completion of the Investment, the investment amount in the Fund
of RMB800 million will be held as to 1.875% by Modern Green
Fund Management as general partner, 51.875% by Modern Green
Development as subordinated limited partner and 46.25% by MRAM
as senior limited partner. The Group’s partnership interest in Beijing
Green Spring will decrease from 100% to 53.75%. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 12 June 2014.

On 10 September 2014, the Company, Great Wall Pan Asian
International Investment Co., Limited (“Great Wall”) and Modem
Land (HKNo.5) Limited (the "Joint Venture Company”), among
others, entered into a joint venture agreement (the “Joint Venture
Agreement”) for the formation of the Joint Venture Company to
develop the two land parcels located in Changsha, Hunan Province
of the PRC into residential and commercial properties through
certain project companies. In connection with the formation of the
Joint Venture Company, each of the Company and Great Wall shall
contribute RMB500 million as shareholder loan. Following completion
of the Joint Venture Agreement in October 2014, the Joint Venture
Company is owned as to 51% by the Company and 49% by Great
Wall respectively. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 10 September 2014, 12 September 2014 and 10
October 2014.

On 15 October 2014, Modern Green Development entered into the
Equity Transfer Agreement with Hangzhou Huagin and Shanghai
Yujing whereby Modern Green Development shall acquire 100%
equity interest in Shanghai Yujing at the consideration of RMB10
million (equivalent to approximately HK$12.5 million); and Modern
Green Development shall provide Shanghai Yujing with a loan in
the amount of RMB25 million (equivalent to approximately HK$31.3
million). For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 16 October 2014.
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In 2014, the Group attached great importance to communications
with investors, financial institutions, the media and other
stakeholders in order to establish a more efficient communication
channel between the Group and the capital market. The investor
relations department has maintained effective mutual communication
and close relationships with investors, financial institutions and media
through various channels such as the publication of annual report
and interim report, results briefing and press briefing, press release,
corporate monthly newsletter and announcement, as well as the
website of the Company, and also released the Group’s financial and
operation conditions and the latest news to the market promptly
and accurately in compliance with the principle of “accurate, timely,
and transparent” information disclosure. The Group strives to make
the market have a deep understanding of the Group and maintain
high corporate transparency in order to create maximum value for
shareholders and other stakeholders.

During the year, the Group expanded new investor relations though
multi-channels such as one-to-one meetings, non-deal roadshow,
reverse roadshow for the media and investors, results briefing,
industry summit held by investment bank, press briefing, telephone
and e-mail exchange, seminars and the website of the Group, so
as to timely promote the proprietary technologies, development
philosophy and strategy, the latest development and results of
operation and management to the capital market. Meanwhile, the
Group also actively sought suggestions and feedbacks for the Group
from investors, thereby optimizing the corporate governance of the
Group and continuously creating value for shareholders, investors and
the society.

Since listing, members of the Company’s senior management such as
the chairman of the Board, president and chief financial officer have
participated in numerous investor activities in various types and have
sufficiently communicated with the capital market, which enabled the
investors to have more comprehensive interpretation and analysis for
the business concepts and financial standing, and effectively realised
the multi-channel bilateral communication. The Group will keep on
disclosing accurate and transparent information of high quality on a
timely basis.



REEBERE

Investor Relations Report
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204 XEENEEREEBETEH Key investor relations events of the Group in 2014 M
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DATE EVENT ORGANISER LOCATION %
>
20141 A16H REERES FRFRE/REESE FEE 1R £ F+F 5B &
16 January 2014 Meeting with investors/ Morgan Stanley Hong Kong <
non-deal roadshow/investor meeting %
2014437258 013 FFEEEERME EREX Bk 3
25 March 2014 2013 annual results presentation Modern Land Hong Kong &
201443 H26H EENHERIERDEE A% &S 2
26 March 2014 Non-deal roadshow subsequent to Daiwa Securities Hong Kong §
results announcement =
201443 A27H FENMRIERFE FEE AR £ F+F HB %
27 March 2014 Non-deal roadshow subsequent to Morgan Stanley Hong Kong o
results announcement C
201445H21H BER - ARBBAIETEEGRE EREX B 2
21 May 2014 Modern-Letv strategic cooperation press briefing Modern Land Hong Kong 2
20146 A10EE12H ERA@2014Hh KR EEE EEAR RSB 1t
10 = 12 June 2014 J.P. Morgan Global China Summit 2014 J.P. Morgan Beijing
201446 H13H ER - RUMEBAEREENS EREX e
13 June 2014 Modern-Great Wall strategic cooperation Modern Land Hong Kong
press briefing
201446 H13H ER - REEBSEREENS EREX EB
13 June 2014 Modern-Moiji strategic cooperation press briefing Modern Land Hong Kong
20147 A10B&E11H REERES FRFRE/REESS FEAR KR EAAWIIE:
10 - 11 July 2014 Meeting with investors/non-deal roadshow/ IHEEE Singapore
investor meeting J.P. Morgan
Credit Suisse
2014%7A220 REEREE HRHGEE/REESH BHRER £
22 July 2014 Meeting with investors/non-deal roadshow/ Guotai Junan Hong Kong
investor meeting
201449 A3R 2014 FhHIRERME EREX N
3 September 2014 2014 interim results presentation Modern Land Hong Kong
20149 H4H%E5H FRENMRIERHIE FER KB BB
4 - 5 September 2014 Non-deal roadshow subsequent to WEEE Hong Kong
results announcement J.P. Morgan
Credit Suisse
20144108 13H 0145 E=FERELME BERER e
13 October 2014 2014 third-quarter results presentation Modern Land Hong Kong
20144108 13H PRFF R E & ERER N
13 October 2014 Stock commentator seminar Modern Land Hong Kong
2014510148 2158  XBAMRIEFRFHBE EREX E
14 - 15 October 2014 Non-deal roadshow subsequent to Modern Land Hong Kong
results announcement
20144118208 MRk REFES BT E S e
20 November 2014 Asian High Yield Corporate Day Nomura Securities Hong Kong
2014511 278 %280 &ABEFEERMAKE EREXE 1t
27 — 28 November 2014  Reverse roadshow for media in Hong Kong Modern Land Beijing
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Since its first proposition by the United Nations World Commission
on Environment and Development in 1987, the idea of “sustainable
development” has become an important notion for every enterprise
and individual. As a leader in energy-saving property industry of the
PRC, Modern Land has been adhering to the concept of seeking
the balance between economic and social development and the
integration with environmental protection. Since its establishment,
the Group has been committed to the social responsibility in a
proactive manner, and it has kept in mind to contribute to the society
in sync with its continuous development. During the year, the Group
actively participated in social charitable activities to ensure that it can
make long-term contribution in respect of sustainable development,
economic growth and livelihood while striving for better business
performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Building a homeland of green + comfort + energy-saving
+ full life cycle with mobile internet

With the economic development and Chinese residents’ greater
demand for better life quality, energy-saving and green products will
gradually dominate the market. Meanwhile, the government has
made clear that green and energy-saving architecture is the inevitable
direction of the future development of real estate industry in the
PRC. The Company started earlier than other enterprises of Mainland
China in the research and development on green and energy-saving
real estate, and therefore has taken the lead significantly in this
sub-market.

Modern Land has always been adhering to the development
concept of “Technology Buildings and Quality Life”, sticking to the
development philosophy of “Natural Simplicity, Harmonious Health,
Simple Focus, and Endless Vitality” and focusing on the theme of
“Action of Loving My Homeland” to provide consumers with the
comfortable and energy-saving products, not only improving the
quality of occupiers’ living environment, but also caring for the
nature and focusing on energy-saving and environmental protection,
thus bringing occupiers the sincere and real life experience.

In 2002, the Group created the MOM/\ concept that integrates
large real estate project development, advanced construction
techniques, original construction design, modern urban lifestyle and
humane care, and such series of MOM A products built with great
efforts have become the iconic brands of China’s energy-saving real
estate industry. The capabilities of Modern Land in the integration
and application of sustainable development technologies and
high-quality living environment design, coupled with the Company’s
excellent performance in the development and sale of related
properties, allow it to stand out among numerous Chinese property
developers. Modern Land has established three types of standardised
product lines in a number of cities and provinces such as Beijing,
Shanghai, Shanxi, Hunan, Hubei and lJiangxi, especially in the areas
with cold winter and hot summer and areas suffering severe air
pollution, to offer comfortable, healthy and energy-saving technical
residential buildings.
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LEED FOR NEIGHEORHOOD DEVELOPMENT
PILOT

MODERN MOMA

Besgiryg. China

STAGE 3.CERTIFIED
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Beijing Modern MOM A - certification of
Leading Energy and Environmental Design
— Neighborhood Development (LEED-ND)
granted by the U.S. Green Building Council
(USGBCQ)

Achievements and awards

Modern Land obtained numerous awards and certifications for its
excellent performance in environmental protection. Among which,
Beijing Modern MOM /A was awarded the certification of Leading
Energy and Environmental Design — Neighborhood Development
(LEED-ND) granted by the U.S. Green Building Council (USGBC).
Nanchang Man Ting Chun MOMA and Beijing Modern MOM A
passed China Green Building Three-Star Certification. Up to now,
the Group is the only company that has passed the top certification
for green building in China — China Green Building Three-Star
Certification twice.
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Nanchang Man Ting
Chun MOMA - China
Green Building Three-Star
Certification

Beijing Modern MOM A
— China Green Building
Three-Star Certification
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Start from ourselves in energy-saving and environmental
protection

The Group is aware that energy-saving and environmental protection
are the important segments of sustainable development of the
enterprise. Therefore, when actively building green energy-saving
architectures, the staff is also encouraged to live in a low-carbon way.

“Earth Hour” is held annually across the world at 20:30 (local time)
on the last Saturday of March, aiming to save energy by encouraging
households and business users to turn off non-essential lights and
electrical appliances for an hour. As a green energy-saving enterprise,
Modern Land responds positively to the call of “Earth Hour” and calls
its every employee to save power and energy.

Trees help regulate climate, sustain the ecological balance, keep air
clean and fresh through breathing in carbon dioxide and exhaling
oxygen during photosynthesis, break wind and fix sands, conserve
water and soil as well as absorb dust. In March-April each year,
Modern Land organises staff from the Group and project companies
to participate in the tree planting activities to contribute to the blue
sky of cities. On 26 April 2014, Modern Land’s tree planting and
climbing activity named “Run for Honor (38§ - 28 + 1Ii&E)" was
successfully held with 120 participants from various centers and
companies in Beijing.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Ludian earthquake relief efforts showing love and
care for the affected area

At 16:30 (Beijing time) on 3 August 2014, a magnitude 6.5
earthquake struck Ludian County, Zhaotong City, Yunnan Province.
A total of 617 people were killed, 112 were missing, 3,143 were
injured and more than 1.08 million people were affected. As soon as
the news about the earthquake was released, Modern Land issued
a proposal of “love our homeland and care for Ludian”. Within just
two weeks, employees of every center and company under the Group
raised a total of RMB118,500 for the China Charity Federation,
showing their team effort, care and love for the affected area.

OPERATING PRACTICES

As of 31 December 2014, the Group had 973 employees, of which
945 were in China, 11 in Hong Kong and 17 in the United States.
The Group firmly believes that staff are the most valuable asset to the
enterprise, hence, it strives to set up a good development platform
for its staff.
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Employees’ development and training

Career development and management in Modern Land builds
on the core value of the Group. Through career development
and management and the 12-level standardised examination and
assessment, the Group discovers and understands the career anchor
of the employees. It also provides a good environment in respect of
external career development for employees and helps them achieve
internal career development. With considerable professional practice,
harmonious and unified development of the staff and the enterprise
can be realised.

The Group truly understands that knowledge, skills and abilities of
the employees are the key in promoting sustainable development of
the Group’s business. As such, we encourage our staff to enhance
their professional skills by arranging various training courses for them
every year. The average training hours per year for each employee in
the mid-level, the management and the leadership team are 50, 90
and 198 respectively.
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Talent strategy and care for staff

The Group implements a “five-aspect talent strategy”, i.e. “attracting
talent, cultivating talent, making good use of talent, retaining
talent and the flow of talent”. Specifically, the “five-aspect talent
strategy” includes attracting talent: strict control on the recruitment
and leaving of professional talent; cultivating talent: integrated
cultivation and training system; making good use of talent: “Modern”
arena with no boundaries; retaining talent: provision of incentives,
accountability and career in Modern Land; the flow of talent: double
value and no position without contribution. In order to implement
the aspect of attracting talent in the “five-aspect talent strategy”,
Modern Land officially launched its campus talk “MOM A Climbers
2014" on 14 October 2014. The talk had been held in cities such as
Beijing, Hefei, Changsha, Wuhan, Nanchang, Chongging and Taiyuan
and was well-attended in all venues. The Group received nearly 5,000
resumes in the campus recruitment event this year.

On the basis of a “five-aspect talent strategy” of Modern Green
Development, the care for staff represents the care for all staff
members for the purpose of strengthening their recognition of Zhiye
culture and loyalty towards the Company, and retaining talents
with the use of sentiment, career and economic benefit, including
the birthday care, induction anniversary, traditional festivals and
holidays, care for marriage, maternity and bereavement, body check,
appraisal, staff teambuilding, Zhiye cultural activities, care for staff
stationed overseas and staff in difficulty, etc. By creating a warm
working environment for staff with occupational care, the Group has
maintained its relationships with its staff through love and care, and
united all people to realise the common vision of the Group and its
staff.
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Quality of working environment

The Group adopts a range of precautionary measures and makes
efforts to provide employees with a safe workplace. During the
period, no casualty of the Company’s staff was recorded. The Group
also conducted regular occupational health checks for staff annually,
and organised a series of activities promoting healthy life for staff on
an irregular basis, such as exercising in worktime, Run for Fun (&
£4P9 %), badminton competition, climbing, etc.
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Code of conduct

The Group has been adhering to the stringent code of conduct,
including, among others, anti-corruption guidelines. Modern Land’s
Zhiye Guidelines (&% ”E8l]) expressly provides that all employees
shall be honest and self-disciplined, and they must not extort
bribes, accept bribes or seek other improper benefits by using their
authorities, and are prohibited to receive reward intermediately,
rebate or commission in a variety of economic activities. On 26
December 2014, the Group issued a notice that it had decided to
establish the anti-fraud reporting and acceptance department and
stipulate the way of acceptance, and included a clause of anti-fraud
reporting in tender documents and standardised contracts, so as to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Company and its
shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance. It is the belief of the Board that effective
corporate governance and disclosure practices are not only crucial
in enhancing the Company’s accountability and transparency and,
in turn, investors’ confidence but also important to the Group’s
long-term success.

The Board is of opinion that the Company had complied with the
code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) for
the year ended 31 December 2014, except for the code provisions
A.6.7 and E.1.2:

Code Provision A.6.7 — This code provision stipulates that
independent non-executive directors and other non-executive
directors, as equal board members, should give the board and
any committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills,
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular
attendance and active participation. They should also attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. All Directors have regular attendance and active
participation in the meetings, and contributed their skills, expertise
and varied backgrounds and qualifications to the Board and the
respective committees. Mr. Zhong Tianxiang, who was previously an
executive Director and was re-designated as a non-executive Director
on 26 August 2014, and Mr. Cui Jian, an independent non-executive
Director, were not able to attend the annual general meeting held on
21 May 2014 (the “2014 AGM") as they were out of town for other
business.

Code Provision E.1.2 — This code provision requires the chairman
to invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration and nomination
committees to attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Cui Jian,
an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”), was unable to attend the 2014 AGM as he was out of
town for other business. In his absence, the other members of the
Nomination Committee, namely Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Hui Chun Ho,
Eric, attended the 2014 AGM and answered questions raised thereat.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. All Directors
have confirmed that they complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the year under review. During January
to December in 2014, Mr. Zhang Lei, the Chairman and an executive
Director, purchased 3,308,000 shares of the Company at an average
price of HK$1.24, which was disclosed on the website of the Stock
Exchange. The shareholdings of the Directors, chief executive and
substantial shareholders of the Company are detailed in the Directors’
Report of this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board, which is chaired by Mr. Zhang Lei, consists of three
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board ensures a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of Group and the issuance of
independent opinion.

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report include:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Lei (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Peng (Executive President)
(appointed on 27 January 2014)

Mr. Chen Yin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhong Tianxiang (re-designated from an executive Director to a
non-executive Director on 26 August 2014)
Mr. Fan Qingguo (re-designated from an executive Director to a
non-executive Director on 26 August 2014)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Qin Youguo

Mr. Cui Jian
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric
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All executive Directors and non-executive Directors have entered
into service contracts with the Company for a specific term of three
years. Under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”), the Board is empowered to appoint any person
as a Director to fill the casual vacancy or as an additional Director.
The Board considers a candidate’s experience, skill and knowledge
and competency and ability to fulfill duty of care and diligence and
fiduciary duty and/or recommendation by the Nomination Committee
(if any).

In compliance with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors
(representing one-third of the Board), one of whom possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications in accounting and financial
management. Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his independence of the Company and the Company
considers each of them to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines of assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a specific
term of three years.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third or, if
the number is not a multiple of three, the nearest to one-third, of
the Directors are subject to retirement from office by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company once
every three years. In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Zhong Tianxiang, Mr. Fan Qingguo and Mr. Cui Jian
will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 21 May 2015
(the 2015 AGM"). All other Directors will continue in office.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group and, in particular, the non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors have provided the Board with their diversified
expertise and professional advices. The Board is of the view that
there is a balanced composition of executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive Directors in the Board and the
independent non-executive Directors are able to provide sufficient
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) and the Group. The participation
of the independent non-executive Directors in the Board and
committee meetings also provides independent judgment on the
issues relating to strategy, policy, performance, accountability, conflict
of interest and standards of conduct.
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The Board members have timely access to information relating to
the Group’s business and will be provided with further documents
and information upon request to enable them to make informed
decisions. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees are kept by the company secretary and are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees are recorded in sufficient details for the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns raised or
dissenting views expressed by the Directors. Draft and final versions
of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comment and record
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meeting is held.
All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials. These papers and related materials are in a form and
quality sufficient to enable the Board to make informed decisions on
matters placed before it. Queries raised by the Directors are received
a prompt and full response.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced Board
composition is formed to ensure strong independence across the
Board.

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on Directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against Directors arising out of corporate activities.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD

The Board is in charge of leadership and control of the Group and
is responsible for maximising the Group’s financial performance
and making decisions in the best interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. Under the leadership of Mr. Zhang Lei, the Chairman,
the Board is also responsible for formulating and overseeing the
business strategies and policies of the Group, approving and
monitoring annual budgets and business plans, reviewing operational
and financial performance, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s
financial control and risk management systems. The Board has
delegated the daily operation and day-to-day management of the
Group as well as the implementation of the Board’s policies and
strategies to executive Directors and the management of the Group.
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i EXEERBRRRAE BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING

>

= EFeTHIAMBMEMEMEITE#% 0 The Board holds meetings regularly and meets at other times as and
r:E; BRI AEBMBR - AEBRARER - B when required to review financial, internal and compliance controls,
= BB NRIRAE AL - ko EEE  risk management, company strategy and operating performance of
§ CRITPEASAGEIFEBRRENIFEEE o the Group. In addition, the Board holds general meetings to maintain
~ H2014F1H1HBZE2014512A3181EHM © an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders. For the period from
§ BEEQRITTIRERSE - 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014, the Board held 4 regular

meetings.

ZEEN2014F1 818 £20149F12831H  The number of Board meetings and general meetings attended by
HEHEESSSEMRAEREHXNHEEHR  each Director from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014 is set out in
& the following table:

R EREEE FMEES REZE®

Exges ] 23 28

Regular Audit Remuneration Nomination BRRERXE
=3 Board Committee Committee Committee General
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BITEBRRE
Number of meetings held 4 2 2 2 1
RESTE
Mr. Zhang Lei 4 2 2 1
SRBG e
Mr. Zhang Peng 4 1
BRE L
Mr. Chen Yin 4 1
Mr. Fan Qingguo 4 1
ERMESE
Mr. Zhong Tianxiang 4 _
BT E
Mr. Qin Youguo 3 2 2 1
ERREAE
Mr. Cui Jian 4 1 1 1 -
AHEVE AL
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric 4 2 2 1
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Notice of at least 14 days for regular Board meetings and sufficient
notice of reasonable days for ad hoc Board meetings (if any) were
given to all Directors so as to ensure that (i) each of them had
an opportunity to attend the meetings, (ii) each of them had an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda and (iii) agenda and
accompanying Board papers were given to all Directors in a timely
manner. As agreed by the Board, the Directors may also seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. During
the intervals between Board meetings, the senior management of
the Company provides the Directors with information on a timely
basis regarding all major developments or changes in the Group’s
businesses.

Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the Board meeting, he or she will abstain from
voting in respect of the relevant resolution. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at the
meetings to deal with such issues.

Full Board or committee papers will be sent to all Directors at least three
days (or number of days which should be reasonable and adequate)
before the intended date of a Board meeting or committee meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with adequate
information and explanations so as to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before the Board
and its committees for approval. Management is also invited to attend
the Board or committee meetings where appropriate.

All Directors are also entitled to have access to timely information
such as monthly updates in relation to the Company’s businesses and
have separate and independent access to senior management.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

During the year, all Directors were provided with regular updates on
applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Two trainings on (1)
insider trading and guidelines on disclosure of inside information; and
(2) Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules of a listed issuer in Hong Kong
respectively were given to all Directors as part of their continuous
professional development plan of the Company and the Company
confirmed that all Directors participated in such trainings.

In addition, every newly appointed Director will receive an induction
on the first occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he
or she has a proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company, and his or her responsibilities under the laws and
regulations and especially the governance policies of the Company.

Tk
o
Vag
]
i
B
il
|
Pl
>
]
<
o
o
()
=
=
=
Q
=
o
n
3.
=
e
Q)
)
L
3
=
(0]
o

63



il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
p-
=)
=
|
N
o
—
=Y

64

TEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

FERYITRE

ETFENMATHESB A DRI BERELERKE
AL MENRETARERD

IRRELLEREER AN RS A
EEABBEREBREFE  URRAR
BEBRERERS  RERTRNEE
VHREESEH LR OMESHEER
-

TRET-RAEEACREALZEFTE - I/F
EEREZTSHAIINEE BABRTEAR
B UNRRHAEEENEEEFRETH
W EFERITEEARECIHAEBRESTS
EENHEE UHEEEBRA T REMES
EEMAZENTASEE  TRAKEER
EFEREETNEEHRAWE - TFEEE
2EML BRAANERFNEERERER
iz - TRESBMEEZE2NRAES
SF% WASER BREZSTENE
ARB&END - TFEEEEFHIRERLD
EEPRELANFEAINER LTELSE
BEREHEN® NREREFSHIRERE
AERREFENHAB - TREELSFAE
HRITEENBIFATESTRITRRE
HITEEHRENEE -

HITRERBLEAEAKEAREES &
EHEESHEREMOEBEER  BERER
HE - URARENBEREENERZEAE -

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT

The Chairman and the Executive President are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Zhang Peng respectively with
clear distinction in responsibilities.

Mr. Zhang Lei, being the Chairman, is responsible for the
management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall
strategies and business development directions for the Group, to
ensure that adequate, complete and reliable information is provided
to all Directors in a timely manner, and to ensure that the issues
raised at the Board meetings are explained appropriately.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide leadership
for the Board. The Chairman is responsible to ensure that the Board
works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in a timely manner. The
Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each Board meeting. He takes into account, where
appropriate, any matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion
in the agenda. The Chairman may delegate this responsibility to
a designated Director or the company secretary. The Chairman
also takes primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established. The Chairman
encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution to
the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that it acts in the best
interests of the Company. The Chairman encourages the Directors
with different views to voice their concerns, allows sufficient time
for discussion of issues and ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect
Board consensus. The Chairman at least annually holds a meeting
with the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
directors without the executive Directors present.

Mr. Zhang Peng, being the Executive President, is responsible for the
daily operations of the Group and the implementation of business
policies, objectives and plans as formulated and adopted by the
Board, and is accountable to the Board for the overall operation of
the Group.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of the Group's performance,
position and prospects in the consolidated financial statements of the
annual and interim reports in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. Pursuant to Code Provision
C.1.1 of the CG Code, the management provided such explanation
and information to the Board as will enable the Board to make an
informal assessment of the financial and other information put before
the Board for approval. The Directors confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2014, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates
that are prudent and reasonable.

The Group has announced its interim results in a timely manner
within the limits of two months after the end of the relevant financial
periods, as laid down in the Listing Rules.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain an effective internal
control system in order to safeguard the interest of the Group
and the Shareholders, review and monitor the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems on a regular basis to
ensure that the systems in place are adequate. In 2014, the Group
engaged a third party consultancy service provider to assist the audit
department of the Group in conducting a review on the internal
control management of the group companies as well as the project
companies in northern and central-southern China.

The Group’s internal control system comprises, among others, the
relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management procedures, a well-established organisational structure
with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each
department is accountable for its daily operations and is required to
implement the business strategies and policies adopted by the Board
from time to time.
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The Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system and procedures during the
financial year ended 31 December 2014 by way of discussions with
the management of the Group, members of the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) and the external independent auditor. The Board
believes that the existing internal control system is adequate and
effective. The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programs and budget and was satisfied
with their adequacy.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Group in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

The reporting responsibilities of our Company’s external auditor on
the financial statements of the Group are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

BOARD COMMITTES AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the Nomination Committee to oversee the relevant
aspects of the Company’s affairs. The three Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee was established on 14 June 2013. As of 31 December
2014, the Audit Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric (the chairman of
the Audit Committee), Mr. Cui Jian and Mr. Qin Youguo. None of
them is @ member of the former or existing auditor of the Company.
The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting and financial management expertise and
experience to discharge their duties. However, the Audit Committee is
authorised to obtain external legal or other independent professional
advice if it considers necessary.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference in accordance
with the CG Code. The principal functions of the Audit Committee
include:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditors, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and to handle any questions of resignation or dismissal of that
auditor;

e to review and monitor the independence and objectivity of
the external auditors and effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards, and to discuss the nature
and scope of the audit and related reporting responsibilities with
the external auditor before the audit commences;

e to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
the Company’s annual report and accounts, half-year report
and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

e to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures; and

e to discuss with the management the system of internal control
and ensure that management has discharged its duty to have
an effective internal control system including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programs and budget.
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The Audit Committee also performs corporate governance procedures
of the Company, including:

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practice on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the code provision and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company.

The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2014 and conducted the
following activities:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

reviewed the Group’s annual results for 2013 and interim results
for 2014;

reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external auditor;

reviewed the revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee
for the Board's approval;

reviewed the internal control and financial matters pursuant to
its terms of reference; and

made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
the external auditor and its remuneration.

The Audit Committee also met with the auditor annually in the
absence of management to discuss matters relating to any issues
arising from audit and any other matters the auditor may wish to
raise.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the external auditor’s
remuneration in respect of audit services provided to the Group
amounted to approximately RMB2 million. During the year, the
non-audit service fee to external independent auditor amounted to
RMB709,824.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 June 2013 with
written terms of reference as suggested under the code provisions
in the CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director,
namely Mr. Cui Jian (the chairman of the Nomination Committee),
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric and Mr. Zhang Lei.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include: (i)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a year and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to the Board for conforming to the strategy of the Company;
(i) identifying and nominating qualified individuals to act as Directors
and making recommendations to the Board regarding such matters;
(iii) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and (iv) making recommendations to the Board regarding
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to answer the questions raised by
the Shareholders on Director’s nomination and other nomination
policy matters.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year (or in
accordance with the regulations of regulatory authorities applicable
to the Company from time to time) at the time as required to
discharge its duties. The meeting shall be convened and chaired by
the Chairman. For the year ended 31 December 2014, two meetings
of Nomination Committee were held to assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors and structure of the Board,
review the reappointment of Directors at the 2014 AGM, etc.

Tk
o
Vag
]
i
B
il
|
Pl
>
]
<
o
o
()
=
=
=
Q
=
o
n
3.
=
e
Q)
)
L
3
=
(0]
o

69



il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
p-
=)
=
|
N
o
—
=Y

70

TEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

EEEHESTILEE

EXEECRMEBRERZENESHN(E
ZENEZTREK] - EFHEHN: BEE
ZEREREABA-ZINZ TLBERE
£ WSERRBHEHEAMNMSESR K -
BRENRRIER - Fik Bk %5 X
tER HEER TELBRNEELR -

tRAGEREERAZEERTESTSAN
BIERTETUREERREMN EREEEN
REMERBARREBNES EELFT G
% RAZEQWER RAEFESREA
2 BAFHTREE -

YMEES

HFMEE D LN2013F6 148 K - I
RIBREEATRRTRME X ER: - UEM
AL THESHSE - B £2014F12H31
AIEFE FNEEeaMEBLIERNTE
ER—ZHRTERER DR ARHBRLE
(FNZESER)  EREERFTELE -

FHZEeMEERAEEE (BETRR) : ()
RARBIZEEREREEABZ 2B
BRNEE  MRRIERAMABERE 22
Pl ET B BHERSE - MEF SR HE : (i3t
WITEFEZHFMRESSREES ¢ K(i)E
BRRR RS Z #r B~ 7R A5 H 2 B ] e B
BN EBAEMBALZ BRAKRES -

HOTEFNFMERmFMEZ RS REEH
HITEZNRKER B ITEEREBESE
BERET FTHEZE S THRABESTH
M

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” in relation to the
nomination and appointment of new Directors, which sets out: the
selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience.

The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when
the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board.
After assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to
the Company’s business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that
the existing Board was appropriately structured and no change was
required.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 June 2013 with
written terms of reference as suggested under the code provisions
in the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Qin Youguo (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Cui Jian, and
an executive Director, Mr. Zhang Lei, during the year ended 31
December 2014.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
not limited to) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policies and structures for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on such remuneration; (ii) making recommendations to the
Board for executive Directors’ remuneration; and (iii) considering
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The amount of the executive Directors’ remuneration is determined
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of the relevant
executive Directors’ experience, responsibility, workload and the time
devoted to the Group. The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee from time to time.
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The Remuneration Committee may also consult the Chairman on
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors
and has access to professional advice if necessary. For the year ended
31 December 2014, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
and conducted the following activities:

(i) reviewed the remuneration policy of the Group and Directors’
remunerations;

(i) reviewed and approved the remuneration package of individual
executive Directors, non-executive Directors and senior
management; and

(iii) reviewed the revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included 3 Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2014 (2013: 3 Directors). The emoluments of the
remaining 2 highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December
2014 (2013: remaining 2 highest paid individuals) are as follows:

2014%F 20134
AREFT ARBTF T
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’'000
== Employees

— BN NoERL — Basic salaries and allowances 1,427 670
— fE4T - Bonus 1,371 4,559
— ARSI SRR - Share-based payment 298 4,423
— RIKERN K — Retirement benefit contributions 76 37

— EMEWREF — Other benefit-in-kind
kT ES — Properties provided 759 -
3,931 9,689

AEE  AEEYESNAZERFTMAL
T B E RSB I A SN A A S B 1R 1) 5
Bk {ERBERIA(E -

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 December 2014, in compliance with Rule
3.28 of Listing Rules, the Company’s company secretary is a full-time
employee of the Company and familiar with the ordinary affairs of
the Company. The company secretary is responsible for giving advice
to the Board on corporate governance matters in order to assist the
Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to
suit different commercial needs. Details of the Company’s company
secretary are set out in the section headed "Profiles of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the Company’s
company secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND
TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS THEREAT

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are prepared in accordance with Article
58 of the Articles of Association:

(1) One or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
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(2) The written requisition must state the objects of the meeting,
and must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of those Shareholders.

(3) The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 505, ICBC Tower, Citibank
Plaza, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong.

(4) The extraordinary general meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of the requisition.

(5) If the Directors fail to proceed to convene the extraordinary
general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of
such requisition, the Shareholder(s) himself or themselves may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by him/her/them as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Shareholder(s) by the Company.

PROPOSALS FOR PROPOSING A PERSON FOR
ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association as amended from time to time, the Company may
from time to time in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director.

A Shareholder may propose any person (the “Person”) for election
as a Director by lodging the following documents at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 505, ICBC Tower,
Citibank Plaza, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned of
his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director with
full particulars of the Person including his/her full name and
biographical details as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules; and

Tk
o
Vag
g
i
B
il
|
Pl
>
]
<
o
o
()
=
=
=
Q
=
o
n
3.
=
e
Q)
)
L
3
=
(0]
o

73



il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
p-
=)
=
|
N
o
—
=Y

74

TEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

2) RALEBNERAMN KAHMEZ

A& HBATE7) B R
RAGRANEEAH
AR 2 ZEEA o

EHERF

REREFSERRZEARER - AQH
BRAAA T BBRGE AR

(1) BORWMIHFRAE EMRR - AIRALQE
BOBFPELORFEZBFELAERA
AlYEH e

(2) BRI ATRARS I 2 I o B R A B
EERABESARNBEREES -
WEZBERAEIT

EREXE (FE) ARAA
BEEPRIERBE =%

TEIERITES

B T REIRITAES05E

Eah 1 (852) 2187 3611

EH : (852) 2187 3619

BIHbUE : moma@pordahavas.com

() BERMAEARAZERA® LRES
SIELEWN -

MBERAARASERAR

RBZE2014F 128318 1LEFE - AARZHAE
WERXI E N RERMEAES -

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her willingness to
be elected as a Director.

Such notices shall be lodged at least seven (7) days prior to the date
of the general meeting and the period for lodgment of such notices
shall commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and shall
be at least seven (7) days in length.

PROCEDURES FOR RAISING ENQUIRIES

To ensure effective communication between the Board and
the Shareholders, the Company has adopted a Shareholders’
communication policy:

(1) Shareholders may direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited.

(2) Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns
to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary or the
Chief Financial Officer whose contact details are as follows:

Modern Land (China) Co., Limited
Room 505, ICBC Tower, Citibank Plaza,
3 Garden Road,

Central, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2187 3611

Fax: (852) 2187 3619

Email: moma@pordahavas.com

(3) Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at general
meetings of the Company.

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND ARTICLES
OF ASSOCIATION

There had been no significant changes in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2014.
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATION AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The major task and objective of the Group’s investor relations is
to clearly introduce the Group, including the business positioning,
existing operations and future development of the Group, to the
media, Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment banks
through different communication channels. In future, the Group
shall further enhance communication with the media, Shareholders,
investors, analysts and investment banks on various aspects such
as development strategies, operation and management, financial
prospects and business operation through meetings, senior
management’s participation in investor forums, conferences and
roadshows. The Group is confident in establishing and maintaining a
good relationship with the international capital institutions through
the continued enhancement of information transparency.

The Group emphasises the importance of maintaining good
communication with the Shareholders, so as to increase the
Company’s transparency and understanding by the Shareholders. To
enable that the Shareholders are effectively informed of the Group’s
status and developments, the Group issues announcements, circulars,
notices, interim and annual reports in a timely manner. To enhance
the Company’s transparency, other information about the Company is
published at the Company’s website (www.modernland.hk).

The Company’s annual general meetings allow the Directors to meet
and communicate with the Shareholders and to answer any queries
that the Shareholders may have. An external independent auditor
is also present at the annual general meetings. The Chairman will
propose separate resolutions for each issue to be considered at
the annual general meetings. A notice of annual general meeting
is delivered to all Shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior
to the date of the meeting, setting out details of each proposed
resolution and other information. Voting results are posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Lei (5R&E%£4), aged 52, is an executive Director and
our founder and Chairman. He is responsible for strategic planning,
board management and overall management of our Group. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries and project companies of the Group
in China, Hong Kong and North America.

Mr. Zhang has over 16 years of experience in the real estate
business in the PRC. From July 1985 to February 1995, he worked
as a department manager in the aspect of talents information
management and exchange at China International Talent Exchange
Center (FEIEIB A 7Ly, which is a State-owned enterprise.
From February 1995 to July 2000, he worked for his controlled entity,
Zhongji Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (FEEMEMRZEBREA
Al), as the general manager. Mr. Zhang founded our Group in 2000.
In January 2005, Mr. Zhang received an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from Tsinghua University (&3 K £2).

Mr. Chen Yin (BR&Z 5 4), aged 59, is an executive Director and our
chief technology officer and general engineer. Mr. Chen is responsible
for R&D and project management in our Group. He is also a director
of Modern Green Development and Beijing New Power.

Mr. Chen graduated from Beijing University of Civil Engineering
and Architecture (JEREETIZER) (currently known as “Beijing
University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (1t FZEZEKE)") in
July 1982 with a bachelor’s degree in Heat Energy Engineering. In
January 2007, Mr. Chen received a Master of Business Administration
degree from Renmin University of China (FF B A R AE3).

From 1982 to 1987, Mr. Chen taught in Beijing University of Civil
Engineering and Architecture (At R Z2ZTi2EFT). From July 1987 to
May 2001, Mr. Chen worked for Sinotrans Limited (FFEISMNESEE)
as a deputy general manager of Sinotrans Real Estate Development
Company, whereby he was mainly responsible for the management
of the infrastructure projects and the development of real estate
projects. Meanwhile, Mr. Chen served as a member of the expert
committee at the Center for Housing Industrialisation of the Ministry
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, a member of China Green
Building Council at Chinese Society for Urban Studies and a member
of the expert committee on Real Estate Technology Policy of China
Property Association. Mr. Chen joined us in May 2001. Mr. Chen Yin
is a well-known expert in the architectural energy-saving field. He is
a member of the Committee on Green Architectures of Architectural
Society of China and Renewable Energy Resource Society of China.
Mr. Chen has over 26 years of experience in the real estate business
in the PRC.
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Mr. Zhang Peng (3R lE 5& %), aged 39, is an executive Director
and Executive President. He graduated from Beifang University of
Nationalities (At FREAZL » RFAILE —RIKERT) in 1997 with a
bachelor’'s degree in Law. Mr. Zhang is the director and president
of Modern Green Development, and the director and supervisor of
certain subsidiaries and project companies of the Group.

From October 1997 to September 1998, Mr. Zhang worked for
the police in Yinchuan. From September 1998 to September 1999,
he worked for Coastline Times ({A/8853R)) as a journalist and
editor. From September 1999 to October 2000, Mr. Zhang worked
for Langluo E-commerce Co., Ltd. BASEFREAR AT as the
assistant to the director and was responsible for brand promotion.
From October 2000 to November 2001, he worked for Qiantong
Technology Group (®2i@EHE % El), an E-commerce company, and
he was the deputy manager in brand creation. Mr. Zhang joined the
Company in November 2001. He has been the chief human resources
officer, vice president and chief operating officer of Modern Green
Development, a subsidiary of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fan Qingguo CGEEE] £ 4), aged 43, is a non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Fan graduated from Renmin University of
China (FEARKXE) in July 1998 with a graduation certificate in
Accounting. In January 1999, Mr. Fan received a bachelor’ s degree
in Accounting from Renmin University of China (FBIARKER). In
June 2006, Mr. Fan graduated from Renmin University of China (1 E]
AR KE) with a graduate equivalent course-completion certificate in
Finance.

Mr. Fan joined us since our inception in December 2000. Mr. Fan
served as an executive Director and the chief financial officer of the
Company, and was re-designated as a non-executive Director of
the Company in 2014. Before joining us, Mr. Fan used to work for
Beijing Huayuan Property Company (It REZEREHE A R]), Beijing
Fazheng Group (GbLFUEBEE), a conglomerate including real estate
business, and Beijing KFC Limited Company (3t REEEBR A F) as
an accountant, respectively. Mr. Fan has over 16 years of experience
in the real estate business in the PRC.
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Mr. Zhong Tianxiang (X5t 4), aged 40, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Zhong graduated from The PLA
Information Engineering University (fBARBHREFEETEKXE) in
July 2014 with a bachelor’s degree in Information Management and
Information System.

Mr. Zhong has over ten years of experience in the real estate
business in the PRC. Mr. Zhong was an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company, and was re-designated as a
non-executive Director of the Company in 2014. Mr. Zhong joined
us in January 2002. From June 1992 to December 2001, he was
the finance manager of the Beijing office of Shenzhen Overseas
Decoration Engineering Company (&8 5N &1 T2 2 R)) whose
principal business is construction and refined decoration.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Qin Youguo (FEHEI%4E), aged 71, is an independent non-executive
Director and was appointed to our Board on 14 June 2013. He had been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of Modern Green
Development to provide independent advice to the board of directors
of Modern Green Development since March 2008 but he was and is
not an employee of Modern Green Development. Mr. Qin is currently a
professor of School of Architecture at Tsinghua University (BZEAES). Mr.
Qin completed his undergraduate study in Architecture (6-year-mode) at
Tsinghua University in July 1967, and completed his postgraduate study
in Building Science at Tsinghua University and received a master’s degree
in Engineering in April 1981, and thereafter taught in Tsinghua University.
From March 1990 to November 1997, Mr. Qin was the vice-dean of School
of Architecture, Tsinghua University, and he was the dean of School of
Architecture, Tsinghua University from December 1997 to December 2004.
He was a visiting scholar at Harvard University from September 1996 to
March 1997.
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Mr. Qin has won several awards, including the Second Prize for
Technology Improvement (FH#E 2588 — % 4%) issued by The Chinese
People’s Liberation Army Headquarters of the Central Staff (FEIA
ERENEHLZEIL) in 1990, the First Prize for Outstanding Design
(BEFH&H—%28) issued by Ministry of Education of the PRC (R
AREFIBEZAEEF) in 1995, the First Prize for Outstanding Design
(B F &t — % 58 issued by PLA General Armament Department
of the PRC (FEIARBMEBLEMFEELS) in 2000, the Gold Prize of
Technology for High-end Residential Building (5 (£ =& &} £ & fif
1% 1) issued by China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce (&
TrEBHEEEZER ) in 2004, the First Prize for Technology (RBHx%
#E—2£ 4% jssued by Beijing municipal government (AtRMEE) in
2005, Outstanding Contributor of Green Buildings (4B EHEET T
BAA#D) by International House Association (EIBRX{E=E1%E) in 2007.
He was awarded with a special subsidy by the State Council for his
contributions in the tertiary education of the PRC.

Mr. Cui Jian (BE# %), aged 44, is an independent non-executive
Director and was appointed to our Board on 14 June 2013. Mr. Cui
is currently the chairman of Beijing Zhixing Chuangxin Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (At RATTAIFTIEEBRAF]). From January
2008 to December 2011, Mr. Cui worked as the chief executive
officer of Navi Capital (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (SBMiE SR EFHAILR)
B R A 7]). Before that, Mr. Cui used to work for China Mobile
Communications Corporation (FEIZE)EEEEAF]) as a director
in the department of products and marketing from March 1997
to December 2007 and China International Telecommunication
Construction Corporation (B @ {5 Z & 4 Q2 7)) as an engineer
from July 1992 to March 1997. In December 2002, Mr. Cui obtained
the senior engineer qualification certificate from China Mobile
Communications Corporation (FF B #% &) & {= & B 2 &]). Mr. Cui
received his bachelor's degree in Communications Engineering from
Changchun Institute of Posts and Telecommunications (K&#E EE
BT) in July 1992. In April 2001, he received his master’s degree in
International Management from The Australian National University.
He also received an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from Peking University (3t = K£2) in July 2006.
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Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric (FF&J5E4), aged 40, is an independent
non-executive Director and was appointed to our Board on 14 June
2013. In addition, Mr. Hui is currently the financial controller and
company secretary of Hong Kong Finance Group Limited (stock code:
1273). Before joining the above companies, Mr. Hui used to work for
an international accounting firm and hold several senior positions in
other listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Hui is a fellow member of
both Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate
member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. In 1998, Mr. Hui
received his bachelor's degree in Accounting from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and was awarded a master’s degree in Business
Administration with distinction by The University of Manchester,
United Kingdom in 2013. Mr. Hui has over 15 years of professional
working experience in auditing, financial accounting and reporting,
company secretarial matters and corporate finance.

Except as disclosed herein, each of our Directors confirms with
respect to him that: (i) he has not held any directorships during the
last three years in any public companies, the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas; (ii)
he does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior
management or substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders
of our Company; (iii) he does not hold any other positions in our
Company or other members of our Group; (iv) he does not have
any interests in our Shares within the meaning of Part XV of SFO;
(v) there is no other information that should be disclosed for him
pursuant to the requirements under Rules 13.51(2)(h) to 13.51(2)(v)
of the Listing Rules; and (vi) there are no other matters that need to
be brought to the attention of holders of securities of our Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Qiang (E3#&%%4), aged 42, joined the Group in March
2002. He worked successively as the vice president of the financial
planning centre of Modern Green Development, the general manager
and the director of information operation centre of Hubei Wanxing
Real Estate Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang is currently the vice president of
the Group and the president of the financial planning centre and
is responsible for the Company’s financial capital lines and the
Group’s specialised process of financial plans and operations. Mr.
Wang graduated from Tianjin University of Commerce (K#mEEfR)
and obtained a diploma in accounting in July 1996. He has 12-year
experience in the real estate business in the PRC.

Ms. Kam Mei Ha Wendy (HX&Z ) (resigned on 1 April 2014),
aged 47, joined us on 14 June 2013, is a director of Corporate
Services Division at Tricor Services Limited (“Tricor”). Prior to joining
Tricor, Ms. Kam served as manager of the company secretarial
department of Tengis Limited and Ernst & Young in Hong Kong. She
has experience in a diversified range of corporate services and has
been providing professional secretarial services for over 20 years.
Apart from the Company, Ms. Kam is currently named company
secretary to six Hong Kong listed companies and holds a Practitioner’s
Endorsement Certificate from The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Ms. Kam is a Chartered Secretary and a fellow member
of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in The United
Kingdom. She graduated from City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (now
City University of Hong Kong).

Mr. Wong Tak Chun (EER54£) (appointed on 1 April 2014),
aged 33, has over ten years of experience in the capital market,
accounting, corporate governance and corporate finance. Mr. Wong
joined the Company in February 2014. He is the company secretary,
Deputy Chief Financial Officer and qualified accountant of the
Company, and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries,
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in The
United Kingdom.

Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor degree in Economics from the
University of British Columbia and obtained a master degree in
corporate governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2014. He worked in KPMG from August 2005 to May 2010. He
served as the company secretary and finance manager of Central
China Real Estate Limited during the period from May 2010 to June
2013.

Tk
o
Vag
]
i
B
il
|
Pl
>
]
<
o

o
()

=

=

=
Q

=

o
n
3.
=

e
Q)
)

L
3
=
(0]

o

81



il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
p-
=)
=
|
N
o
—
=Y

82

EEEHRE

Directors’ Report

BECEREAFERE  URAEEHZE
2014F 12 A31 B LB EEEZA
TEIREK o

FERK

ARBETEREFREZE  MEMBLARE
ERNEMEER VERE FHEESR
HiiR & -

B X &)

TEMBARN2014F12A31BHFHIE - &
PIR A GBI SR R B 5E46 o

7 ERE #

AEERAFEIEXBATREREER
BN AEE S G B |RRM S -

FERKRE

AEEHZE2014F12A31BIEFENER N
MR2014F12 A31BHERE MEARAREK + ER
AU HREREI107E110H

EEEMAEEREER2014F12A3181LEF
[E R B R HARR B & 0%8.075 L (20134 : 10.8
B o FREA20ISFFERRAFAS
FHEEERRER  BHEHERBRE
#57201596 A5H kAT £ K 3 F 7R 20154F5
A298 &H AN B R A MAI R -

The Board presents the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property development,
property investments, REITs and other investments.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2014 are set
out in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating results for the
year from principal activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2014 and its
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014,
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to
110.

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK8.0 cents
(2013: HK10.8 cents) per share for the year ended 31 December
2014. Subject to the approval of the proposed final dividend by the
Shareholders at the 2015 AGM, it is expected that the final dividend
will be paid on or around 5 June 2015 to the Shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 29
May 2015.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(a)

(b)

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders
to attend and vote at the 2015 AGM

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to attend
and vote at the 2015 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 20 May 2015
to Thursday, 21 May 2015 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
effected. In order to determine the identity of members
who are entitled to attend and vote at the 2015 AGM, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 19
May 2015.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend (subject to Shareholders’ approval
at the 2015 AGM)

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend
(subject to shareholders’ approval at the 2015 AGM), the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 28 May 2015 to Friday, 29 May 2015 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
27 May 2015.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties and property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year under review
are set out in notes 13 and 14 respectively to the financial
statements. The Group’s investment properties were revalued at
the year end date. The revaluation resulted in a net increase in fair
value of RMB201,960,000 which has been charged directly to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

SENIOR NOTES

On 24 July 2014, the Company together with some of its subsidiaries
entered into a purchase agreement with Credit Suisse Securities
(Europe) Limited, Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C., The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, J.P. Morgan Securities plc,
Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, Morgan Stanley & Co.
International plc and CLSA Limited in connection with the Company’s
issuance of secured senior notes due 2019 with principal amount of
US$125 million at a coupon rate of 12.75% per annum (the “US$125
million Senior Notes”). The proceeds from the issue of the US$125
million Senior Notes shall be used to refinance certain existing
indebtedness and fund the existing and new property projects. Details
of the issue of the US$125 million Senior Notes are disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 24 and 25 July 2014.

On 16 January 2014, the Company together with some of
its subsidiaries entered into a purchase agreement (the “CNY
1,100 million Purchase Agreement”) with Morgan Stanley & Co.
International plc, J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited, Guotai
Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited and CLSA Limited in connection
with the Company’s issuance of secured senior notes due 2017 with
principal amount of CNY 1,100 million at a coupon rate of 11% per
annum (the “CNY1,100 million Senior Notes”). The proceeds from
the issue of the CNY1,100 million Senior Notes shall be used to
fund existing and new property projects and for general corporate
purposes. Details of the issue of the CNY1,100 million Senior Notes
are disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 14 and
16 January 2014.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB202,833,000.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2014 are set out in note
45 to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2014, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers (excluding purchases of land) accounted for less
than 25% of the Group’s total purchases. Sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for less than 25% of the Group’s total
turnover.

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or Executive
President of the Company or any Shareholder owning more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital or their respective associates, has any
interest in the Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the year ended 31 December 2014 and
up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Lei (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Peng (Executive President)
(appointed on 27 January 2014)

Mr. Chen Yin
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhong Tianxiang
(re-designated from an executive Director to
a non-executive Director on 26 August 2014)
Mr. Fan Qingguo
(re-designated from an executive Director to
a non-executive Director on 26 August 2014)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Qin Youguo
Mr. Cui Jian
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhong Tianxiang,
Mr. Fan Qingguo and Mr. Qin Youguo will retire from office by
rotation at the 2015 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such information, the Company considers the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in profiles of directors
and senior management of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Chen Yin has entered into a service
contract with the Company, pursuant to which he agreed to act
as executive Director for a term of three years with effect from
14 June 2013. Mr. Zhang Peng has entered into a service contract
with the Company to act as executive Director for a term of three
years with effect from 27 January 2014. Each of Mr. Fan Qingguo
and Mr. Zhong Tianxiang has entered into a service contract with
the Company, pursuant to which he agreed to act as non-executive
Director for a term of three years with effect from 26 August 2014.

Each of Mr. Qin Youguo, Mr. Cui Jian and Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company, pursuant to
which he agreed to act as independent non-executive Director for a
term of three years with effect from 14 June 2013.
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Save as disclosed above, no Director has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save for the relevant transactions as disclosed in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors had a
significant beneficial interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year
ended 31 December 2014, nor any contract of significance had been
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2014 between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders
or any of their subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No management contracts in force during the year for the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Group’s business subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2014, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the share capital and underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows or as disclosed under the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below:
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s ez (FR)

Exps

Name of Director

B/ EEME

INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY (LONG POSITION)

Capacity/Nature of Interest

AR EER

R#HEE BHAES T

Number of Shares Approximate %
of Interest

in the Company

IR A EEZm A (KaF1) 1,177,176,000 73.57%
Mr. Zhang Lei Beneficiary of a trust (Note 1)
EmlAEA (Hit2, 6) 7,208,000 0.45%
Beneficial owner (Notes 2, 6)
PRE S E REHEE 2 #w (Hat3) 5,712,000 0.36%
Mr. Chen Yin Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3)
SBEBSLAE REGNEE R (Fit4) 4,944,000 0.31%
Mr. Fan Qingguo Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 4)
SRBG ST REH AR 2 s (MfaE5) 4,944,000 0.31%
Mr. Zhang Peng Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 5)
BEmEAA (Hite) 10,000,000 0.63%

MaFT -

at2:

Beneficial owner (Note 6)

Z51,177,176,000/% B 15 B 1R i 12 R A
RATBINERFTEANZDEE o G
ERAR AR Z2HMEEITRAHFantastic
Energy Ltd.Z2 & # A ' iMFantastic
Energy Ltd. 2 &FE#47AR AR B Cititrust
Private Trust (Cayman) LimitedA K J&
EANXTARNEERE - Riklss
AMHSalum Zheng LeeftE (EZEAA
Salum Zheng Leet AW RIEK E * &
FERE L E) KA 2 {E 5T © Salum
Zheng Leeft A RRBELEMNFH o B5R
BREWE AN AR RHAHBEER

2 %7,208,0000% iz 17 & # 53,308,000
BROBAREEAENEFAABREESH
A - H$3,900,0000% & 1 T3 1R & 38 A%
R E (BEE R T X 5808 IR E
7@ °

Note 1:

Note 2:

Such 1,177,176,000 shares are held by Super Land Holdings Limited
as a registered holder. The entire issued share capital of Super Land
Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Fantastic Energy Ltd., the entire
issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-owned by Cititrust
Private Trust (Cayman) Limited as the trustee of the Family Trust. The
Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Salum Zheng
Lee, the beneficiaries of whom are family members of Mr. Salum
Zheng Lee, including Mr. Zhang Lei. Mr. Salum Zheng Lee is the
younger brother of Mr. Zhang Lei. Therefore, Mr. Zhang Lei is deemed
to have the same interest in the Company.

3,308,000 shares out of the 7,208,000 shares are beneficially held
by Mr. Zhang Lei in his own capacity while the remaining 3,900,000
shares are held pursuant to share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme (as defined below).
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Note 3:Mr. Chen Yin holds 100% of the issued share capital of Dragon Shing
Technology Ltd., which owns 5,712,000 shares out of the issued share
capital of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Chen Yin is deemed to have
the same interest in the Company.

Note 4:Mr. Fan Qingguo holds 100% of the issued share capital of Create
Success Development Ltd., which owns 4,944,000 shares out of the
issued share capital of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Fan Qingguo is
deemed to have the same interest in the Company.

Note 5:Mr. Zhang Peng holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhou Ming
Development Ltd., which owns 4,944,000 shares out of the issued
share capital of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Zhang Peng is deemed
to have the same interest in the Company.

Note 6:Such share interest (including Mr. Zhang Lei’s interest in 3,900,000
shares and Mr. Zhang Peng’s interest in 10,000,000 shares) is held
pursuant to the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme,
details of which are set out on pages 89 to 92 in this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 14 June 2013. A summary of the principal terms and
conditions of the Share Option Scheme during the period from the
date of its adoption to the date of this report is set out as follows:

The purpose of the scheme is to motivate the eligible participants to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of our Group
and to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going business
relationship with the eligible participants whose contributions are or
will be beneficial to the long-term growth of our Group.

The participants of the scheme include:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any Directors (including independent non-executive directors) of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

(iii) any advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents of our
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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(i) BOREHBH (ARERAAHET
BRRXHEBOBT) ERMIAMEAR
BRPTHRAERKTHE :

The total number of securities available for issue under the scheme
together with the percentage of the issued share capital that it
represents as at the date of the annual report is 10% of outstanding
shares, representing 160,000,000 shares as of 31 December 2014.
The maximum entitlement of each participant under the scheme in
any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1%
of the shares in issue as of the date of grant. Any further grant of
options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to:

(i) the issue of a circular by our Company which shall comply with
Rules 17.03(4) and 17.06 of the Listing Rules containing the
identity of the eligible participant, the numbers of and terms
of the options to be granted (and options previously granted
to such participant), and the information as required under
Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules; and

(i) the approval of our Shareholders in general meeting and/or
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time with such eligible participant and his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) abstaining from voting. The numbers
and terms (including the exercise price) of options to be granted
to such participant must be fixed before the Shareholders’
approval and the date of the Board meeting at which our Board
proposes to grant the options to such eligible participant shall
be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the
subscription price of the shares. The Board shall forward to such
eligible participant an offer document in such form as the Board
may from time to time determine.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the
option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry
of 10 years from that date. The minimum period, if any, for which an
option must be held before it may be exercised will be determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion. Upon acceptance of the
option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to our Company by way of
consideration for the grant.

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
will not be less than the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which
must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities;
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Name or category of participant Date of Grant
BiTEZ
Executive Directors
RELE 201459748
Mr. Zhang Lei 4 September
2014
RELE 201459748
Mr. Zhang Peng 4 September
2014
ARERRERERAMAT 201459748
Senior management and other 4 September
staff members of the Group 2014
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(i) the average of the official closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share.

If the participant granted with the option is a Director, chief executive
or substantial Shareholder of the Company or any of their associates,
he shall be subject to the approval of independent non-executive
Directors (other than the independent non-executive Directors
granted with options). Subject to earlier termination by our Company
in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years up to 13 June 2023.

The Company granted 25,700,000 options on 4 September 2014.
During the year from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014, the
changes in the share options granted by the Company under the
Share Option Scheme are as follows:

RERRETHRLNERENE

Number of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme

ERAR R2014FE128318

(#%)
Exercise As at Granted  Exercised Lapsed As at
price per 1 January during during during 31 December
Share (HKS) 2014 theyear  theyear  the year 2014
1.26 - 3,900,000 3,900,000
1.26 - 10,000,000 10,000,000
- 13,900,000 - - 13,900,000
1.26 - 11,800,000 11,800,000
- 25,700,000 - - 25,700,000
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Note: No share option is exercisable by grantees who were granted the
share options under the Share Option Scheme within the first year
from the date of grant, i.e. 4 September 2014 (the “Date of Grant”);
and not more than 25% of the share options are exercisable in each
of the second, third, fourth and fifth year from the Date of Grant. The
initial exercise price of share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme on 4 September 2014 was HK$1.26 per Share. The additional
information on the Share Option Scheme is set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The exercise periods of the share options may be determined by the
Company at the time of the grant, and the share options shall be
valid within 10 years from the relevant date of the grant. As at 31
December 2014, share options to subscribe for 25,700,000 shares
remained outstanding.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2014, other than the interests and
short positions of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares or Underlying Shares” and
“Share Option Scheme” above, the following persons had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

(R NEIE: £

EEpHE B, Mg RO EE BHABEDE

Approximate %

Number of of Interest

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares in the Company

o3z AR B PR A A BRBEBA (BiE1) 1,177,176,000 73.57%

Super Land Holdings Limited Registered holder (Note 1)
Fantastic Energy Ltd. REHEE s (Mat1) 1,177,176,000 73.57%
Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1)
Cititrust Private Trust XEEA (Bat1) 1,177,176,000 73.57%
(Cayman) Limited Trustee (Note 1)

Salum Zheng Lee’t 4 REEFMBISIA (MaET) 1,177,176,000 73.57%
Mr. Salum Zheng Lee Settlor of a discretionary trust (Note 1)

RIERE T fei@E s (at2) 1,177,176,000 73.57%

Ms. Zhang Degui

Interest of a spouse (Note 2)
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Note 1:All of the 1,177,176,000 shares are held by Super Land Holdings
Limited as a registered holder. The entire issued share capital of Super
Land Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Fantastic Energy Ltd.,
the entire issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-owned by
Cititrust Private Trust (Cayman) Limited as the trustee of the Family
Trust. The Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Salum
Zheng Lee, the beneficiaries of whom are family members of Mr.
Salum Zheng Lee. Mr. Salum Zheng Lee is deemed to be interested in
1,177,176,000 shares held by the Family Trust.

Note 2:Ms. Zhang Degui is the spouse of Mr. Salum Zheng Lee. Therefore,
Ms. Zhang Degui is deemed to be interested in 1,177,176,000 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, there was no other
person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION DEED

Each of Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Salum Zheng Lee, the ultimate
controlling Shareholders, has confirmed that save for the Modern
Building Business Hotel project, none of them is engaged in, or is
interested in any business (other than our Group) which, directly
or indirectly, competes or may compete with our businesses. To
protect our Group from any potential competition, our controlling
Shareholders have entered into an irrevocable non-competition
deed (the “Non-competition Deed”) in our favour on 14 June
2013 pursuant to which each of them has, among other matters,
irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken with us on a joint and
several basis that at any time during the Relevant Period (Note 1),
each of them shall, and shall procure that his/its respective associates
(other than our Group) shall:

(i) save for other Business (Note 2), not, directly or indirectly,
participate in, carry on, invest in or be engaged in any business
including without limitation any property development business
in the PRC and the U.S. which will or may compete with the
business currently and from time to time engaged by our Group
(the "Restricted Business”);
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(i) not solicit any existing or then existing employee of our Group
for employment by them or their respective associates (excluding
our Group);

(iii) not, without our consent, make use of any information
pertaining to the business of our Group which may have
come to their knowledge in their capacity as our controlling
Shareholders and/or Directors for the purpose of competing with
the Restricted Business; and

(iv) in respect of unsolicited enquiries or business opportunities
coming to their knowledge, unconditionally use reasonable
endeavors to procure that such potential customers appoint or
contact directly with any member of our Group.

In order to properly manage any potential or actual conflict of
interests between us and our controlling Shareholders in relation to
the compliance and enforcement of the Non-competition Deed, we
have adopted the following corporate governance measures:

(i) the independent non-executive Directors will review, at least
on an annual basis, the compliance with and enforcement
of the terms of the Non-competition Deed by the controlling
shareholders; and

(i) we will disclose in the corporate governance report of our
annual report, our compliance measures and enforcement
measures relating to the Non-competition Deed.

Our Directors consider that the above corporate governance measures
are sufficient to manage any potential conflict of interests between
our controlling Shareholders and their respective associates and our
Group and to protect the interests of our Shareholders, in particular,
our minority Shareholders.

Pursuant to the annual declaration in relation to the compliance with
the Non-competition Deed provided by each of Mr. Zhang Lei and
Mr. Salum Zheng Lee, each of them confirms that during the period
from 1 January to 31 December 2014, all relevant terms of the Non-
competition Deed have been fully complied with in all material
respects.

Our independent non-executive Directors, upon their review,
confirmed that effective compliance with and enforcement of terms
of the Non-competition Deed had been conducted by the controlling
Shareholders in 2014,
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Note 1:the "Relevant Period” means the period commencing from 12 July

2013 and shall expire upon the earliest date of occurrence of the

events below:

(a)

the date on which Mr. Zhang Lei, Mr. Salum Zheng Lee, Super
Land, Fantastic Energy and Cititrust Cayman (individually or
taken as a whole) cease to be controlling Shareholders for the
purpose of the Listing Rules;

the date on which shares of the Company cease to be listed
on the Stock Exchange or (if applicable) other stock exchange;

Note 2:the "Other Business” refers to:

(a)

(@

any direct or indirect investments of Mr. Zhang Lei, Mr. Salum
Zheng Lee, Super Land, Fantastic Energy and Cititrust Cayman
and/or their respective associates (excluding our Group) in any
member of our Group;

any direct or indirect investment of Mr. Zhang Lei, Mr. Salum
Zheng Lee, Super Land, Fantastic Energy and Cititrust Cayman
and/or their respective associates (excluding our Group) in
shares of a publicly listed company (other than any member of
our Group) whereby

(i) the aggregate interests held by him/it and/or his/its
associates shall not exceed 5% of the entire issued
share capital of that company;

(i) none of him/it and/or his/its associates (individually or
taken as a whole) will be the single largest shareholder
or equity holder of that company; and

(iii) none of him/it and/or his/its associates will be involved
in the operation and management of that company

and/or its subsidiaries; and

the Modern Building Business Hotel project.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, as at 31 December 2014, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any
interest in any business which competes or may compete with the
businesses of the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected transaction

On 8 December 2013, Modern Green Development entered into the
Modern Moma Investment Management Equity Transfer Agreement
with Modern Construction Investment Management Co., Ltd.,
pursuant to which Modern Green Development agreed to acquire
Beijing Modern Moma Investment Management Co., Ltd. (being
a controlling shareholder owning 60% equity interest in Suizhong
Changlong Property Development Co., Ltd.) for a consideration of
RMB10.0 million and outstanding shareholder loan of approximately
RMB127.42 million. Upon completion of the transaction, the
Group will assume the obligation to provide shareholder loan to
Suizhong Changlong Property Development Co., Ltd. As at the
date of the Modern Moma Investment Management Equity Transfer
Agreement, Mr. Zhang Lei, the Chairman and an executive Director
of the Company, and his daughter, Zhang Xinyu, are the ultimate
beneficial owners of the entire equity interest in Beijing Modern
Moma Investment Management Co., Ltd. Therefore, the transaction
constitutes a connected transaction under the Listing Rules, details
of which are disclosed in the announcement and circular of the
Company dated 9 December 2013 and 9 January 2014, respectively.

Continuing connected transactions
(i)  Property Management Services

During the year ended 31 December 2014, certain subsidiaries
of First Moma Asset Operation (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“First
Moma Asset”, together with its subsidiaries, the “First
Moma Asset Group”) had provided property management
services to the Group. First Moma Asset is owned indirectly
by Mr. Zhang Lei, the Chairman, an executive Director and
a controlling Shareholder, hence a connected person of the
Company. Transactions between First Moma Asset Group
on the one hand and the Group on the other constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company. The
calculation basis of fees is mainly based on (i) costs of labour
for the management of sales office and office district; (ii) the
property management fees of sales office and office district;
(iii) costs incurred as a result of reduced purchasers’ property
management fees; (iv) property management fees in respect
of the management and leasing of vacant properties and car
parks; and (v) fees regarding other services provision.
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On 14 June 2013, First Moma Asset Group and the Company
entered into a master agreement for the provision of property
management services to the Group commencing on 12
July 2013 and ending on 31 December 2015 (the “Master
Property Management Agreement”). It is envisaged that
from time to time and as required, members of the Group
will enter into individual property management services
agreements with members of the First Moma Asset Group.
Such individual property management services agreements are
expected to set out the detailed terms and provisions of the
property management services which may include the binding
principles, guidelines, terms and conditions in the Master
Property Management Agreement.

It is expected that, based on prevailing market rates, the
aggregate annual property management fees payable by
us to First Moma Asset Group in relation to the Master
Property Management Agreement for the three years ending
31 December 2015 will not exceed RMB56 million, RMB59
million and RMB62 million, respectively. The aggregate
amounts of the property management fees paid by the Group
was approximately RMB58.83 million for the year ended 31
December 2014, which did not exceed the annual caps for
this transaction. The annual caps for the three years ending
31 December 2015 were determined by the Directors with
reference to the costs associated with the expected area of the
projects to be completed, including the property management
fees payable by us in respect of the clubhouses, office districts,
sales offices and vacant car parks and properties, costs of
labour for the provision of cleaning, maintenance and security
services, costs for setting up show flats, costs of heating,
fresh air displacement ventilation fees, costs incurred as a
result of reduced small owners’ property management fees,
costs of installation and maintenance services of elevators,
costs of operation and provision of catering services for staff.
In addition to the management of properties of completed
projects, property management services provided by the
connected parties include, among others, the setting up
and management of sales offices and the management and
maintenance of vacant properties prior to sale in respect of
the projects which are under development.
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(i)

Real Estate Agency Services

During the year ended 31 December 2014, First Moma
Real Estate Brokerage (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“First Moma
Real Estate Brokerage”) and First Moma Commercial
Operation Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“First Moma
Asset Operation”) provided real estate agency and related
consultation and management services in relation to
commercial properties to the Group. Each of First Moma
Real Estate Brokerage and First Moma Asset Operation is a
subsidiary of First Moma Asset, which is owned indirectly
by Mr. Zhang Lei, the Chairman, an executive Director and
a controlling Shareholder, hence a connected person of the
Company. Transactions between each of First Moma Real
Estate Brokerage and First Moma Asset Operation on the
one hand and the Group on the other constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company. The calculation basis
of fees is mainly based on commission fees payable in respect
of the property agency services in relation to commercial
properties.

On 14 June 2013, First Moma Asset and the Company entered
into a master agreement for the provision of real estate
agency and related consultation and management services
in relation to commercial properties by First Moma Asset
Group to the Group commencing on 12 July 2013 and ending
on 31 December 2015 (the “Master Real Estate Agency
Agreement”). It is envisaged that, from time to time and as
required, members of the Group will enter into individual real
estate services agreement with members of the First Moma
Asset Group. Such individual real estate service agreements
are expected to set out the detailed terms and provisions of
the real estate agency services which may include the binding
principles, guidelines, terms and conditions in the Master Real
Estate Agency Agreement.

It is expected that, based on prevailing market rates, the
aggregate annual real estate agency services fees and
commission for the provision of real estate agency and
related consultation and management services in relation
to commercial properties payable by us to First Moma Asset
Group under the Master Real Estate Agency Agreement for the
three years ending 31 December 2015 will not exceed RMB5.2
million, RMB5.5 million and RMB5.8 million, respectively. The
annual caps were determined by the Directors with reference
to the commission fees payable in respect of the property
agency services in relation to the commercial properties. For
the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group did not pay any
real estate agency service fee or commission.
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Lease of Properties

The Company entered into the following leases (the “Leases”)
relating to the leasing of the properties to certain connected
persons of the Company:

Lease of certain portion of 3rd floor, Block 8, Wan Guo Cheng
MOMA, Beijing

First Estate Service (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“Beijing First Estate”)
is owned indirectly by Mr. Zhang Lei and hence a connected
person of the Company. Modern Green Development entered
into a tenancy agreement with Beijing First Estate on 28 March
2013, pursuant to which Beijing Green Development agreed
to let the property at 3rd floor, Block 8, Wan Guo Cheng
MOMA, Beijing, the PRC with a leased area of approximately
458 sq.m. to Beijing First Estate for a term of three years
commencing from 28 March 2013 to 27 March 2016 at a
rental of RMB66,722 per month.

Lease of Shop Nos. 106-109, 1/F, Complex Building at
iMOM A, Anningzhuang West Road, Qinghe, Haidian District,
Beijing

Beijing Moma Preschool Education Technology Operations
Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Moma Preschool”) is owned indirectly
by Mr. Zhang Lei and hence a connected person of the
Company. Beijing Modern Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Modern”) entered into a tenancy agreement with
Beijing Moma Preschool on 12 April 2011 (the “iIMOMA
Preschool Lease Agreement”), pursuant to which Beijing
Modern agreed to let the property at Shop Nos. 106-109, 1/
F., Complex Building at iIMOM A, Anningzhuang West Road,
Qinghe, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC with a leased area of
approximately 580 sq.m. to Beijing Moma Preschool for a term
of five years commencing from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2016
at a rental of RMB21,177 per month with a three-month rent
free period from 1 April 2011 to 30 June 2011. The property
is used for the operation of a preschool.
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Lease of Block 4, Shangdi MOM /A, South Ku, Qinghe,
Haidian District, Beijing (“Shangdi M OM /A Beijing Premises”)

Beijing Moma Preschool is owned indirectly by Mr. Zhang
Lei and hence a connected person of the Company. Beijing
Modern entered into a tenancy agreement with Beijing Moma
Preschool on 30 May 2013 (the “Shangdi MOM A Preschool
Lease Agreement”), pursuant to which Beijing Modern agreed
to let the property at Block 4, Shangdi MOMA, South Ku,
Qinghe, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC with a leased area
of approximately 2,120 sg.m. to Beijing Moma Preschool for a
term of 15 years commencing from 1 June 2013 to 31 August
2029. The property is used for the operation of a preschool.
The Shangdi MOM A Beijing Lease Agreement provided for a
rent free period of 821 days, ending on 31 August 2015 and
at such rental fee to be determined based on the prevailing
market rates as of 1 September 2015.

On 14 June 2013, First Moma Asset and the Company entered
into a master agreement for the leasing of certain properties
of the Group to members of the First Moma Asset Group
commencing on 12 July 2013 and ending on 31 December
2015 (the “Master Lease Agreement”). It is envisaged that,
from time to time and as required, members of the Group will
enter into individual lease agreements with members of the
First Moma Asset Group, which are expected to set out the
detailed terms and provisions of the leases which may include
the binding principles, guidelines, terms and conditions in the
Master Lease Agreement.

It is expected that, based on prevailing market rates, the
aggregate annual rental fees payable to us under the Master
Lease Agreement for the three years ending 31 December
2015 will not exceed RMB2 million, RMB2.1 million and
RMB2.3 million, respectively, which have been determined
by reference to prevailing market rates. The increase in the
estimated annual caps for the three years ending 31 December
2013, 2014 and 2015 as compared to the historical amounts
during the year ended 31 December 2013 has taken into
consideration among others (i) the new tenancy agreement in
relation to the leasing of certain portion of 3rd floor of Block
8 of Wan Guo Cheng MOM A to Beijing First Estate in March
2013; and (ii) the expected leasing of certain properties of
Wan Guo Cheng MOMA (Changsha), Nanchang Man Ting
Chun MOMA and lJiujiang Man Ting Chun MOMA for the
operation of preschool in the respective projects which will
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commence in the second half of 2013. The aggregate rental
fee received by the Group was approximately RMB1.05 million
for the year ended 31 December 2014, which did not exceed
the annual caps for this transaction.

Investment and Financing and Operational
Management Services

On 29 September 2014, Great Wall, Modern Land (HKNo.5)
Co., Ltd. (the "Joint Venture Company”) and the Company
entered into a management service agreement (the “Great
Wall Management Agreement”), pursuant to which Great
Wall shall provide management services to the Joint Venture
Company and its subsidiaries including liquidity control,
budget control, operational supervision, recruitment,
financing, brand building and related consultancy services. As
Great Wall held 49% of the issued share capital of the Joint
Venture Company, it is a connected person of the Company at
the subsidiary level. Details of this transaction are disclosed in
the announcements issued by the Company on 10 September
2014, 12 September 2014, 10 October 2014 and 17 October
2014.

The annual caps for the continuing connected transactions
under the Great Wall Management Agreement for the three
years ending 31 December 2016 will be approximately RMB9.6
million, RMB41.5 million and RMB41.5 million, respectively.
Such annual caps have been determined based on the
projected annual service fees based on the fixed service fee
rate of RMB10,375,000 every 3 months (which is determined
with reference to (i) the type of services as set out above to
be provided by Great Wall to the Joint Venture Company for
the relevant years; (ii) the recent fee quotes from Great Wall
to other independent third parties in respect of similar services
in the PRC with adjustment made with reference to the Hong
Kong capital market; and (iii) service fees to be received by
the Company under a management service agreement entered
into between the Company and the Joint Venture Company
on 29 September 2014, which is equivalent to the amount of
service fees under the Great Wall Management Agreement,
and is based on arm’s length negotiations between Great Wall
and the Company having regard to the parties’ equity holdings
and total capital invested in the Joint Venture Company).
For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Joint Venture
Company paid a total of approximately RMB9.55 million for
the investment and financing and operational management
services, which did not exceed the annual caps for this
transaction.
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Annual review and confirmation in pursuance of
Rules 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the Listing Rules

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed in pursuance of Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules that the
continuing connected transactions contemplated above were carried
out (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
on normal commercial terms at which the transactions are either on
an arm’s length basis or on terms no less favorable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

To comply with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has provided a letter to confirm that the continuing connected
transactions set out above:

(i) has been approved by the Board;

(i) has been entered into in accordance with the relevant terms
of the agreement governing the transaction; and

(iii) has not exceeded the total cap amount as disclosed in the
prospectus of the Company dated 28 June 2013 and the
announcement of the Company dated 10 October 2014.

Others

The continuing connected transactions disclosed above also
constitute related party transactions under the International Financial
Reporting Standards. A summary of significant continuing connected
transactions made during the year is disclosed in note 42 to the
financial statements. Item (c) therein also constitutes connected/
continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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The Board confirms that the Company has complied with the
requirements of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of
aforementioned connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2014, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries and its jointly controlled entities has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group had joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from the funds of the Group in funds and are
managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make corresponding
contributions at the rates specified by the MPF Scheme. The
employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the year and
up to the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS, AND SENIOR
NOTES

Particulars of bank and other borrowings, and senior notes of the
Group as at 31 December 2014 are set out in notes 31 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review of
the internal controls and consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The members of the Audit Committee are satisfied with the
Company’s internal control procedures and the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2014.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2015 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Lei
Chairman

24 March 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MODERN LAND (CHINA) CO., LIMITED
EREXE (hE) BRLQA
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Modern
Land (China) Co., Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 107 to 251,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December
2014, and of the Group’s profit and cash flow for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24 March 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income, gain and loss

Fair value gain of completed properties
for sale upon transfer to investment
properties

Changes in fair value of investment
properties

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Listing expenses

Share of loss of joint ventures

Share of loss of an associate

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

20145 20134

k=3 ARMFx ARKEFIT
2014 2013

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
5 4,079,464 3,469,029
(2,424,163) (2,099,066)

1,655,301 1,369,963

6 75,334 8,680
13 90,886 30,186
13 111,074 46,273
(206,835) (170,797)

(242,083) (204,136)

7 (265,510) (35,570)
= (22,024)

(51,133) =

(90) -

1,166,944 1,022,575

8 (625,552) (494,230)
9 541,392 528,345
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

ﬁ 20145 20134
> KtaF AR¥ T ARKFT
é 2014 2013
= Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
m
o
= Ht2EBA Other comprehensive income
.
= TEEFHHEE Items that will not be reclassified to profit
EmhEE - or loss:
XTERME Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied
HE S EYER properties upon transfer to investment
E g properties 1,351 =
HEEFERYESEH Deferred tax relating to gain on revaluation
Wz B R IR ER IE of owner-occupied properties (338) =
HEABFFEE Items that may be reclassified subsequently
BmmIEE : to profit or loss:
HEIEINFE TS Exchange differences on translating foreign
FELNEN Z8 operations 562 (3,740)
FEHEMEPEmUWA (FAX) Other comprehensive income (expense)
(F0BRERIE) for the year, net of income tax 1,575 (3,740)
FE2ERALLEE Total comprehensive income for the year 542,967 524,605
A AT FE & H
(E18) Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
ZIN/NEIE 2SN Owners of the Company 521,128 528,934
FJEPE R = Non-controlling interests 20,264 (589)
541,392 528,345
TE AL FELL Total comprehensive income (expense)
ZHEWA (F) 4858 ©  attributable to:
RARER A Owners of the Company 522,703 525,194
IR Non-controlling interests 20,264 (589)
542,967 524,605
SR EF (AR®S) :©  Earnings per share, in Renminbi cents:
HAK Basic 12 32.6 38.1
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Non-current assets

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Prepaid lease payments

Freehold land held for future
development

Interests in an associate

Interests in joint ventures

Advances to employees

Available-for-sale investments

Deposits paid for acquisition of
land use rights

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Prepaid lease payments

Properties under development for sale

Properties held for sale

Trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Amounts due from related parties

Restricted cash

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables, deposits
received and accrued charges
Amounts due to related parties
Taxation payable
Bank and other borrowings — due within
one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

B OF R R R R R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

72201412 A31H At 31 December 2014

20145 20134

[iikz3 AR¥TT ARBFT
2014 2013

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
13 1,146,600 825,660
14 503,655 518,803
15 1,259 1,229
16 = 916,137
17 27,842 27,742
18 20,977 =
19 2,116,699 =
20 39,769 =
21 114,236 34,336
22 = 465,000
23 317,112 338,488
4,288,149 3,127,395

24 3,675 3,350
16 410,642 =
25 4,213,683 2,936,051
26 1,036,375 1,649,366
27 708,459 467,690
42(a) 573,353 =
28 1,145,997 125,930
28 2,797,941 2,743,579
10,890,125 7,925,966

29 5,486,747 4,926,654
42(b) 186,183 13,990
30 1,717,318 1,453,506
37 1,314,317 256,910
8,704,565 6,651,060

2,185,560 1,274,906

6,473,709 4,402,301
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R20149F12A831H At 31 December 2014

B K

LN

G4
ZA/NCIE PN SR £
FRER RS

AR

geYes

FRBEE
RITREMEER
(R—F1REH)
BRER
EREHRARE

20145 20134
MtaE AR¥Fr AREFIT
2014 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Capital and reserves
Share capital 33 98,610 98,610
Reserves 2,762,043 2,373,702
Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 2,860,653 2,472,312
Non-controlling interests 373,086 (1,319)
Total equity 3,233,739 2,470,993
Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings
— due after one year 31 480,900 997,200
Senior notes 32 2,712,020 904,753
Deferred tax liabilities 23 47,050 29,355
3,239,970 1,931,308
6,473,709 4,402,301

F107EFE251EMAE I ERTMN2015F3  The consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to 251 were

RH24BEEEgHE RIRET)E approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 24
March 2015.
EF EBEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

At 1 January 2013
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Capitalisation issue of shares (Note 33)
Issuance of shares in connection
with listing (Note 33)
Share issue expenses
Share-based payment
Contribution from a company controlled
by a shareholder (note e)
Disposal of subsidiaries
Appropriations to reserves
Transfer
Dividend (Note 11)

At 31 December 2013

Gain on revaluation of owner
occupied properties

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Share-based payment

Contribution from a company controlled
by a shareholder (note e)

Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries
to a non-controlling shareholder

Appropriations to reserves

Dividend (Note 1)

Dividend distribution to the non-
controlling interest of a subsidiary

At 31 December 2014

EHEREER

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

KRAEEAES Hek
Attributable to equity owners of the Company 2
(v 53l Bft BiE £t A ShE Zit FER 53 []]]}lﬂ
A afE 1 B i RBE EHEE  BEEE -t At 3 &8 i’fﬁf
ARETT ARETL AREFT ARETT ARETE ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETLT ARKFT ARETT ARETRL B
(Hita) (Hitb) (Hiit41) (Hiita) (Hizto)
Foreign ~
Share Statutory currency Non- JE
Share Share Special  Revaluation option Other surplus  translation  Accumulated controlling Total REJ
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity 5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 ‘D—”
(note a) (note b) (Note 41) (note d) (note ¢) Z
8_
342 - 299,292 71,466 - (7,345) 270,229 252 867,243 1,501,479 (730) 1,500,749 o)
3
- - o = - - - (3,740) - (3,740) = (3,740) 5
>
o
- - - - - - - (3,740) - (3,740) - (3,740) ?-_;
- - - - - - - - 528,934 528,934 (589) 528,345 =5
E
Q
- - - - - - - (3,740) 52893  5251% (589) 524,605 ?_"
73615 (73,615 - - - - - - - - - - o
24653 448,698 - - - - - - - 4133 - 473310 g
- (16109 - - - - - - - (16109 - (16109 =
- - - - - - - - - ()
6,613 6,613 6,613 a
- - 407 - - - - - - 407 - 407
- - 358 - - - - - - 358 - 358
- - - - - - 23512 - (23,512) - - -
- - - (38,095) - - - - 38,095 - - -
- (18,985) - - - - - - - (18,985) - (18,985)
98,610 339,993 300,057 33,371 - (732) 293,741 (3.488) 1,410,760 2,472,312 (1,319) 2,470,993
- - - 1,013 = = = = = 1,013 = 1,013
- - - - - - - 562 - 562 - 562
- - - 1,013 - - - 562 - 1,575 - 1,575
- - - - - - - - 521,128 521,128 20,264 541,392
- - - 1,013 - - - 562 521,128 522,703 20,264 542,967
- - - - 1,275 732 - = = 2,007 = 2,007
- - 407 - - - - - - 407 - 407
- - 384 - - - - - - 384 374,516 374,900
_ _ _ - - - 60,281 - (60,281) - - -
- (137,160) = = = = = = = (137,160) - (137,160)
- - - - - - - - - - (20,375) (20,375)
98,610 202,833 300,848 34,384 1,275 - 354,022 (2,926) 1,871,607 2,860,653 373,086 3,233,739
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HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

BEARRAMSIRARE1341E - ARF
BB RO EREM RIS -

BB R B I E A R B SMER - R
RBE-—RKBLIR - HERKERFED
DR MR B — R IRRPTES A B A HK -

RIBEPEARLIME ([HE ) KZHAE
EREETE TERNAGERAMR 2%
ERAREZERAKREERE REPELQ
RErtRAREDN) HREFE10%  BEE
ZHEEEIAREREMEAN50% 1L
BREZRHREERARSHAADIKEEZ
RIYEH A ERBHEEN BARMBAEFE
MER BRARANKLEEBREBHRLER
HYBESNEA o

R E Z2008F12A831BILLFE - ERGZE
BEEERAR (ABERGZECEEERAR)
([ER&E]) BEHEEREMEEERNMER
AR (MBI RERSERSELEHES
BRAR) ([EREREEZE]) 5.8%ME ° [A
ZumREREAE ([BE]) BEREREK
BrN1.924%EmBHARBENLS )
WA A ABAD 3R © 20084 E ¥ R R A
HRHARMD SR 4R A ARKES7,704,000
7T EEBRERBONFERE B BRI o
Hih o AEBREZE2014F12A318 L&
EREREARE E ARG FAEBRRAZAA
R #732,0007T (20134 : A R#6,613,000
JL) o Ll EEE B A EERR -

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Pursuant to article 134 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the
Company is permitted to pay out final dividend from share premium
account.

Special reserve relates to acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries,
deemed acquisition of a subsidiary, disposals of partial interest
in subsidiaries and contribution from a company controlled by a
shareholder.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of certain entities
established in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") now comprising
the Group, these entities are required to transfer 10% of the profit after
taxation, prepared in accordance with PRC generally accepted accounting
principles, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve reaches
50% of the registered capital of respective entities. Transfer to this
reserve must be made before distributing dividends to equity holders.
The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for previous year's
losses, expand the existing operations or convert into additional capital
of the entities.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, Modern Green Industrial Co.,
Ltd. EREEEEAR QA (formerly known as Modern Green Property
Co., Ltd. ERGEEEAMR AR (“Modern Green Industrial”) disposed
of 5.8% interests in Modern Green Development Co., Ltd. &R &R E %
fga AR AR (formerly known as Beijing Modern Hongyun Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. 3t & R IGEF HELEREHFR Q7)) (“Modern
Green Development”). The excess of the fair value of 1.924% interest in
Modern Green Industrial transferred to certain senior level management
individuals (the “Employees”) is considered as a share-based payment.
The total share based payment initially recognised in the reserve in
2008 amounted to RMB57,704,000 and is charged to profit or loss
over 6 years of service to be provided by the Employees. Accordingly,
the Group recognised an expense of approximately RMB732,000 (2013:
RMB6,613,000) for year ended 31 December 2014 in relation to share-
based payment of the Group. The amount was released from other
reserve.
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M2013F38  EF—fIEERER - BIEH
WARRHEEFRARE  NAREEER
ETEMBEmMEEZNEREENE
= At HZE2013F12831BILEFEER
ZIE BRI BT AR 5k A R #319,0007T
(G A Lt A R¥6,613,0000tR) BHEBEA
BHEE R E M2 EBRAIRR MR -

BIZ2010F 11 A29B ER LB HEEE —F
EBEFI W% ZEEBAIFERAHBILERER
BHEMEREBRAR ([ERERRTE
WE]  —REAARARBZEHEAF]) AT
BRME - %EE H20105F 108308 KB A
EREEELREEI0ER  ZAMENE
EBEETZES - H2010F11 8298 © %
WENTHEEAAREL071,0007T © &
Z2014F12A31AIEFE - AEEBEZRS
TR A8 TR A MR B R AT 6l A &) 74
W & E A ARAL407,0007T (20134 © A
R#407,0007T) °

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

In March 2013, one of the Employees resigned, the management of the
Company agreed not to obtain the interest in Modern Green Industrial
previously transferred to him even though he has not yet provided the
required number of years of services, as such, the remaining share-based
payment relating to him amounted to RMB319,000, which included in
RMB6,613,000 mentioned above, was fully charged to consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the
year ended 31 December 2013.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 29 November 2010 entered into
between Modern Green Development and an employee of Modern
Green Development, the employee can use the property developed by
Beijing Modern City Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. bR E R T
FEiERZEARAR (“Beijing Modern City Real Estate”), a company
controlled by a shareholder of the Company. The title of the property
will be transferred to the employee upon his completion of service with
Modern Green Development for 10 years commencing from 30 October
2010. As at 29 November 2010, the market value of the property is
RMB4,071,000. The Group recognised this transaction as staff cost and
contribution from a company controlled by the shareholder amounted
to RMB407,000 (2013: RMB407,000) for the year ended 31 December
2014.

ik
=
Van
]
i
B
!
o
|
<
>
Il
<
o

o
o

=

>

=
Q

>

o
n
3.
>

g
Q)
°

.
3.
=
()

o

113



EHBETRER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

114

ﬁ 20145 20134
> ARMTF T ARKFT
= 2014 2013
= RMB’000 RMB’000
E
= KREEH Operating activities
g 5 Bl A Profit before taxation 1,166,944 1,022,575
IS A TEEELFAZE : Adjustments for:
B A& R AR Finance costs 265,510 35,570
FMEWA Interest income (42,398) (7,140)
AEEERE Dividend income from available-for-sale
i S A investments (2,554) (6,146)
M - BE Rk Depreciation of property, plant and
RETE equipment 24,585 19,695
A A Amortisation of intangible assets 193 180
LAR 7 5+ 3R Share-based payment 2,007 6,613
S BB A Rl W Es Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (31,514) =
FHEHE W Fair value gain upon transfer from
BRI A properties held for sale to investment
A n EBEWRES properties (90,886) (30,186)
WEMERR Changes in fair value of investment
BEZD) properties (111,074) (46,273)
R Allowance for doubtful debts 697 610
e AR Allowance for advance to a supplier 5,580 -
HEWE BEK Gain on disposal of property, plant and
B equipment (658) (496)
B — BRI Contribution from a company controlled
NAEIREER - by a shareholder, recognised as staff cost
EERRBETIAA 407 407
DAEH A N B A 1B Share of loss of an associate 90 -
DMEEEERNEE Share of loss of joint ventures 51,133 =
HEREYENEE Loss on disposal of investment properties 4,727 =
BHIEHE Y Write-down/(reversal of allowance) of
Wom (@) properties held for sale 4,928 (11,510)
RNEIRNE 5 W e Unrealised exchange gain (4,469) (6,955)
BEES A Operating cash flows before movements
KERPRE in working capital 1,243,248 976,944
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

2014% 20134 "
ARMTT  AREFT i
2014 2013 i
RMB*000 RMB’000
U P . . . . ﬁ
LBESEE) : Movements in working capital: =
FEEM Increase in inventories (325) (2,471) E“
BRPHFEMENM (Increase)/decrease in properties under
BEEHEHEYE development for sale and properties §
(1hn) held for sale (1,216,369) 645,624 %
B 5 R M RIS - -
e RIER R (Increase)/decrease in trade and other 3
(hn) receivables, deposits and prepayments (3,465,785) 25,874 ~
JE WS BB A B FIR (Increase)/decrease in amounts due from =
(3%hn) i related companies (68,959) 186 %
MEALMERZEDN  Decrease/(increase) in deposits paid for o
MRS (3Em) acquisition of land use rights 20,000 (465,000) C
FEfTFE E R IEE N Increase in prepaid lease payments (1,293,230) (783,597) %‘
25 REAMERK o
BUIHRE & Increase in trade and other payables, deposits
FESHE F 1N received and accrued charges 3,448,859 517,926
J& 1<) BB S 75 3R (Decrease)/increase in amounts due to
CRiA),/ #2n related parties (10,759) 162
wEEE (FTR),/ Cash (used in)/generated from operating
FrgEH e activities (1,343,320) 915,648
2 TS Income tax paid (342,810) (359,695)
mEEE (FrA),/ Net cash (used in)/generated from operating
FTiS38 & /F58 activities (1,686,130) 555,953
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

REEH
EYFE
BAHHERE
PITYCER B B
BARHLERE
BADE - BB MEE
BABTLEE
HEATHEE
BREMEHIA
HEME - BB &
RIS HIA
LTINS
REemFR
& B R A
REREFR
REEE R A IRE
RAEELENRE
A& 2 hEELER
BELEER
[7) B Bt 75 F h BA 3K
AR 77 K
A 58 = 77 {E B3R
FE=TTIEN
HEREMEFRIA
R HI3R 238 0
A& B {E B

REED (FA)/

PSH & 588

Investing activities

Interest received

Dividend received from available-for-sale
investment

Purchase of available-for-sale investments

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash outflow from acquisition of
subsidiaries

Net cash flow from disposals of subsidiaries

Investment in an associate
Investment in joint ventures
Loan to joint ventures
Repayment from joint ventures
Advances to related parties
Repayment from related parties
Advances to a third party
Repayment from a third party
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties
Increase in restricted cash
Advances to employees

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing
activities

Ftat

Notes

35

36

20145 20134
AR F T AREFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
76,339 7,140
2,554 6,146
(79,900) (229,280)
(17,897) (112,377)
(223) (72)

= 207,000

8,815 2,834
(170,985) (4,159)
262,757 9,783
(25,000) =
(78,500) =
(1,866,306) =
2,307,742 =
(616,914) (4,114)
244,915 106,657
(290,000) -
290,000 =
40,607 84,573
(1,020,067) (40,705)
(39,769) =
(971,832) 33,426
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

Financing activities
Interest paid
Dividend paid to owners of the Company

Dividend paid to a non-controlling
shareholder

Repayments of bank borrowings

Repayments of other borrowings

New bank loans raised

New other loans raised

Repayment to related parties

Advances from/(to) related parties

Capital injection from non-controlling
interests
Net proceeds from issue of senior notes

Net proceeds from issuance of shares
under public offering

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the year

Effects of exchange rate changes on the
balance of cash held in foreign currencies

Cash balance and cash equivalents at the end
of the year

EHBEERER

20144 20134 g\”f

AR¥ T AREFIT {Hd

2014 2013 i

RMB’000 RMB’000

ot

R?l]

>

(315,070) (102,013) L

(136,729) (18,715) §_

o

(20,375) - :'T

(428,436) (419,757) 3

(682,000) (300,000) a

1,044,543 473,967 =

607,000 390,000 %

(1,848,525) (3,286) o

=

3

2,297,421 (20) =

3
374,900 -
1,819,134 891,952
- 457,246
2,711,863 1,369,374
53,901 1,958,753
2,743,579 787,712
461 (2,886)
2,797,941 2,743,579
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—REH

RARR2006F6 A28 A RIBEFAEHS
NEEERSHSEMK L A —KER
RERAT] - B R R AN EBE L
S (REBEXES]) o A8kt
EIRBR A A RELZERA R ARED
WS 55 B¥ S B LA 722 5 M AKX AZ MY Fantastic
Energy Ltd. » IR AR MKRELER
Salum Zheng Leeft £E12 4l o AN AQ AH)
SE SR R A Floor 4, Willow House,
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 2804, Grand
Cayman KY1-1112, Cayman Islands -
HErZ2L B AMAFEAREME
([P B ) Jb A BRI [ 20 B B 1 55% o

KRR ABHEERORESHERS
FraBR AR ([BXAT]) EREM ([ E
M) R2011G#ETTEBEAR - E—
FEIBENR AR R R2013F6H28H T
BB ER - ARFIMRMDEZK2013
F7H12B BT LT -

ARFAREMBAF (578 [A%E)
IEEFERERMERE  MERA
R 3

AUBBREIARY [AR%)) 2
5 ARBTEERERGEFELE
QERENRBEE (D5 EHEEY
L) -

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28
June 2006 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Its parent is Super
Land Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and its ultimate holding company is
Fantastic Energy Ltd., a company incorporated under the laws
of Commonwealth of the Bahamas. Both of them are controlled
by Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Salum Zheng Lee. The registered office
of the Company is located at Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket
Square, P.O. Box 2804, Grand Cayman KY1-1112, Cayman
Islands, and its principal place of business is located at No.
1, Xiangheyuan Road, Dongcheng District, Beijing, People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

In preparation for the listing of its shares on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing”), the Company underwent a group
reorganisation in 2011. Further details of which are set out in
the Company’s prospectus dated 28 June 2013. The Company’s
shares were then listed on the Stock Exchange on 12 July 2013.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in real estate development, property
investment and hotel operation in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the group entities operate (the functional currency of
group entities).
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gﬁﬂ&@@‘ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

RAFE  XEBEFRERTIIEERY
B s 2R (RSB REED]) &

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following amendments to International Financial Reporting

CHPE IR

B B B 75 3R 5 2E A
F105% - B
B 75 R 45 42 Al
%1257 K BIRR
SR ERIE275%
CCHEN)

BEIpR 2R
F325% (BFTA)

BEIpR 2R
F365% (BFTA)

BEIpR 2 2ER
3957
(BFTA)

BB B 75 3R

I3

REHS

ki

HHEEREER
THMAE
FEREEN

A E S ERR
PTET AR
k=S e
BRDEANEE
BE

Standards (“IFRSs”) and a new Interpretation.

Amendments to IFRS 10,
I[FRS 12 and IAS 27

Amendments to IAS 32
Amendments to IAS 36

Amendments to IAS 39

IFRIC 21

Investment Entities

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-Financial Assets

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting

Levies

Z2EZEg
RREFE219

B PR B A5 s 45 E R 551055 © BN PR B
BREEAENERBEBRS &L
F27% (BFT4R) REER

AEBEERAFE BRI BT %R
HEAFE105 - BEFBREERIZE12
R BEREFHERIFE27THRIRERRNE
FI7R o BRI B 105% (B AT
) RETREER  XERFTARE
ERTENBREERTSEENBERR
BHAR  BARES G MBIM KR
RABBBRIB QA EED RN A
EEMBAR -

RNAREERER WEEBYA:

e B RFIULHNREELEERES
AR EREHIREEIER

s MEKREEAW HEEXBRETE
RREREE  RERDZIMEF
ELOHMEEERE &

s RAANBEEEFENRFEELAKR
AR ERKRR -

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27
Investment Entities

The Group has applied the amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12
and IAS 27 Investment Entities for the first time in the current
year. The amendments to IFRS 10 define an investment entity
and require a reporting entity that meets the definition of an
investment entity not to consolidate its subsidiaries but instead
to measure its subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in
its consolidated and separate financial statements.

To qualify as an investment entity, a reporting entity is required to:

e obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose of
providing them with investment management services;

e commit to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to
invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation,
investment income, or both; and

e measure and evaluate performance of substantially all of its
investments on a fair value basis.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27
Investment Entities (Continued)

Consequential amendments have been made to IFRS 12 and
IAS 27 to introduce new disclosure requirements for investment
entities.

As the Company is not an investment entity (assessed based
on the criteria set out in IFRS 10 as at 1 January 2014),
the application of the amendments has had no impact on
the disclosures or the amounts recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

The Group has applied the amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities for the first time in the
current year. The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the requirements
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities.
Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently
has a legally enforceable right of set-off’ and ‘simultaneous
realisation and settlement'.

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. The Group
has assessed whether certain of its financial assets and financial
liabilities qualify for offset based on the criteria set out in
the amendments and concluded that the application of the
amendments has had no impact on the amounts recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

The Group has applied the amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets for the first time
in the current year. The amendments to IAS 36 remove the
requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of a cash-
generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill or other intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives had been allocated when
there has been no impairment or reversal of impairment of the
related CGU. Furthermore, the amendments introduce additional
disclosure requirements applicable to when the recoverable
amount of an asset or a CGU is measured at fair value less
costs of disposal. These new disclosures include the fair value
hierarchy, key assumptions and valuation techniques used which
are in line with the disclosure required by IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurements.

The application of these amendments has had no material
impact on the disclosures in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

The Group has applied the amendments to IAS 39 Novation of
Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting for the first
time in the current year. The amendments to IAS 39 provide
relief from the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting
when a derivative designated as a hedging instrument is novated
under certain circumstances. The amendments also clarify that
any change to the fair value of the derivative designated as a
hedging instrument arising from the novation should be included
in the assessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Continued)

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. As the
Group does not have any derivatives that are subject to
novation, the application of these amendments has had no
impact on the disclosures or on the amounts recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 21 Levies

The Group has applied IFRIC 21 Levies for the first time in
the current year. IFRIC 21 addresses the issue as to when to
recognise a liability to pay a levy imposed by a government.
The Interpretation defines a levy, and specifies that the
obligating event that gives rise to the liability is the activity that
triggers the payment of the levy, as identified by legislation.
The Interpretation provides guidance on how different levy
arrangements should be accounted for, in particular, it clarifies
that neither economic compulsion nor the going concern basis
of financial statements preparation implies that an entity has
a present obligation to pay a levy that will be triggered by
operating in a future period.

IFRIC 21 has been applied retrospectively. The application of this
Interpretation has had no material impact on the disclosures or
on the amounts recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
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2. EAHITRKIETEBREMEI 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED B
=EA () INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING o
STANDARDS (Continued) o)
&, A8 5 1B 18 R 4 R RT RS ET New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
3] PR 7 75 3 5 2 Al X
B AR08 18 R A SRR T R] R AS S RT 2Rl The following new and revised standards and amendments have §§
RAEETEAT - been issued which are not yet effective: all
<
BRI B mEEL S@IA IFRS 9 Financial Instruments' 2
EXLid ]
Bl ik R EEERIERE? IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts? 2
F145% 5
BB BmEER  REBEFPER IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with =
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BERMBREER  WENAZEEBTH Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of 2
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g 1D 6
el wEETE Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative’ C
E15% (BETA) =X
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F165% KB e K 8 and IAS 38 of Depreciation and Amortisation®
Rl A
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el E R ANET & - Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
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Bl B 75 s 5 B R B 75 = Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
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STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for first annual IFRS financial statements beginning on or
after 1 January 2016
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with
limited exceptions

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was
subsequently amended in 2010 to include the requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and
for derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to include the
new requirements for hedge accounting. Another revised version
of IFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment
requirements for financial assets and b) limited amendments to
the classification and measurement requirements by introducing
a “fair value through other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI)
measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.
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2. ERHITREZEETEMEIEIR 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
S XEB () INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

BMOEBREERNFREERMTIA IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(%&)

BIPR B SR SR FER A E Z 4 E & Key requirements of IFRS 9 are described as follows:
LN

e BHEeFERIFEIRERMITE
BRETEHEANNAIEERERES
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E IR

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair
value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at
FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent
reporting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities
attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through profit or
loss was presented in profit or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

e In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

e The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the
three types of hedge accounting. However, greater flexibility
has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible
for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the
types of risk components of non-financial items that are
eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness
test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle
of an “economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment of
hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced
disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management
activities have also been introduced.

Except for the available-for-sale equity investment currently
measured at cost less impairment and the potential early
recognition of credit losses based on the expected loss model in
relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at amortised
costs, the directors of the Company do not expect IFRS 9 will
have any material impact on the results and financial position of
the Group based on an analysis of the Group’ investment as at
31 December 2014.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customer

In May 2014, IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
IAS 18 “Revenue”, IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective. The core
principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for goods and services.
Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer
e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS
15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of IFRS 15 in the future may affect the amounts reported and
related disclosures. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until the Group
performs a detailed review.

Except for the above, the directors of the Company do not
anticipate that the application of other new and revised IFRSs
will have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for the investment properties
which are measured at fair value, and in accordance with
IFRSs. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. In addition, a fair
value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS
17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of the other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Change in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in a Company’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests will be adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and
IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date; and

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS
5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

ik
=
Van
]
i
B
o
|
<
>
Il
<
o

o
o

=

>

=
Q

>

o
n
3.
>

g
Q)
°

.
3.
=
()

o

133



B Ot B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
-
=)
=
i}
N
o
—
F=Y

134

FESHBE #)

RBEARARAELENRE ()

BIfR &t ERIFE3RN R EEAREE
ERRERAKEN —ABPERRHA
EEENRERBEMBERSE - 0F
E - ZERANEZHEEE (BEHE)
IR EEER G ERFE3RNE—EE
HRETREAR - HEIZLBREAK
EEwE (EREEEAABERLE
RAMESE) BEREE - EFRSH#
RBEBBRIBEKZAREREEN —
BB o B BRI (E B 1R A (E ) B B TR %
TR E B T Y3 S BR EL 1R IR hN B AR 4% B
RE AT ERIFE 365 AR ©

AEERRETBRBERAHAZED
XEHE ZREROIBERTELE
R RIMEREREE - HARBRER
AIE NR e EERMED - BZR
BHRESSEREE  MAKEENZA
BARBEMAEREED  M&AAE
ERESREER S ENEINRE
RERFHRAAEBE BERTREE
EERNRIMRAEREAE ANREES
EAREER M ERERFHAED
EWMo RS ETAMERBENAAEE
ZEWMER  DTRETHEZBE AR
FEECENBANEERTA UL
S - AR B AS SE BT EL A 2 E AL
BEQRKALERERNABELEA
B BREEMZBERRREELERE
EHENBEERRBERMRENEE
HE - Hit - WzBtE A RKAEERE
FE B B R E Al 2 R BERR Y W an S8
BRRNLENBEEXRABREN IR
Efm AAKESERILEREDEA
B BN EREEREREN R
=R%E ((FREFNOEHAR) -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount, Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with IAS 39. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the
date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a
part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or
joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the construction of respective
properties have been completed and the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties are transferred to the
customers, that is when the customers completed the necessary
procedures to acknowledge receipts of delivery of properties in
accordance with the terms under respective sales and purchases
agreements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Revenue from hotel accommodation, food and beverage sales
and other ancillary services is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Other service income is recognised when the services are
provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are initially
measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced by
end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly
to retained profits.

Where properties held for sale transferred to investment
properties when there is a change of intention to hold the
property to earn rentals or/and capital appreciation, which
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to
another party, any difference between the carrying amount and
fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any recognised impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purpose are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, over their estimated useful lives after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method. An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the
asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives.

Prepaid lease payments

The prepaid lease payments represent upfront payments for
land use rights for the purpose of development of properties for
sale and are initially recognised at cost and released to profit
or loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis. They would
be transferred to properties under development for sale upon
commencement of the related construction work in property
development project.

Freehold land held for future development

The freehold land held for future development represents parcels
of land owned by the Group for the purpose of development
of properties for sale. The freehold land is initially recognised at
cost and not depreciated. It would be transferred to properties
under development for sale upon commencement of the related
construction work in property development project.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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3. FESTTEHE &) 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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Properties under development for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be sold in
the ordinary course of business upon completion of development
are classified as current assets, and carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Costs include the related land cost,
development expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties held for sale upon completion.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
property, plant and equipment when there is a change of
intention to hold the properties under development for own use.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes the costs of land, development
expenditure incurred and, where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realised value is determined based on prevailing
market conditions.

Properties held for sale are transferred to property, plant and
equipment when there is a change of intention to hold the
properties held for sale for own use.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwiill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the small group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transactions costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments, of which interest income is included in other
income.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, restricted cash, bank balances and cash)
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting period
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for financial assets could
include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables
and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience
of collecting payments, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable and other
receivable are considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings, senior
notes, trade payables, other payables and amounts due to
related parties are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the group entities are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire, or when the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the Group’s obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expenses
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases, in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

ik
=
Van
]
i
B
o
|
<
>
Il
<
o

o
o

=

>

=
Q

>

o
n
3.
>

g
Q)
°

.
3.
=
()

o

147



B Ot B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
-
=)
=
i}
N
o
—
F=Y

148

FESTTEBE ©)
BB RA

HRE BRERLEEREREE (XF
BEAR—BRBREHREBREBRTER SR
HHE) ERARENEERANEIMAZ
FEEMKAE  BEEEAB EEHH
REMGHHEER L - ARAERE
EXHATEEREZ BN EEEMR
BB ERAR B A EA N ERERA
RARR - A REMEERAOREES
HIRIN R s FERR

s

B AR R EE RO BIRERE -
ZERINEEEAINEE SME) #1T
MRS #mRXH5AMNBTERER - 1
BREPHR - RIHIMNEFHENEBERA R
ZEMRITEXREHNNE - WRAAEE
AFENSNEEHEMIFEBIRR HRAR
BEBTERNRITERETRE - 1%
SNERBIERAFTENIFERIEB HEA
BEHBRE -

EREAMELZRINEEHBHAR
1B R o

AP BREANZHME - A5ESE
SINRBEERBBERESRESHRNEI
TERRESARYE - ERKARRX
BHEARAAFHERKE - RIFER
REAHIRARKRE - EZBERT - Bl
RAXSEANERRE - IELEN
Z8 (WAE) REM2EKRA T ER

RESAE T RE (WER - BBAF

Rt ) ©

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in
which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with IAS 40 Investment
Property, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model of
the Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principle set out in IAS 12 (i.e. based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered).
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits scheme
under the state-managed retirement benefit scheme in PRC are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Share-Based Payment Transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
employees

The fair value of services received determined with reference to
the fair value of shares transferred less consideration received
from employees is recognised in other reserve at the date of
transfer and expensed on a straight-line basis over the service
period as specified in the equity transfer agreement. The impact
of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment
to other reserve.

When the employees leave the Group before the completion
of service period as specified in the equity transfer agreement
and the Group does not purchase back the shares from the
employees, the remaining share-based payment is charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Share Options Granted to Employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-Based Payment Transactions (Continued)
Share Options Granted to Employees (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will
continue to be held in share options reserve.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the obligation under the contract,
as determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

ik
=
Van
]
i
B
o
|
<
>
Il
<
o

o
o

=

>

=
Q

>

o
n
3.
>

g
Q)
°

.
3.
=
()

o

153



B Ot B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

il
-
>
=
=
c
>
-
=
m
-
=)
=
i}
N
o
—
F=Y

154

BEARETHE RS THBAR
EMNEERR (&)

BrEYF

180 1 S 5 S S 3 6 L 17 0
ERAR BESIE - BEAA BES
I LA R 315 T RT3t 0 1
R H - ERBEERER - AR
R IR - 5 A E AR 0 B
BERRABTR - REBROEAY
DEEHAREREMEND A BES
ARE - WAKARRAREEL B
AR -

FR8HiR <

an ff 7E23F7 0 720144128318 -
TEEBIEEE  LHIEREREE R
RS  MUBIS(EHEME  BEE
B MEHEEFEEEERANZFNER
EREUMEMIBR AENEEHEEAE
4 A R #317,112,0007T (20134 © A
R #338,488,0007T) @ LK TELE
RIBERE THR - EXHRBEERD
B FERTRRGETHAEEHD
R B ERTAE R ZRE - A A AIE
EETEEHREEENEREBMRE
B EMOTE - DA NS AN E T8 H )
RIEEHRIEEENRRERFMENRE
s FFER o RABE BB RE HARA
EMRRLEFTER o METELENER
FEBEF R RIEATELS - AR AE/ARE
IMERIBEIELERIBEEE - WREH
TR sk B ol Fr 8t A B M B N FERR ©

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers.
In determining the fair values, the valuers have based on a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates of market
condition. In relying on the valuation report, the directors of
the company have exercised their judgment and are satisfied
that the assumptions used in the valuation are reflective of the
current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount of
gain or loss reported in profit or loss.

Income tax expense

Deferred tax assets of approximately RMB317,112,000 (2013:
RMB338,488,000) mainly in relation to tax losses, land
appreciation tax provisions, allowance for bad and doubtful
debts, write-down of properties held for sale, advertising
expenses, temporary differences on property sales and cost of
sales and others have been recognised at 31 December 2014,
after offsetting certain deferred tax liabilities as set out in Note
23. The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. The directors of the company
determine the deferred tax assets based on the enacted or
substantially enacted tax rates and the best knowledge of profit
projections of the Group for coming years during which the
deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised. The directors of
the company will review the assumptions and profit projections
by the end of the reporting period. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are more or less than expected, an
additional recognition or a reversal of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in the profit or loss for the
period in which such a recognition or reversal takes place.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC.
However, the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain property development projects of the Group have not
finalised their land appreciation tax calculations and payments
with local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant
judgment is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related income tax provisions. The Group
recognised the land appreciation tax based on management’s
best estimates. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the periods in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model in IAS 40, the directors of
the company have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios together with certain properties characteristics. For
investment properties amounting to RMB66,300,000 (2013:
RMB50,000,000) as at 31 December 2014, the directors of the
company concluded that they are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the
Group's deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors
of the company have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group has estimated the deferred tax taking into
account both the land appreciation tax and enterprise income
tax on disposal of these investment properties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties
(Continued)

For other investment properties amounting to
RMB1,080,300,000 (2013: RMB775,660,000) as at 31 December
2014, the directors of the company have reassessed and
concluded that they are held with a business model to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. For
these investment properties, the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
through sale is rebutted and the Group has estimated the
deferred tax taking into account of enterprise income tax.

Dividend policy

The Group recognised the withholding tax for undistributed
profits of PRC subsidiaries with intention to distribute around
20% of profit after tax for the years since 1 January 2008. If
there is any material fluctuation to the distributable profits, as
a result of the changes in business or financial conditions, the
directors of the company will consider adjusting the dividend
distribution ratio. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that
dividends of any amount will be declared or distributed each
year or in any given year. The directors of the company will re-
evaluate the dividend policy from time to time.

Write-down of completed properties held for sale

Management performs a regular review on the carrying amount
of completed properties held for sale. Based on management’s
review, write-down of completed properties held for sale will
be made when the estimated net realisable value has declined
below the carrying amount.

In determining the net realisable value of completed properties
held for sale, management refers to prevailing market data such
as recent sales transactions as base for evaluation.
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment at 31
December 2014 amounted to RMB503,655,000 (2013:
RMB518,803,000). Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value. The
Group assesses annually the residual value and the useful life of
the property, plant and equipment and if the expectation differs
from the original estimates, such differences from the original
estimates will impact the depreciation charges in the year in
which the estimates change.

Classification of investment in Wuxi Zhongjiekong
Green Carbon Investment Center LLP (“"Wuxi
Zhongjiekong”) as available-for-sale investment

Wuxi Zhongjiekong is a limited liability partnership in which
Modern Green Development acts as a limited partner. According
to the legal form and the limited partnership agreement, Modern
Green Development has neither control nor significant influence
over Wuxi Zhongjiekong. Accordingly, the Group’s investment
amounted to RMB79,900,000 in Wuxi Zhongjiekong is classified
as available-for-sale investment. See Note 21 for details.
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BERB D ASERESTT

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to a single
reportable and operating segment focusing on (a) property
development, (b) property investment and (c) hotel operation.
The operating segment has been identified on the basis of
internal management reports reviewed by chief decision maker
of the Group. The chief operating decision maker mainly reviews
the revenue information on sales of properties from property
development, leasing properties from property investment
and hotel operation which are measured in accordance with
accounting policies similar to those of IFRS. However, other
than revenue information, no operating results and other
discrete financial information is available for the assessment
of performance of the respective type of revenue. The chief
operating decision maker, Mr. Zhang Peng, who is the Executive
President of the Group, reviews the overall results and
organisation structure of the Group as a whole to make decision
about resources allocation. Accordingly, no analysis of this single
reportable and operating segment is presented.

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable.

Entity-wide information

An analysis of the Group’s revenue by type is as follow:

20145 20134

AR®TFT ARBTF T

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’'000

I EXick== Sale of properties 4,018,247 3,427,613
MEEE Leasing of properties 36,488 34,560
B Hotel operation 24,729 6,856
4,079,464 3,469,029

MR2014F12A318 - REEAARK
3,828,083,0007T (2013F : A R ¥
2,726,541,0007T) WIEREBEE (‘&
FemIARBEERIBBEE) HURF
B - M R20145F12A831H  BREE A
AR #28,718,0007T (20134 : AR
28,030,0007T) WMERIEREEE I
RER ([ZER]) -

Non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and deferred
tax assets) with carrying amount of RMB3,828,083,000 (2013:
RMB2,726,541,000) as at 31 December 2014 are situated in the
PRC, the remaining non-current assets with carrying amount
of RMB28,718,000 (2013: RMB28,030,000) as at 31 December
2014 are situated in the United States (the “US").
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the Group’s
revenue from external customers by geographical location. The
geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods and properties
were delivered.

REIIMBEF R
Revenues from external
customers

20145 20134
AR¥FT ARBTF T
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,961,593 1,881,321
PRC 2,117,871 1,587,708
4,079,464 3,469,029

No revenue from transaction with single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue during the
year.
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g 6. HWA - Wz KEGE 6. OTHER INCOME, GAIN AND LOSS
>
= 20144 20134
= ARKFT ARBETFT
= 2014 2013
§ RMB’000 RMB'000
=
E FBUA Interest income 42,398 7,140
A EREREWA Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments 2,554 6,146
SHE A Penalty income 1,193 516
BT E) (Krita) Government grant (note a) 8,009 1,659
HEME - KER Gain on disposal of property, plant and
Bl equipment 658 496
HEWB AT (K336) Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) 31,514 =
H B EERBIA Project management service income 946 2,322
& W8 K FRE (Matb) Net exchange loss (note b) (10,836) (9,710)
YR EE (fitc) Loss on transfer of properties (note ¢) (6,354) -
e B Allowance for advance to a supplier (5,580) =
BEREUWA (B aEd) Management service income (note d) 10,606 =
H A, Others 226 111
75,334 8,680

EE

Notes:
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(a)

RS 75 B 5 2 8 R B 45 IR B P K
R - BT BRABMMENSZE
728 B AR R SRR 1 o

ZeRIEANARBLETREME
MBREETRITFAMESE -

ZERIEREAB BT RAER S
T 37 %% R [ 190 ph A [ PR 38 7 48 LB A {]
RETERE T BREFNDE (BIFK
B ENRBEA 727,000 REFEH &S
W% ARE427,0007T) © AN - £FEIR
BEAAQFNBARRBESZFHA
R #:1,200,0007C © LAtE B Lt &%
Tl HRITRRE M ERAKIEAER

AEVERE -

(a)

Government grants represent incentive subsidies from various PRC
governmental authorities. There are no conditions or limitations
attached to these subsidies by the respective PRC governmental
authorities.

The amount mainly arose from retranslation of bank deposits
denominated in United States dollars (“US$") due to depreciation
of RMB against US$.

Amount represents properties (comprising investment properties
of RMB4,727,000 and properties held for sales of RMB427,000)
transferred to the local government without receiving any
consideration for community purposes as required in certain new
developing district, pursuant to the relevant local government
regulation. In addition, the amount also included RMB1,200,000
paid by a subsidiary of the Company as compensation to the tenant
for early termination of the tenancy agreement for the captioned

investment properties transferred to the local government.
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HlwA ~ RBREE (&) 6. OTHER INCOME, GAIN AND LOSS (Continued)

Hiat - (&) Notes: (Continued)

(d) ZeBEHAASEREEF-—REED (d) Amount represents management service provided by the Group
FRENEIERS - RIZFS LR AER to one of its joint ventures. Pursuant to the management service
SEFTVNERRBEHE - REHES agreement entered into between the joint venture company
EREEe RIEEZES  SEEE  H and the Group, the scope of services includes liquidity and
B R AR s AR o budget control, operational supervision, recruitment and related

consultancy services.
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ELE=g2 %N 7. FINANCE COSTS
20145 20134
AREFx AR FT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITRHEMEERNE Interest on bank and other borrowings
— AR RAFABEEER — wholly repayable within five years (142,234) (83,874)
— BERAFRNEHEE - not wholly repayable within five years - (14,072)
ARAFREHEED Interest expense on senior notes
BAEENBRY wholly repayable within five years (293,712) (20,425)
(435,946) (118,371)
B BEEFENENESE  Less: Amount capitalised in properties under
development 170,436 82,801
(265,510) (35,570)
BHZE2014F12A31AILFE - A& H Borrowing costs capitalised arose on the senior notes of the
BAEZEBFMEEMNERNLBEXART Group were calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 2.59%
BAEREENRINER L ERFF (2013: nil) per annum for the year ended 31 December 2014, to

2.59% (2013%F : &) 5tH - expenditure on the qualifying assets.
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BIER2007F3 16 H BRI P E D2
FT{S®i)% + B2008F1H1H#E ' AKX
HIMEE R ELR—IE25% M ETER
AN B FEFTSH o

TR ER B R VAR IBARREE P B AA
B BRI E R AT o LR EM
EREEEENREN RBEEL BB
(Kf#E TR ERFRMR RRR) -

RERBREZESNFASHENRA R
B AREEREBREZES RFASE
SHABNEMMAER

B R A 220144 2013128318 Ik
FEAEETEREBELEXIB K
A B ER BB RSB S -

BEERBBH L EELERER
15%ZE35%M R EMR XM B E
2014F12A31BLFE - ZECER
ThIR (h 5t FERR 08 F) 15 % RO Bt 3655 E 5
RF AR o

i 8. FrSHiBAX 8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
>
= 20144 20134
= ARKFT ARBETFT
= 2014 2013
S RMB’000 RMB'000
5
E BN ERF I8 Current Tax
B ERSH PRC enterprise income tax (281,985) (297,472)
EFEDER US corporate tax (23) -
TR ER ([ EF ) Land appreciation tax (“LAT") (306,259) (273,564)
WA FERERE Over-provision in prior year
BERBNET Hong Kong profits tax = 6
RIERIE (KfaE23) Deferred tax (Note 23)
R EREH PRC enterprise income tax (35,000) 77,916
4 IR {E T LAT (2,285) (1,116)
FriSHi i = Income tax expense (625,552) (494,230)

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law promulgated
on 16 March 2007, the PRC enterprise income tax for both
domestic and foreign-invested enterprises has been unified at
the enterprise income tax rate of 25% effective from 1 January
2008 onwards.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation
value, with certain allowable exemptions and deductions.

Pursuant to the rules and regulation of the BVI and the Cayman
Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the BVI
and the Cayman lIslands.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
income generated from the Group neither arises in, nor is
derived from, Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2014
and 2013.

Pursuant to the US Federal tax law, the US corporate tax shall
be taxed at progressive rates ranging from 15% to 35%. US
corporate tax is provided at federal statutory rate of 15% based
on the estimated assessable profits during the year ended 31
December 2014.
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FrigBiBa (&) 8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) B
=
FEMRERIATEAHESREMEZE The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit %'PI\HQ
WA RFR BB RTR A EBRAT - before taxation per consolidated statements of profit or loss and B
other comprehensive income as follows:
=
20145 20134 S
ARMFT — ARETI z)
2014 2013 s
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
3
758 Bl A Profit before tax 1,166,944 1,022,575 ‘é’
=
>
H25% B ERGHE B >
AR (D TS RR PRC enterprise income tax at 25% (291,736) (255,644) 5
T HIEED LAT (308,544) (274,680) =
+ HIEE A B TS e 2 Tax effect of LAT 77,136 68,670 3
HUTSEOBBEEE Tax effect on: E
AMEE B EERNEED
B e Tax effect of share of loss of joint ventures (12,783) =
pak(a):rA=WNEIEo) =Tz
Wi E Tax effect of share of loss of an associate (22) =
MAEmMES Tl EIE S Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (72,440) (22,478)
TR = BAEBE R AR Tax effect of income not taxable for
s -2 tax purpose 4,604 2,780
WIFER AR IBEEERN Effect of tax losses not recognised as
R IE R IE My a2 deferred tax assets (4,107) (1,531)
BABERERNTIAEE Utilisation of tax loss previously not
recognised 12 89
EEMAEEREER Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
MEBARMEREENTE operating in other jurisdictions 23 45
B IR i F Y Withholding tax on retained profits to be
B (HfaE) distributed (note) (17,695) (11,481)
MIBFRX Tax charge (625,552) (494,230)
Hfat - Note:
1B 35 7200841 A1H E@(E’]EP B i 75 i K In accordance with PRC tax circular (Guoshuihan [2008] 112) effective
(B % K[2008]1125%) » i K A10%H) F from 1 January 2008, PRC withholding income tax at the rate of 10% is
TEHAMERERR HFEEJ BEE (H applicable to dividends to “non-resident” investors who do not have an
FEPEW BRI EBERE LG RS - establishment or place of business in the PRC. The amount represents
ZeEiERPRNE AR E20084F1 818 LA the withholding income tax provided on the undistributed profits of
2R BT Bk ER ) AT AR VE 99 IR 89 7K 9 I i ¥ T 488 4 PRC subsidiaries earned since 1 January 2008, which are available for
HITBHIFTEH o distribution.
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9. EEmA

FREN T (FEA)
THEBRETE

RIBa AR YE -
BB Bs M sk i &

RERTUEBRNENE
M - BB RREITE

FENEMX AR

Y& E
REHERS

ZEE B

R
FrEHE MR MOR (=) -
S ASHERA

ERARXNEERA

BTHA (BREREABHKAR) :
S (BRagagsE
AR (5 38) (Htaz10)
Fre MEARR

PABS AR 5 5K

RARAE MR A
HitpEYEF) :
RHTETREEANYE

HMETIHA
B BRPFEVERRTH
BEXNEER

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after
charging (crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
recognised in profit and loss

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
capitalised in properties under development

Total depreciation charged for the year

Amortisation of intangible assets

Operating lease rentals

Auditors’ remuneration

Allowance for doubtful debts

Write-down (reversal of allowance) of
properties held for sale included in cost of
sales

Cost of inventories recognised as expense

Staff costs (including retirement benefit cost):
Directors’ emoluments (including equity-
settled share-based payments) (Note 10)
Salaries and other allowances
Share-based payment
Retirement benefit costs
Other benefit-in-kind:
Properties provided for the use by
certain employees

Total staff costs
Less: Amount capitalised to properties
under development for sale

20145 20134
AR¥F T ARKEFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
24,585 19,695
298 273
24,883 19,968
193 180
7,487 3,713
2,600 2,650
697 610
4,928 (11,510)
2,393,087 2,090,027
14,587 19,116
158,402 109,534
586 4,423
10,405 7,615
6,099 7,284
190,079 147,972
(45,719) (40,211)
144,360 107,761
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10. EEREEHH 10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS
= Directors
Ex5¢ ) A3
EEHe Rz L BAER DES &t
ARBFT  AREFr AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Basic Retirement
Directors' salaries and benefit Share-based
fee  allowance Bonus contribution payment Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

HEW4E12831BLEE Year ended 31 December 2014
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EEuE Name of director
1S Executive Directors
K& Zhang Lei - 768 4,292 38 193 5,291
&HE (fita) Zhang Peng (note a) - 768 4,292 38 862 5,960
RE Chen Yin - 710 220 38 - 968
FNTES Non-executive Directors
SERE (fith) Fan Qingguo (note b) - 467 305 38 366 1,176
EXM (A7) Zhong Tianxiang (note b) - 451 229 38 - 718
BUES Independent Directors
Ef Cui Jian 158 - - - - 158
FHEE Hui Chun Ho, Eric 158 - - - - 158
wihE Qin Youguo 158 - - = - 158
474 3,164 9,338 190 1,421 14,587
HEWBF1283181LFE Year ended 31 December 2013
EE Name of director
H1ES Executive Directors
5z Zhang Lei - 655 4,559 37 - 5,251
35 Chen Yin - 706 198 37 - 941
ERE Fan Qingguo - 665 4,559 37 2,190 7,451
NS Zhong Tianxiang - 655 4,559 37 - 5,251
BUEZ Independent Directors
Ef Cui Jian 74 = - - - 74
FHEE Hui Chun Ho, Eric 74 - - = - 74
RhE Qin Youguo 74 - - - - 74
222 2,681 13,875 148 2,190 19,116
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=o

(b) BEBKREXRMER2014F8H26H 1
TESRATAIENTES -

REAERARAIE U EXHE
EREME HERRERETEFERMAR
BX 2 -

ATTHEEREL2EAEHELER
B BARBERBITHRRETE °

REZE2014F12A31B IEFE - &
BENETMENE -

TEBREHFMAL

HE2014F12A831BIEFE - A4 &
SHMALEEIRES (2013F : 3%
FE) HZE2014F12A31BLEER
Hpo BB AL (20134F : HeR2
EREFMAL) OFMIT

i 10.EEREEHFH =) 10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

s EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

=

=

g EE (&) Directors (Continued)

=

3 Bt - Notes:

=

§ (a) REEM2014F1A27BEZEABRITE (@) Zhang Peng was appointed on 27 January 2014 as an executive

director.

(b) Fan Qingguo and Zhong Tianxiang were re-designated from
executive directors to non-executive directors on 26 August 2014.

Mr. Zhang Lei is the Chairman of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered
by him as the Chairman.

The bonus is determined by the management with reference
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
prevailing market conditions.

No directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2014.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included 3 directors for the year
ended 31 December 2014 (2013: 3 directors). The emoluments
of the remaining 2 highest paid individuals for the year ended
31 December 2014 (2013: remaining 2 highest paid individuals)
are as follows:

201445 20134
AREFT ARBTF T
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE& Employees

— B4 KoERL — Basic salaries and allowances 1,427 670
— {E4T — Bonus 1,371 4,559
— ARSI 3R — Share-based payment 298 4,423
— RIRE AR — Retirement benefit contributions 76 37

— EmEYEA — Other benefit-in-kind
Friz it Properties provided 759 =
3,931 9,689
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10.EEREEFHFHN &)

11.

hEBRRFMAL (B)

REE » NEEIW E &
AT ERIHMIESZ B IMAEINARE
1% 1) SRR A R RE R 1 o

HtmReHFMALEHMAR DT -

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid individuals are
within the following bands:

20145 20134
2014 2013

1,500,0018 7 £2,000,000%7C  HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 = =

2,000,001787C%2,500,000/87C HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
2,500,001 023,000,000 7  HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

- -
|

3,000,001 7c £3,500,0005# 7. HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 = -
9,000,001/ 729,500,000/ HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 = 1

IR E

HE2014F12A31HIEFE - K& B
2R & E2013F12 8318 (EFE W
RE B SR M10.8F I (BHE R
AR #865) & #£172,800,0007 It
(FE B AR%137,160,0007T) (2013
F :24,000,0008 ¢ (FHE R AR
18,985,0007T)) °

ARREZEE([EE]) B2EEE20145F
12A318 L FEMHREARE TR M
8.0/ L ZAE A1 B AR R A4 FE JE AR BRA &7
AGHAE o

11. DIVIDEND

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2013 of HK10.8 cents (equivalent to RMB8.6 cents) per share
amounting to HK$172,800,000 (equivalent to RMB137,160,000)
in aggregate has been paid by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2014 (2013: HK$24,000,000, equivalent to
RMB18,985,000).

The final dividend proposed by the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) for the year ended 31 December 2014 of HK8.0
cents per share is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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12. 8REZF

13.

HE2014F 128318 L5 E - Sk E
KRB EARFTBERARGKRERS
AERFE &M & AR ®521,128,000
7T (20134 : A R #528,934,0007T)
K& Z2014F 128318 IEFE B 31T
38 % AY b £ 39 #11,600,000,000/%
(20134 : 1,389,589,0000%) Mzt& -

HE2014F12A31BLFE - ARKE
ABRITEEBSN2014F RITEHRARD
ARG FEHETE WA ESRESR
A B I B2+ AR IE2013F6 A 14 B R4
BB 210 2014F9 A4B B H B
&t o

#H £2014%F K2013F12A831H Ik £
£ P27 ERERRF S EIL &R
B AAAEERTFRNBEZTLTRR
BHREBEHETE -

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
for the year ended 31 December 2014 is based on the profit
for the year attributable to equity owners of the Company of
approximately RMB521,128,000 (2013: RMB528,934,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year ended 31 December 2014 of 1,600,000,000 (2013:
1,389,589,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the share options
granted on 4 September 2014 under the share option scheme
adopted on 14 June 2013 are not included in the calculation
of diluted earnings per share as the adjusted exercise price was
greater than the average market price of the Company’s shares
during the outstanding period in 2014.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amount presented for the years ended 31 December 2014 and
2013 as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during both years.

REW= 13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
20145 20134
AR T AREFIT
AREE FAIR VALUE 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’'000
M1H18 At 1 January 825,660 717,000
A EEEE Transfer from properties held for sale 246,900 146,960
HEEEYE  BEMRE Transfer from property, plant and equipment 8,300 -
RIERERN AR EE Net change in fair value recognised
B FEEE in profit or loss 111,074 46,273
HeE Disposals (40,607) (84,573)
T B (BaE6(c)) Transfer to local government (Note 6(c)) (4,727) =
M®12A831H At 31 December 1,146,600 825,660
STABR 2 WESHARZIBIES Unrealised gain on property revaluation
(GIAREWERAARBEZE) included in profit or loss
(included in changes in fair value
of investment properties) 100,756 41,251
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13. REWZE ©)

AEBEMAZEEHERE URIAS
MY EREDIERAABEENGE -
WHBERARIIEREYS - EIR
BEMEAMRFE - LEYETE LT i
MFEERA40F

AEBR2014F12A3MHEEBRAR
#388,556,0007T (20134 : A R ¥
195,194,0007T) M & B W % + LAER
AEEERNE THRITEME (FRH T
37) °

RS HETHGE - B Z=20145F12
B31HIEFE  THAZEE (HEIP
ATRTHNELHEMRRATER) &
ERABEHEMENSEFREBER
TESHEMEMK A AR 156,014,000
7 (20134 + AR #116,774,0007T)
FEAREEKZEL A RE0,886,000
7T (20134 « AR#30,186,0007T) °

HE2014F12831H L E & - £ HEI)
HMATEITNLCEHER AR RS
BEEWME BMEARENSEFRER
EWE- - BERZENEEHEARK
6,949,0007T © Km0 H fib 2 A A i
RO AR EBEZH I AKRME,351,000
=

AEBDRTIREMENSEE A
K R2014%F K%2013F12A31H MR A
BE  EREBEHERTERAA ([HE
217]) KRR BER RS EMES - &iE
PR REAEEVEBENBYS
BREEMGEMN BEAENER -
B 1R BR 7r A 5T A 48 8t B AR L) Y

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals are measured using the fair value model and
are classified and accounted for as investment properties. The
investment properties are all situated in the PRC. The lease term
of land on which the investment properties are situated on is 40
years.

The Group had pledged investment properties of
RMB388,556,000 (2013: RMB195,194,000) at 31 December
2014 to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group as
set out in Note 37.

The amount transferred from properties held for sale upon
change in use as evidenced by commencement of operating
lease with outsiders included the cost of the properties held for
sale amounted to RMB156,014,000 (2013: RMB116,774,000)
with fair value gain of approximately RMB90,886,000 (2013:
RMB30,186,000) for the year ended 31 December 2014, based
on valuation performed at dates of transfer.

The amount transferred from property, plant and equipment
upon commencing of operating lease agreements with outsiders
included the carrying value of the property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB6,949,000 with fair value change recognised
to other comprehensive income of approximately RMB1,351,000
during the year ended 31 December 2014.

The fair value of the Group’s completed investment properties at
the respective dates of transfer and as at 31 December 2014 and
2013 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation on those
dates carried out by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited (“DTZ"),
independent qualified professional valuers not connected to
the Group, who have appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations.
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13.REWZE &) 13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
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MEDRBREEFREBHEHRME
ENHESWRAFERBEERN  IpZE
MEMRERBAENIEEEREE - B
EFEGHETALBEE - AEE GG
MELAEBEER  BRAENERS M
RIER® -

ERFFEERRENRIABEE - A%
EERAEERMSABRERE - £8F
F—RBABRBENBRT AREZRE
F=NEERMGEEMETHE-

REEIRE Y EN20145F K20134F12
AMEMFBRAABEEREHD
T -

The valuations were arrived at with adoption of investment
approach by capitalisation of the net rental income derived
from the existing tenancies with due allowance for reversionary
income potential of the properties. There has been no change
from the valuation technique used in the prior year. In estimating
the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation.

Details of the Group's investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2014 and 2013
are as follow:

R20145F

12H31H

E= WA REE

ARBT T ARMTF T

Fair value as

at 31

December

Level 3 2014

RMB’000 RMB’'000

LR B IR & Y 3 Investment properties located in PRC 1,146,600 1,146,600

20134

12H31H

F= AR EE

AREFIT ARKFIT

Fair value as

at 31

December

Level 3 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

MR E Y Investment properties located in PRC 825,660 825,660
N 58 = AR B B th JE AR I AR o There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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13. REWZE ) 13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
TREFEEHSEREMELAAEEN The following table gives information about how the fair values
E8 (BRI—REETERMBLE) - N of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
RiEB28NBREESENRARE valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
BER (FIEEFIE) - hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised

(Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.
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BHBBRRRPEEE ANE 1ET7 % EZN TUERSHA
RERENF EHER RIE2H FUEESH AREENER
Investment properties held by

the Group in the consolidated Relationship of

statements of financial Fair value  Valuation technique(s) Significant unobservable unobservable inputs to

position hierarchy  and key input(s) input(s) fair value

RIRHELR &Y & - £38R REME BAEEE  AF B EER
ST~ KRR Ak 4.25%%6.5% mi5EELE -

REWE (FERZTE)

Investment properties located Level 3 Investment approach Capitalisation rate, from The higher the capitalisation
at Beijing, Changsha, 4.25% t0 6.5% rate, the lower the market
Nanchang, liujiang value.

Taiyuan, and
Xiantao, PRC
(mainly retails)
FE28: BffE  NFEA Bl
(N |42 % BYARARENTE misEEBS
2. ERIEf MBS BRABTARARE30T
The key inputs are: Unit rent, from RMB31/ The higher the unit rent, the
1. Capitalisation rate; sq.m./month to RMB320/ higher the market value.
2. Unit rent of individual sg.m./month
unit
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ﬁ 14. 9% - BERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
>
= AfH LEET
= RigF e RR& ERNE At
= ARETFT ARETFT ARBTFT AREF AREFTL
§ Electronic Properties
~ Leasehold land equipment under
E and buildings  Motor vehicles  and furniture construction Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Hiita)
(note a)
KA CosT
#2013F1 818 At 1 January 2013 222,018 28,639 11,200 726,142 987,999
ER=SH Exchange differences - (6) - - (6)
nE Additions - 4,100 2,560 105,717 112,377
ficbd Transfer 169,611 - - (169,611) -
BREAERETEENE Transfer from properties under
development for sale 25,408 - = 8,448 33,856
BRAEEHE Transfer from properties held for
mE# (Wizth) sale (note b) 34,217 - - - 34217
ERERERE Transfer to properties held for
mE (Hztc) sale (note ¢) - - - (572,413) (572,413)
HeE Disposals (1,081) (3,684) (651) - (5,416)
120134128310 At 31 December 2013 450,173 29,049 13,109 98,283 590,614
ERZE Exchange differences - 1 _ _ 1
NE Additions 35 4,744 4,582 8,536 17,897
B Transfer 8,448 - - (8,448) -
ERAHEHE Transfer from properties held for
mE (Wiztb) sale (note b) 8,381 - - - 8,381
ERTLENE Transfer to investment properties (9,403) - - - (9,403)
WENBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries - 288 242 - 530
HENBAR Disposals of subsidiaries = (511) (1,256) = (1,767)
HE Disposals (7,801) (2,488) (1,277) - (11,566)
12014%E12A318 At 31 December 2014 449,833 31,083 15,400 98,371 594,687
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2ithE
201351718
REEMR
HEREH

1201351274318
TEEMBR
ERTRANE
Wi BAR
LERBAR

T R 3

120145124318

EmE
120145124318

120135124318

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2013

Charge for the year

Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2013

Charged for the year

Transfer to investment properties
Acquisitions of subsidiaries
Disposals of subsidiaries
Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2014

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2013
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HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

HELH EERE
I8 &2 RE kz& ERYF At
AEEFT AEEFT AEEFT AREFT ARETFT
Electronic Properties
Leasehold land equipment under

and buildings  Motor vehicles  and furniture construction Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Hizta)
(note a)

34,948 13,311 6,662 - 54,921

14,086 3,895 1,987 - 19,968

(825) (1,723) (530) - (3,078)

48,209 15,483 8,119 - 71,811

18,339 4,200 2,344 - 24,883

(2,454) - - - (2,454)

- 155 174 - 329

- (69) (59) - (128)

(853) (1,342) (1,214) - (3,409)

63,241 18,427 9,364 - 91,032

386,592 12,656 6,036 98,371 503,655

401,964 13,566 4,990 98,283 518,803
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14. 9% - BMERRE ©)

HiaE -

(a)

(d)

AEEERASBABEENYESRS
B E BRIz (TR &) - BIRET
2 AEREEFERZEDE  ER
REBEMIRY FHBERFEN T1.5F
EN15F c ZEMENEEG R TRET
ZIET AR FHER TEERE
8 - 2014128318 A B%KEE
EAREEMEANAE i REFHRR
H {85 A R#33,307,0007C (20134 -
AER#44,527,0007T) °

ARREBEZARADAZENETH
DIEEX(FFERER A M
WMAER  FHEBTEAREHEDE
& -

oY g

HZE2013F12A318 L FE - EAE
EERERERNMECRRBEAEEA
IREE A A R ¥572,413,0007T B # 1E
HEWE - ERIBBEABEEER
REBMEABAFER - ERIEEETH
ERAHEZSREABHHEE RTHH
BiEE  BASEEMRFIEHEWEL
B AEBNERERASZE BT
MAREEEB B RREAENLE -

ANEBR2014F12A31BRHEHBAR
#369,384,0007T (20134F : A R
117,355,00070) W F (BEEED
%) UMERASEERNE TRITR
Hebgh & (FRKIEE37) ©

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(d)

The Group had entered agreement with the eligible employees
in connection with the properties developed by the Group (the
“Scheme”). Under the Scheme, the eligible employees can use the
properties while remain with the Group for a service period ranging
from 1.5 to 15 years, the title of the properties will be transferred
to the eligible employees upon the completion of the service period
as stated under the Scheme. As at 31 December 2014, the carrying
amount of leasehold land and buildings which have been occupied
by the eligible employees under the Scheme is RMB33,307,000
(2013: RMB44,527,000).

Buildings were transferred from properties held for sale when
the management of the Company decided to use some of those
properties for the Scheme as mentioned in (a) above and/or as

offices for own use.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, 2 blocks of service
apartments under construction with original intention for leasing
purpose were transferred to properties held for sale at carrying
amount of RMB572,413,000. Taking into account that the service
apartments were still under construction and not yet put in use by
the Group, together with the same selling and marketing activities
being carried out for sales of those service apartments compared
to the Group’s properties held for sale, the management of the
Group considered that such transfer can better reflect the Group's
operation to the users of the financial statements.

The Group had pledged buildings, including properties under
construction, of RMB369,384,000 (2013: RMB117,355,000) at
31 December 2014 to secure certain banking and other facilities
granted to the Group as set out in Note 37.
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14. 9% ~ BERRE &) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Lt BMERZHER (TEEXE The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
BWE) BT R ESHNEFTRSREER than properties under construction, are depreciated using the
NERER AT EXRFEITE straight-line method after taking into account of their estimated

residual values at the following rates per annum:

HE T RETF 2 4 0 R JE i A R Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of unexpired
H30FFRHREE lease term of land and 30 years

FTEIIETHAEE 1.52 155 Leasehold land and buildings 1.5 to 15 years

T REF under the Scheme
TE 19% Motor vehicles 19%
BRRELRA 19%%31.67% Electronic equipment and 19%-31.67%
furniture
FrEBF RIEEEFTE T AR The buildings and properties under construction are all situated
CBRAEE - on land in the PRC under medium-term leases.
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ﬁ 15. B &= 15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Z
z e
= AREF T
= Computer
§ Software
~ RMB’000
K
h N
BN COST
M2013F1H1H At 1 January 2013 1,839
NE Additions 72
e Disposals (16)
72013512 A31H At 31 December 2013 1,895
NE Additions 223
2014512 A31H At 31 December 2014 2,118
25 E ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
M2013F1 818 At 1 January 2013 502
REZHBR Charge for the year 180
H e B IR B Eliminated on disposals (16)
72013412 A31H At 31 December 2013 666
REFZHK Charge for the year 193
2014512 A31H At 31 December 2014 859
BRMEE CARRYING AMOUNT
2014512 A31H At 31 December 2014 1,259
72013412 H31H At 31 December 2013 1,229
BENEHGBEREAFERAEEH  N5FERN The computer software has definite useful life and is amortised
LABE SRS - on a straight-line basis over 5 years.
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16. E{HHERE

17.

HAR IR AT LI (E R ER N TR
NHEEFRBENEREIFAT

3
=5

MR2014F12831H ' SLEEMEFEF
/TR FE & 5 TE A R #410,642,0007T
(20134 : &) DERREEE °

AEENBENHEEFRE/SETBERG
M FA0FE70FEHM T30 fE A2
TEIFRIA ©

MR2014F12H8318 © &K £ I
TR+ AR 013F: AR
777,923,0007T) © AERAEEERE
ETIRITRE ©

KFIFHRRBIKAXEL

KA IEAER ABEEFIEHE
ST = B T E AT N BE A B — 1@ ok A
HERE+ o WN20145128318 »
BT 8 KRRt PEER o

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Medium term
Long term

17.

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments in respect of
land use rights for the lands situated in the PRC is analysed as
follows:

20145 20134
AR¥TT ARBFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
8,606 102,638
402,036 813,499
410,642 916,137

As at 31 December 2014, prepaid lease payment of
RMB410,642,000 (2013: Nil) which held for purpose of
properties for sale, are classified under current assets.

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent payments for
obtaining the land use rights in the PRC with lease terms
ranging from 40 to 70 years.

At 31 December 2014, the Group had not pledged the land use
rights to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group
(2013: RMB777,923,000).

FREEHOLD LAND HELD FOR FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

The Group's freehold land represents a parcel of freehold land in
Texas, US for the purpose of development of properties for sale.
As at 31 December 2014, the land is under planning and design
stages.
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DIEEEFE

AEBERBEMROBEQAFED

N

RAER

Name of company

R b %

TRERIREEFRRAA*
(MERERILK]) HE
Beijing Modern North Star PRC
Development Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing MNS")

s -

FE R B4R & ) 23 A Y 2 X E R AE
2Z 0 WARE e

BEZERHEEE (FEEHE R
A) Bt FRIEREERHERA A
(TdE=1) 2 B 8 A20145108
10 AEERIER = RIEH
Wz (GERE Rt R%H
Z) bR ERIERKY - YHE
REEEEXEERIIRSEAHEARE
25,000,0007T & #5 A 50 % Ji # -

REIERERILER G ZEMIERE R
IERWABZIZMA - ERZEHIE
RERLIRNEESUHEFILRE
RIERWEGE - EERE - A%
BHIERERIEIREEREAZE
N Bt D BAREEEE AT -

18.INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s interests in an associate are as follows:

Share of net assets

20145 20134
AR FT ARKEFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
20,977 =
20,977 =

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting
period are as follow:

Place of establishment

Note:

FEEREN
FEEEERE SELA
Equity interests Proportion of voting
attributable power held
to the Group by the Group
2014 2013F  2014F  2013F EEE
2014 2013 2014 2013 Principal activities

50% TER W TER
50% N/A note N/A

NEER

Property development

The English name of the company which operates in the PRC is
for reference only and has not been registered.

Pursuant to the cooperative development framework agreement
and related supplementary agreements (collectively, the
“Beijing MNS Agreements”) dated 10 October 2014 entered
into between Modern Green Development, a subsidiary of the
Group, and Beijing North Star Company Limited it FILRE
ERMAR AT (“North Star”), Beijing MNS was established,
in which Modern Green Development and North Star each
contributed RMB25,000,000 and held 50% equity interests.

Pursuant to the Beijing MNS Agreements and Articles of
Association of Beijing MNS, North Star controls the board of
directors of Beijing MNS and has control over Beijing MNS. The
Directors consider that the Group does have significant influence
over Beijing MNS and it is therefore classified as an associate of
the Group.
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18. REFE N RINER (&) 18. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) B
BABE NG B EREE Summarised financial information of material associates gffﬁi
oy
ERAAEBEAEERRNTIEE R Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
BEHNR T o TlBI BRI E A% material associate is set out below. The summarised financial %
BN ARSI R B ISR S E R R ERA R information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s >
REIZ SRR TR DR o unaudited financial statements prepared in accordance with al
IFRSs. s
&
ZHE N B A REN LSS R The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these i
RABR - consolidated financial statements. %’_
n
EtRERILR Beijing MNS S
Q
R2014% 720134 S
128318 12A318 -
ARBFT  ARETFIL =
At 31 At 31 8
December December
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’'000
mBEE Current assets 1,422,716 =
IERENEE Non-current assets 49 _
mBaE Current liabilities 722,945 -
JEREEE Non-current liabilities 650,000 -

HZE20145F HZE2013F

12HA31H 12H31H

IEFE IEFE

AR¥FT ARKEFIT

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wz Revenue - =
FEEB Loss for the year (180) =
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18. REEE N TR (&)

EtRERLR (8)

PR BENBE BT S MM B KT
ERANIERERIEIROEEETEY

BE :

ERERIERNEEFE

AEERIERERILRD
ARSI B

KBRS N RIETZE

18.INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
Beijing MNS (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in Beijing MNS recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

20145 20134

ARMTF T AREFT

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net assets of Beijing MNS 49,820 -

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest
in Beijing MNS 50% =
Elimination on the Group’s share of profit or

T HREBEAEE DGR loss in those transactions with associate (3,933) =
AEEMNERERIERE Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
R (E Beijing MNS 20,977 _
19. REELENER 19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
AEBREGECENERABOT ¢ Details of the Group’s interests in joint ventures are as follows:

DIEBEFE
AaETEELRER

201445 20134

AEBMFT AREFIT

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of net assets 595,116 -
Loans to joint ventures 1,521,583 -
2,116,699 -

A S B e B 2 TT 4w 3R . T8 A Loans to joint ventures are unsecured, expected to be recovered
R—E%lgE - BN F3%E13% after one year and bear interest at fixed rate ranged from 3% to
WETEF RS AR ARK 13% per annum, except for the amounts of RMB139,435,000

139,435,000 cHIFIER AR B o

which are interest free.



B O B 75 R 3% M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

19. REEENER (@) 19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) B

&

AEERBEHRNEREGEREFS Details of each of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the gﬂlﬁi

m reporting period are as follows: %

REBE R REEFEHRERELA 3

Equity interests attributable Proportion of voting power =

to the Group held by the Group >

RAARE R % 20045 2013% 2004F W35 TELH 2l

Name of company Place of establishment 2014 2013 2014 2013 Principal activities Z

o)

o

TRBBEREXARAR" i 50% TER Mizta TER  NEEE 3

(HERIBEER ) >

Beijing CIFl Modern Development PRC 50% N/A note a N/A Property development =

Co., Ltd.* ("Beijing CIFI Modern") &

S

HEEBEXARLA Gl 65% 100% Htith 100%  WEEE S

(TFaBERE)) 2

Nanchang Moma Development PRC 65% 100% note b 100%  Property development _Q

Co., Ltd.* ( "Nanchang Moma" ) —

=l

BEMREREHEREERAR" M 65% 100% Htith 100%  MR%ER =

(TFE#el) o
Nanchang Xinjian Modern PRC 65% 100% note b 100%  Property development

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Nanchang Xinjian" )

EREX (FH5) BRAR 0 51% 100% Htikc 100%  REERRNFLRE
([&#5])
Modern Land (HKNo.5) Co., Limited Hong Kong 51% 100% note ¢ 100%  Investment holding and
(“HKNo.5") property development
HREREHEREER AR HE 35% - Hiztd = NEER
(T Eexsk])
Shanghai Shengming Real Estate PRC 35% = note d = Property development

Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Shanghai Shengming”)

REEREHEXGRAR il 60% 100% Hzte 100%  MEEE
((REEREEER])

Wuhan Modern Green Development PRC 60% 100% note e 100%  Property development
Co., Ltd.* ( “Wuhan MGD")

REERIREXERAR* i 45% TER (i) TER  WEER
(IHEERIR])

Wuhan Modern North Star Development PRC 45% N/A note f N/A Property development
Co., Ltd.* ( “Wuhan MNS")

RHEGESXERAR" H 51% TER Mg TER  WERER
(I=BEE])

Anhui MOMA Development Co., Ltd.* PRC 51% N/A note g N/A Property development

(“Anhui Moma™)

* B 4 A B N ] B RS E AR @ The English names of the companies which operate in the PRC are
= KRB o for reference only and have not been registered.
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19. REEENER (&)

Hit -

(a)

BIE2014F2 21 B ERETAEE X418
EEERNERAT ([JBEEE]) Fr
i BEREMEEXEEBEEESEH
& AR %5,000,0007C 5 3L R BB E
R BFHES0%KAE - BB RIBEE
REGZERMA - HABERBEES
—HAE - AREBEREMAREER
BEDEAR-

201438188  "EBEBIE=H
FHEERDER AR (THMEED)
IV EEERBZEEERTHE (B
BIEEHE]D -  BEAERZ ()
NEBHEDSER LB S #HE35%
BRETHMET RESBAARE
140,000,0007t & A K 80,500,000
TT BRT65%MREBARRFIFE ¢ (i)
PREEREEEGLREENERER
A& BRI B A R 250,000,0007T
X A R#79,500,0007 (4if8 2 S &
P (iARARIMAPNETERERE
E TS K EFE65 % g - (EREE
S - MEREEEE AR S ED
R EMEEBRFMETLER  (v)
HEENKEENERNTMETERE
BE T ERE  (EZEERRIER
R(v)F 1= 5t B # B2014F4817R
BeROoR=—tH@EA R+ NAEAR
NEEVEAmEEZSEERER
TE85% % (AREEFERE) MAKHE
SERIE =75 HEH S R E
E35%ARME - ITHRESERMEEER R
FEMEIS%BREAREE -

RIBE(EHE  BEEBREENEL
ERTAMERAE - fS RS R SR
BEMEHAREEZE HRAE A
SR B R T 2k 25 515 S TS e B & A
HIHE - FEEERNEENERAREE
REDRE AKEMFESERRES
HiEFIER65 % BEIEN I E RN AR
BEEER -

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to the agreement dated 21 February 2014 entered into
between Modern Green Development and CIFI Group Co., Ltd.
TBEEERHAER2AR (“CIFl Group”), Beijing CIFI Modern was
established, in which Modern Green Development and CIFI Group
each contributed RMB5,000,000 and held 50% equity interests.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Beijing CIFI Modern,
relevant activities of Beijing CIFI Modern require unanimous consent
of both parties. Beijing CIFI Modern is therefore accounted for as a
joint venture of the Group.

On 18 March 2014, the Group entered into a cooperative
framework agreement and related supplementary agreements
(collectively, the “ Cooperative Agreements”) with AVIC Trust
Co., Ltd. FMEFERMAER QAT (“AVIC Trust”), an independent
third party. Pursuant to the Cooperative Agreements, (i) the
Group disposed of its 35% equity interests in Nanchang Moma
and Nanchang Xinjian to AVIC Trust for consideration of
RMB140,000,000 and RMB80,500,000 respectively, with the
remaining 65% equity interests held by the Company; (i) AVIC
Trust provided loans to Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian
in the principal amount of RMB250,000,000 and RMB79,500,000
respectively (collectively, the “Loans”); (iii) the Company pledged its
65% equity interests in Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian to
AVIC Trust as security to the Loans and Modern Green Development
provided a guarantee to AVIC Trust for the obligations of Nanchang
Moma and Nanchang Xinjian; (iv) Nanchang Moma and Nanchang
Xinjian pledged their project land use rights to AVIC Trust as
security of the Loans; and (v) AVIC Trust is entitled to dispose of its
35% equity interests in Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian to
the Group, or to any third parties, after the expiry of 24 months
and 18 months, respectively from 17 April 2014, or the time when
the aggregate area of the properties sold reaches 85% of the total
saleable area in the projects (whichever is earlier), at the exercise
prices determined as the fair value of 35% equity interests in
Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian, respectively.

Pursuant to the Cooperative Agreements and revised Articles of
Association of Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian, relevant
activities of Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian require
unanimous consent of the board of directors of Nanchang Moma
and Nanchang Xinjian. The Group therefore lost control over
Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian, and Nanchang Moma
and Nanchang Xinjian became joint ventures of the Group. The
remaining 65% equity interests in Nanchang Moma and Nanchang
Xinjian held by the Group are recognised at fair value at the date
of disposal.
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10. R EMNERS (&)

Hiat : (&)

(@)

201469 + AN & E 8 & W I8 &0
BEEARAR ([RHB] - BBLE=
H)EAINEEREREARTBE (5
BIEEH=ZED) REAEBZE ()
EBSUARELIO9B T HHEROARE
38.77) BITAORE AR TR - MA
SEREBNRE  BERENRERE
2 (FB)ARQXATESB1] AF
ESHMIEBAR)  HEEREBEXA
AR (DHEERER]) RAEER
HERBE¥XERAR (HEER&EE]
([EB AR MEHLABB1HHMER
Al) WAL - RI100%HEEES
51% i (iVAR A RRWE B REBSH
& AR 1500,000,0007T E &% 5 & &
(ARAETRRIRRER] & [REBER
B3] AERZEEE ARRNEEE R
DFEAERMERE  (I)EBESKERE
IR IRERES 1B EREE QA
MEIRELDFE TR - (EARMKRE
ERHER  (WARRRRBBRRE
RARBEBEER 0 RV)AR B KRR
BREPERUTERE (REBHRER
RBEET) BEAANEZIHPRE -

REGLHENEBNRETABE
AR BASNEHEDHTRHEES
BN—HRAE MEFSRHALQF L
RMEDRENERAK - Bt - A&
BAEHEFES FEIRIBB QAN
G - ME B RAEBNG 2D
% o RRAINEBESFA 51 %M ER
RRELE BN AR EBERER -

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@]

In September 2014, the Group entered into a joint venture
agreement and related supplementary agreements (collectively,
the “JVA") with Great Wall Pan Asia International Investment Co.,
Limited RMIREBIBRIEE AR A (“Great Wall”), an independent
third party. Pursuant to the JVA, (i) HKNo.5 issued 49 ordinary
shares to Great Wall at a consideration of HK$49 (equivalent to
approximately RMB38.7), where the Group’s equity interests in
HKNo.5, along with its indirect equity interests in Modern Land
(HKNo.1) Co., Limited ("HKNo.1", a subsidiary of HKNo.5), Hunan
Modern MOMA Development Co., Ltd. & A EHE X ER A E
(“Hunan Modern Moma") and Hunan Modern Green Development
Co., Ltd. HMEERZEZEZEEGR AR (“Hunan Modern Green”)
(the “Project Companies”, both subsidiaries of HKNo.1) were
diluted from 100% to 51% accordingly, (ii) each of the Company
and Great Wall provided RMB500,000,000 as shareholder loans
("the Company Shareholder Loan” and “Great Wall Shareholder
Loan”, respectively) to HKNo.5 for the purposes of developing
two parcels of land in Changsha, Hunan province held by the
Project Companies, (iii) HKNo.5 pledged its entire equity interests
in HKNo.1 and HKNo.1 pledged its entire equity interests in the
Project Companies to Great Wall, as securities to the Great Wall
Shareholder Loan, (iv) the Company provided a guarantee to Great
Wall for the Great Wall Shareholder Loan, and (v) the Company
and Great Wall are entitled to purchase the entire equity interests
in HKNo.5 at any time at the exercise prices determined as the fair
value of equity interests in HKNo.5.

Pursuant to the JVA and revised Articles of Association of HKNo.5,
relevant activities of HKNo.5 require unanimous consent of its
board of directors, which comprise directors appointed by both the
Company and Great Wall. The Group therefore lost control over
HKNo.5, HKNo.1 and Project Companies, and HKNo.5 became a
joint venture of the Group. The 51% equity interests in HKNo.5
held by the Company are recognised at fair value at the date of
deemed disposal.
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yil 19. REELENER @) 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

E

=

= i - (48) Notes: (Continued)

=

r% (d) 20144108 B RELS 2 i (d) In October 2014, Modern Green Development acquired entire

§ FEgEREscsBEER AT ([ L5 equity interests in Shanghai Yujing Investment Management Co.,

= S| HIBAFERY (R EEmE— Ltd. EEESHEEEEMRAF (“Shanghai Yujing”), which held

E BB IE B A F)) H35%084) &2 35% equity interests in Shanghai Shengming, a project company
R A (UBE SIS E AR EE35) o engaged in developing a parcel of land in Shanghai (details of the

acquisition are set out in Note 35).

B E B SIS - FIER Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Shanghai Shengming,
YA I EERE e — N relevant activities of Shanghai Shengming require unanimous
= MEEZeRh Lggem—gins consent of its board of directors, which comprise directors
EERes %R E = SR EE S E appointed by both Shanghai Yujing and a third party shareholder
EHZESER - B - FEREK AN holding 65% equity interests in Shanghai Shengming. Therefore
E Y e B Shanghai Shengming became a joint venture of the Group.

() M2014F88  AEMEBYE=HE (e) In August 2014, the Group entered into a cooperative framework
R REREABNE (ARAE) agreement and related supplementary agreements (collectively,
TEZEEXTRE]) REYERAERE the “Wuhan MGD Agreements”) with Ningbo Yifangzhanda
B EEEARAT (CEIFER]) T Investment LLP ) zm ARERESGZLZE (BREH) (“Ningbo
TAEIEEREREEE TG E (5 YFZD") and Shenzhen Pingan Dahua Huitong Wealth Management
B ASETEgE]) - BER Co., ltd. BRI FLZREEBH EEIE AR 2D A (“Shenzhen
EERGEER S (NEEBEER Pingan”), independent third parties. Pursuant to the Wuhan MGD
T A ETAL B 2 H940% 25 % IR IE 5 Agreements, (i) the Group disposed of its 40% and 5% equity
Pl EFERS S RERENTER interests in Wuhan MGD to Ningbo YFZD and Shenzhen Pingan
(B9 R A A R %80,000,0007T & A for considerations of RMB80,000,000 and RMB10,000,000,
R #510,000,0007T -+ T £ T55%% 4 respectively, with the remaining 55% equity interests held by
Bl R EAE B 25 ()VEIFER Modern Green Development, (ii) Shenzhen Pingan provided a
MREE RS R EBHERARK loan amounted to RMB790,000,000 (the “Wuhan MGD Loan”) to
790,000,0007T ([RIEE R LB L E Wuhan MGD for the purpose of developing a parcel of land held
) FAEREE R EE RSB EN Y by Wuhan MGD located at Wuhan, Hubei province, (iii) Wuhan
b R A — B (IEUEE A MGD and a subsidiary of the Group pledged their project land use
B AEE—RHEA RS EHIE rights to Shenzhen Pingan as securities of the Wuhan MGD Loan,
B+ ifE G R R TR AR (iv) Modern Green Development pledged its 55% equity interests
AR B L BRI - (VB R in Wuhan MGD and Ningbo YFZD pledged its 40% equity interests
B E AR S R ST E 2 H55% in Wuhan MGD to Shenzhen Pingan as securities of the Wuhan
RERE R REGERIEE RS MGD Loan, (v) Modern Green Development provided a guarantee
SLBHMA0%IREE BT IEYITR - £ to Shenzhen Pingan for the obligation of Wuhan MGD, and (vi)
AREERMESTLERNIEE : (Vg Modern Green Development shall repurchase the 5% equity
RETEE L RE S RSB RN E interests in Wuhan MGD from Shenzhen Pingan at a consideration
AR E ISR © R(vi)E RS of RMB10,000,000 no later than two years from the date of
$EETER L & B SRR elefesel

8 AR #10,000,0007T A7 Y1 F %2 B @
REEE R EZENS%RHE -
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10. R EMNERS (&)

Hrat - (&

(e)

(&)

RIEAR R EE R ETREE £ AN IE
FoHEREEREEE EN5%MRE
BUAETE SFEITRAIER - WeEER
BEERIMEENEHNET - Bt - K
B AR % 10,000,000 01513 B AL B —
BERIERMIEB/AT AR o #utt - RE
EEREEEEERETHE  AKER
ERmIEEDRFARZEREES
¥160% M40% R HE -

RIBREEREHEEXE MR RIEE R
EIRE B X MSETEMERRAR - 3UX
EREEEENEHEDTEEFSN
—HAE MEZSAHERMER
X BERGHREERNTFLZRENE
ZHK - Bt - AEBKREHFEER
FRRE B K MR GIRE - MEVEE KAREE
ERRAEBNALEDLE - REERR
EE AR E A WA T 60%ARER
RHEE BN QR EERER -

BEZERAEEE IREFBREEES
—ITRRARAR ([RREEE]) 2/
BEIA201457 A1 BN = S 1R E W
# o REERIRANY - WHERETEE
EX IREFPEBZESALHEARKE
22,500,0007C * A R #22,500,0007T &
AR#5,000,0007T ° BUZE R IR
JEERERE— IR - RIER
EERIERNAKEZEZMA - EER
IRNEAEZDFEZEREEEE - 1L
REFEZEN—BRE - Bt - )2
ERIERARIAREENEERE

RIEEREEEXAERMMEER M
ERBERETAR (EEEHED 2
M A 52014F6 B258 KA 1EFE
& TRERRY  YHERSEEE
REMEHES B HE ARKS1,000,000
TR AR#49,000,0007T © % HEERS 7
ZHERENE R RARE - RIE
THETBNAGERME - ZHERN
EREDTEERMEEELEREE
H—BRAE - Bt - ZREBAKRS A
REBNEEDRE -

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

(Continued)

According to aforementioned terms of the Wuhan MGD
Agreements, the disposal of 5% equity interests in Wuhan MGD
requires mandatory redemption for a fixed amount and contains
a contractual obligation to deliver cash at redemption. Therefore,
the consideration of RMB10,000,000 is considered as a long term
loan of the Group instead of an equity instrument. As a result, the
Group held 60% and Ningbo YFZD held 40% equity interests in
Wuhan MGD upon completion of the Wuhan MGD Agreements.

Pursuant to the Wuhan MGD Agreements and revised Articles of
Association of Wuhan MGD, relevant activities of Wuhan MGD
require unanimous consent of the board of directors, which
comprise directors appointed by Modern Green Development,
Ningbo YFZD and Shenzhen Pingan. The Group therefore lost
control over Wuhan MGD, and Wuhan MGD became a joint
venture of the Group. The remaining 60% equity interests in
Wuhan MGD held by the Group are recognised at fair value at the
date of disposal.

Pursuant to the tri-party cooperative development agreement dated 1
July 2014 entered into between Modern Green Development, North
Star, and China Construction Second Engineering Bureau Ltd. & [E
BEF_TRBABMRAA (“China Construction”), Wuhan MNS was
established, in which Modern Green Development, North Star and
China Construction each contributed RMB22,500,000, RMB22,500,000
and RMB5,000,000 respectively. Wuhan MNS is engaged in
development of a parcel of land in Wuhan, Hubei province. Pursuant to
the Articles of Association of Wuhan MNS, relevant activities of Wuhan
MNS require unanimous consent of Modern Green Development, North
Star and China Construction. Wuhan MNS is therefore accounted for as
a joint venture of the Group.

Pursuant to the cooperative development agreement dated 25
June 2014 entered into between Modern Green Development
and Huainan Xinyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Huainan
Xinyi”), Anhui Moma was established, in which Modern Green
Development and Huainan Xinyi each contributed RMB51,000,000
and RMB49,000,000, respectively. Anhui Moma is engaged
in development of a parcel of land in Hefei, Anhui province.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Anhui Moma, relevant
activities of Anhui Moma require unanimous consent of Modern
Green Development and Huainan Xinyi. Anhui Moma is therefore
accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.
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19. R DEMWERS ()

BEASETENBELNHE

BRAASEERALEENMBEN
EHNTX - MEMBERMERZE
B2 ERBBRM TR
AEBCHBEREMBRNEE ©

| i BLHO

ZEAEREUARDENULF A 15

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material joint

ventures

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the

joint ventures’ unaudited financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRSs.

these consolidated financial statements.

Beijing CIFI Modern

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Revenue
Loss for the year

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in

20145 M20134F
12A31H 12H31H
ARM T ARMFIT
At 31 At 31
December December
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
889,378 -

79 -

884,003 -
BZ2014F HZE2013F
12H31H 12H31H
LEE IEFE
ARM T ARBTF T
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
(4,546) -
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19. REEENER &) 19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) &

BEASETLENHBERBE (& Summarised financial information of material joint ventures %'PI\HQ

(Continued) H

TRBEER (&) Beijing CIFI Modern (Continued) %

>

LB ERREEES M BRESP Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information =

EARILEREEERNERREEY to the carrying amount of the interest in Beijing CIFI Modern s

iR recognised in the consolidated financial statements: %

3

20144 20134 5

ARBFT AREFT =

2014 2013 g

RMB’000 RMB’000 2

&

EtRBEERNEEFE Net assets of Beijing CIFI Modern 5,454 - -

AEERIERBEE KA Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest g

R R LB in Beijing CIFI Modern 50% = 8
AR BEE RIEHER Loan to Beijing CIFI Modern 420,670 -

REHL R BEE RETTH%%  Elimination on the Group's share of profit or
RSP AEEDERIIEZE  loss in those transactions with Beijing CIFI

Modern (10,781) -
REBERIERBESZRH Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
R EREE Beijing CIFI Modern 412,616 -
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19. R DEMWERS ()

BEASELXENUBEHEE (B)

S S

mBEE
FREBEE
mBRIE
FRBEE

Yoz
FEEE

BB ER SR RE S I BRET
ERNEE RN ERREEYR

MaEBNAEHE
AKE S EB A
L)

GEEY N

REE NS BB
RS REE

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(Continued)

Nanchang Moma

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Revenue
Loss for the year

Net assets of Nanchang Moma

Proportion of the Group’s ownership

interest in Nanchang Moma
Loan to Nanchang Moma

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest

in Nanchang Moma

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

20145 M20134F
12A31H 12A31H
ARE T ARBTF T
At 31 At 31
December December
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,028,836 -
104,655 -
563,472 -
180,000 -
BZ20145F HZE2013F
12HA31H 12H31H
LEE IFFE
ARMTF T ARET T
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
(13,144) —

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Nanchang Moma
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

20144 20134
AR T T ARKFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
390,019 =
65% =
29,928 =
283,440 =
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19. REEENER &) 19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) B
&

BASELENUBERHE (B) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures gffﬁi
(Continued) B

&85 HKNo.5 af
<

>

20145 720134 |

12A31H 12H31H Z

ARBFT — AREFT g

At 31 At 31 3

December December o

2014 2013 =

RMB’000 RMB’000 ’§

=}

RENEE Current assets 1,480,846 - e
EMBEE Non-current assets 20,946 - &
TEARE Current liabilities 546,829 = -
EmEAE Non-current liabilities 1,000,000 = ?,
[0

o

BZE20145F #HZE2013F

12A31H 12H31H

IEFE HFE

AR T ARKEFIT

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wz Revenue = =

FEEE Loss for the year (54,296) =

LB ERBEERE S H SRR Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

RN BSOS IREE YR the carrying amount of the interest in HKNo.5 recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

201445 20134

AR¥TF ARMTF T

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

EASHBEFRE Net liabilities of HKNo.5 (45,037) =

REBNEBSBHEERE Proportion of the Group’s ownership

et olsdlll interest in HKNo.5 51% =

mEBSIEHER Loan to HKNo.5 562,207 —
REBEREBSR Carrying amount of the Group’s interest

ERMEREE in HKNo.5 539,238 -
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g 19. AEELENER &) 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
Z BAGE T ENWUBERHE () Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
= (Continued)
P
E REERLR Wuhan MNS
o
E R201445F 20134
E 12A31H 12H31H
AR¥For ARBEFT
At 31 At 31
December December
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
mENEE Current assets 685,023 -
ERBNEE Non-current assets 823 -
mENEE Current liabilities 637,148 =
ERBEE Non-current liabilities - -
HZE2014%F HZE20134F
12A31H 12H31H
IEFE HFE
AR%For ARBFT
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
Uz Revenue _ _
FEEE Loss for the year (1,302) =

B E R R B A O R AT
ERRNREERLEROESKREEY

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in Wuhan MNS recognised in

AR - the consolidated financial statements:
20145 20134
ARETFT AREFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RE2ERItRNEEFE Net assets of Wuhan MNS 48,698 -
AEERRZEERIERA Proportion of the Group’s ownership
B R LB interest in Wuhan MNS 45% _
mRZEERIERIEHER Loan to Wuhan MNS 277,500 =
RERZERILRETHZSE  Elimination on the Group's share of profit or
THHIEMAREB HERIEEE  loss in those transactions with Wuhan MNS (3,054) -
AEBERREE RIERH Carrying amount of the Group’s interest
ERSEREE in Wuhan MNS 296,360 -
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10. R EMNERS (&)

MBI TEARE EEE R EEH

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material

R2014%F 720134
12HA31H 12H31H
ARMTF T ARET T
At 31 At 31
December December
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBED(EZE The Group's share of loss in these joint
BEDEREE ventures (74,029) -
REBRZESELEN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group'’s
M AAREE interests in these joint ventures 585,045 =
20. B{E EEH B 20. ADVANCES TO EMPLOYEES

MEEBEHMNBRAERR  ETFE
A ZE12% I BHR201656 A EE - ZE
BIERAEEEREABEENBROAR
#10,239,0007T ©

Balances represent advances to employees, which are unsecured,
carry fixed interest rate at 12% per annum and repayable in
June 2016. The balance includes an advance of approximately
RMB 10,239,000 to a key management personnel.
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21.

22.

AIHEERE

JELEMIRE - WA ¢

Cura Investment Management
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
([ Cura Investment|) (KtzFa)

O + Design International
Corporation ([ O+ Design /)
(Btetb)

EmH et (Fitc)

HiaE -

(@) M20144%12A318 @ Itk & & {5Cura
Investment (—REFBK M EHS
BEEMALE B IR#1.833% (2013
£ :1.833%)

(b) H2014F128318 © & % B+ 50+
Design 376,450/% (20134 : 376,450
i) SR%0.4ZETHE AR © O+ Design
ARASHSEMKINAR - B ZE
B RIRME AR R LR AT RIS -

(© MNAE Z2014F12A31B L EE &
REEBEEMESPHIETHEARE
79,900,0007C * & A Al A— R AR EK
YHERBETABAR  EXBEKA
KRERRBEMEERITE - BREFRE
B SREEEEAEHROTN
ERAFBA + HELH P ATIE I 4 2
REATES -

HRAIHHERENGERA EEMGS
HEEA EFRITHASITEER
REE  RERMRE ARG AKAN
R ERE -

RBALHERAEENHNRES

R2013F12 A3 1 BB RSB E
FEARE LA i FEAENHEEE
Em R EBAT SR EE - K2014F12
A318 + AEBEKIRE L FE AR -

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

22.

201445 20134
AR¥TFT ARKEFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
Unlisted investment at cost:
Cura Investment Management (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. (“Cura Investment”) (note a) 33,350 33,350

O + Design International Corporation
("O+ Design”) (note b) 986 986
Wuxi Zhongjiekong (note c)

79,900 =

114,236 34,336

Notes:

(a)

At 31 December 2014, the investment represents a 1.833%
(2013: 1.833%) equity interest in Cura Investment, a private entity
established in the PRC which is involved in fund management.

At 31 December 2014, the Group held 376,450 (2013: 376,450)
preferred shares at US$0.4 each in O+ Design, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Its principal activity is provision
of energy-saving building design services.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, Modern Green
Development contributed an amount of RMB79,900,000 to Wuxi
Zhongjiekong, a limited liability partnership established in the PRC
whose principal activity is investing in property development industry
in the PRC. Modern Green Development is a limited partner according
to the limited partnership agreement of Wuxi Zhongjiekong, and has
neither control nor significant influence over Wuxi Zhongjiekong.

The available-for-sale investments are measured at cost less
impairment at the end of both reporting periods because the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the Directors
are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be reliably measured.

DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND
USE RIGHTS

The balance as at 31 December 2013 represented deposits paid by the
Group to PRC government for auction in relation to acquisition of land
use rights for lands situated in the PRC. As at 31 December 2014, the
land use rights have been successfully bidden by the Group.
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION

DATRA‘@F%%WI%%EE%%E%E

(BfE) RE#

R201351A18
R (H1I) A (Hit8)

#2013512A318

g (1) A (Hit8)
REFEB2ZEBANR
HEMBAR (Hit36)

120145128318

At 1 January 2013
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (Note 8)

At 31 December 2013

(Charge) credit to profit or loss (Note 8)

Charge to other comprehensive income for the year
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36)

At 31 December 2014

BRAHMBERRBERAZRE
L%Rﬁ:é?&ﬁaﬁﬁ%?fﬁfﬁ ® L/{TZ%EJE
I RE S ABEERIBAEHR DT -

ERERIRE E
ERERIAEAE

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the years:

REmE NEHB
REERH AARE THEER  EHERA E£3:]:
itk 25 BERE BE WERER NEER Hh At
AREFT AEEFT AEBFT AREFT AREFT AEEFT AREFT ANREFT
Temporary
Withholding Fair value differences  Revaluation
tax on change on Land  on property on owner
retained  investment appreciation sales and occupied
profits properties Tax loss  tax provision  cost of sales properties Others Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(17,874) (102,534) 16,875 209,667 130,659 (25,381) 20,921 232,333
(11,481) (21,559) (12,467) 39,761 70,497 12,698 (649) 76,800
(29,355) (124,093) 4,408 249,428 201,156 (12,683) 20,272 309,133
(17,695) (49,850) 7,750 53,026 (48,872) - 18,356 (37,285)
_ _ _ - . (338) = (338)
- - (1,448) - - - - (1,448)
(47,050) (173,943) 10,710 302,454 152,284 (13,021) 38,628 270,062

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purpose:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

FR P 71 B TR 2R BO% F SRR - iR 4 Bt
THRSRERBEEERRELCHEBE
Eo RERMEBEEEBENATFEELR

H

20145 20134
AR¥TT ARBEFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
317,112 338,488
(47,050) (29,355)
270,062 309,133

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
following unutilised tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in
the following years:
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23.

24,

EAERLIR (4) 23. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)
2014% 20134
AR¥FT ARKFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
SR AT B BREIH - To be expired on:
2015912 A31H 31 December 2015 5 5
201612 H31H 31 December 2016 13,205 13,205
2017912 H31H 31 December 2017 12,973 12,981
2018412 A31H 31 December 2018 6,086 6,125
2019512 H31H 31 December 2019 16,426 -
WARERBIRLERIAEER Total unused tax losses not recognised as
ANERAIEEERSE deferred tax assets 48,695 32,316
BIE B EFTISHE - ;5200841 A Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
1THE  EPEWEQRRIENE on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
Tk E) IR BB BAN TR o 02014512 subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred tax has not
A318 ' Y ARREHBBHREKF PR been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
B E AR Rt mnfEEERREZEAR respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated
#1,881,990,0007T (20134 : A K % profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB1,881,990,000
1,174,203,0007T) YE R IER TR B A5 - (2013: RMB1,174,203,000) as at 31 December 2014, as the
A 7% 2 5% [ Al 4% I 8¢ [0 B B Z RE A B Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
M R ZEEA A EERN A AR temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
M o differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
FE 24.INVENTORIES

FERBREMEL - R REAM

The inventories are raw materials, consumables and others.
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25 REFHEYE 25. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR B
SALE [IT]JE
M
20145 2013% B
ARMTFT  ARKTT
2014 2013 i%.
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 S
|
A COST s
F7) At the beginning of the year 2,936,051 3,570,940 %
NE Additions 3,780,618 1,527,477 ':i
RERTIZE) T 1285 Transfer from prepaid lease payment upon %’_
BRNHEERIE commencement of construction work 2,380,367 - =
BT REBREFEHEME Transfer to properties held for sale upon =2
completion (1,949,847) (2,029,764) 2
EEEYE  E NRE Transfer to property, plant and equipment - (33,856) _Q
WhE—RM BT (HfaE35) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) 143,059 = -
HEMBRAR (Mit36) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) (3,076,565) (98,746) g
g

FR At the end of the year 4,213,683 2,936,051

26.

BRAYFEHIMLAFE - BN F405F
E70F 2 -

R2014% 128318 AEEBE E#H A
R #1,223,378,0007T (20134 : A &
#390,675,0007T) KIERPFEDE
ERAEEERNSE THRTEEAM
& (FPAWFE3T) °

R2014F12831H EEE A AR
#953,688,0007T (20135 : A R #
1,571,790,0007T) WEBE R R FEWETE
R EERE - —@MARBRET -

FIFHEWS

AEEOFEHEMRAURATRE
BURHE -

2014128310 » AEBEEHF A
R #137,352,0007T (20134 : AR
319,197,0007T) MFFIESHE 2 - DAE
RAEBEERNE TRTME (ERW
£E37) °

26.

The properties under development are located in the PRC with
lease terms ranging from 40 to 70 years.

The Group had pledged properties under development for sale
of RMB1,223,378,000 (2013: RMB390,675,000) at 31 December
2014 to secure certain banking and other facilities granted to
the Group as set out in Note 37.

As at 31 December 2014, properties under development
for sale with carrying value of RMB953,688,000 (2013:
RMB1,571,790,000) are expected to be completed after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group's properties held for sale are stated at cost and
situated in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2014, properties held for sale of
RMB137,352,000 (2013: RMB319,197,000) are pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group as set out
in Note 37.
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+ 27. EG R HAMPEWR - £ KTE 27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

= N AND PREPAYMENTS

=

=

,E; B RWFEZBIEREWMES R EHE Trade receivables mainly are rental receivable and receivable from

= BRI - REEERE  HPETE sales of properties. Pursuant to the lease agreements, rental

§ EREEDR HeAREETEE - & payment is required to be settled in advance with no credit

= BEEMENREDREEBEEE RS period being granted to the tenants. Considerations in respect

E BRI - BERB WS 2 BReFT45H of properties sold are paid in accordance with the terms of the
N AT e related sales and purchase agreements, normally within 45 days

from the agreement date.

20145 20134

AREFT ARKEFIT

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

B SN - MRS Trade receivables, net of allowance 74,560 15,892
AR EM P ErE R 3K Advances to suppliers of construction

(Kiata) materials (note a) 53,182 65,262

H4h FEUCRIE - FOBR B Other receivables, net of allowance 248,588 77,205

B - I E R R R Prepaid LAT and business tax 322,911 304,556

EEEREEEATESERY  Guarantee deposits for housing provident

ERTFHR (KaEb) fund loans provided to customers (note b) 9,218 4,775
708,459 467,690

Bfat - Notes:

(a) H2014%128318 -+ [AEEREELZ (@) As at 31 December 2014, advance to a supplier of RMB5,580,000
A K #5,580,0007T (2013412 A 31 (31 December 2013: Nil) was impaired and fully provided because
H:Z) BREREEGREREE RE the counterparty was liquidated and the Group does not hold any
ERZHFEER  MAKEWEE L collateral over this balance.

B AR -

(b) EFERHEEEABLERNERER (b) Guarantee deposits for housing provident fund loans provided to
EBEHRREEAESEEFL (BEL customers represent amounts placed with Housing Provident Fund
ERERARABEESNBRERE) e Management Center, a state-owned organisation responsible for
B UEREFMEREEIEAEEE the operation and management of housing provident fund, to
# HERFESUEBMAMBEER secure the housing provident fund loans provided to customers
HHRETALE - and will be refunded to the Group upon customers obtaining the

property individual ownership certificate.
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27. ESREMEVRE - e KA
EZNE )

AT RREREHRZEBREE EME
HERKFWEHAE (RESBHKa
R B MAE) R 5B R
DT

1A

RBEHR - 2 LAEZREFAR
BEERE S MEEMERUGK - L
BRE AEETELZSEHNTE
(EROEER I

BH RGO REREZZNT

Less than 1 year

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables based
on due date for rental receivables and receivable from sales
of properties, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates, at the end of each of the reporting period:

20145 20134
AR¥T T ARKEFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
74,560 15,892

All of the above trade receivables are overdue rental receivables
and receivable from properties sold but not impaired at the end
of the reporting period. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts on trade
receivables are set out as follows:

20145 20134

ARMTF T AREFT

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

F 1) At the beginning of the year 8,045 8,045
RE RN Provided during the year 697 -
FR At the end of the year 8,742 8,045

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts on other
receivables are set out as follows:

2014% 20134

ARMTF T AREFT

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

F 1) At the beginning of the year 14,800 14,190
RE N Provided during the year - 610
FR At the end of the year 14,800 14,800
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gl 28. ZMRFIBE RITHAEKIE 28.RESTRICTED CASH/BANK BALANCES AND
- & CASH
£
E 2014% 2013%F
m ARMTF T ARMTF T
S 2014 2013
: RMB’000 RMB’000
o
= A% P R RIS B Y Guarantee deposits for mortgage loans
ERTFR (Kfata) provided to customers (note a) 47,843 112,381
ERTEEYENERTR Guarantee deposits for construction
(KtaEb) of pre-sold properties (note b) 155,759 13,549
RITIE R ERTF K Guarantee deposits for bank
(Kiatc) borrowings (note c) 942,395 =
ZPRHIIR & R Balance of restricted cash 1,145,997 125,930

Hiet : Notes:

198

(a)

[ % P IR 218 B i R R I I
RIBITORB RS - AEFREHR TR
FPEORIBERBEETFPESWEBAM
BREE R

RIEF B 5 B A i ERE R BRM
MERXM  ARBENETOERERA
AAFRE TEENRENEMERK
B AERERMENFERTR © ZFK
EARNERSHENMSEA L HERERE
BHtERANNEREBENERER
LBEREMHNER - ZERTRE
RIEEHEREWEN TR T IR

(a)

Guarantee deposits for mortgage loans provided to customers
represent restricted cash placed with the banks to secure the
mortgage guarantees provided to customers and will be released
upon customers obtaining the property individual ownership
certificate.

In accordance with relevant documents issued by the PRC
local State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place the
proceeds received from pre-sale of properties as guarantee deposits
for construction of properties. The deposits can only be used to pay
for construction fees and purchase of construction materials of the
relevant projects when approvals are obtained from the PRC local
State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau. Such guarantee deposits
will be released according to the completion stage of the related
pre-sold properties.
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28. ZMRHIB L RITA SR KIE 28.RESTRICTED CASH/BANK BALANCES AND B
£ (&) CASH (Continued) ﬁ
i
(0 FA - AEBIEETRITERILUE () During the year, the Group obtained certain bank borrowings B
HIRTFRAEFEAR o secured by pledged deposits.
i
20145 20134 5
AREF ARHFTE z)
2014 2013 s
RMB’000 RMB’'000 %
2
RITERRFHEES Cash at bank and in hand 3,943,938 2,869,509 %’_
B XBRFIRE Less: Restricted cash (1,145,997) (125,930) ~
g
2,797,941 2,743,579 <
3
RITEREBR S EEAEEFENRS Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits g
KRBV HA BAPR 7 = & A sk LA T RY A2 BRfF held by the Group with an original maturity of three months or g
Koo less.
M2014F 128318 © ZEFHAFF The deposits carry variable rates of 0.35% (2013: 0.35%) per
& £0.35% (20134 : 0.35%) ° annum as at 31 December 2014,
MR2014F12A3MAMRITHE R KRR Bank balances and cash at 31 December 2014 were mainly
FEUARKEE - ARERBIETS denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency
RTIFTERRREE ARBHERXH in the international market. The exchange rate of RMB is
HFEBNEE  BESELPBEESH determined by the government of the PRC and the remittance
Bl T B < SN B HIlFE ME PR © of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.
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il 2. E5 R EHMEMNK - EUiFEL 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS
o RESTE RECEIVED AND ACCRUED CHARGES
=
= 20144 20134
= ARMTF T AE®F T
S 2014 2013
: RMB’000 RMB’000
(=}
= B ST Trade payables 462,216 338,660
FEstER S Accrued expenditure on construction 519,658 581,338
Ho At & 5 300R Other payables 224,748 163,078
H b FEH 1R Other tax payables 139,199 216,281
ERTIE Accrued payroll 36,987 48,807
R R HE KK Deposits received and receipt in advance
from property sales 3,835,135 3,570,342
H bt & A Other accrued charges 23,963 7,878
FERTAR & Dividend payable 701 270
BEEERFE Accrued interest on senior notes 112,188 -
EW P REM Amount due to then shareholder
JE <1 2 By AR BR B IR arising from acquisition of Suizhong
(H17E) Changlong (note) 131,952 -
5,486,747 4,926,654
HtaE - Note:
ZRETEER R RAREKERER - The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.
B I RN RN ET R BB ER K Trade payables and accrued expenditure on construction
AEEMIBEHBRS - HREBEASE comprise construction costs and other project-related expenses
STEMIEEEERN - AEEE HIE which are payable based on project progress measured by the
BERERER - BRAA BN KIE Group. The Group has financial risk management policies in
WMEEERAERE (F) - place to ensure that all payables within the credit timeframe, if
any.
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2. ES5 R EHMEMNK - EUWIHFEL 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS B
REER #) RECEIVED AND ACCRUED CHARGES (Continued) o
e
AT RAEmERR  BHENKILER The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on
H EARYBREC AT - invoice date at the end of reporting period:
R?l]
20145 20134 P
ARBFT — ARMTFT 2
2014 2013 s
RMB’000 RMB’000 &
=
1R Less than 1 year 381,178 220,248 g
1824 1-2 years 55,760 51,598 =
2FE3F 2-3 years 723 47,245 =
HBB3E Over 3 years 24,555 19,569 g
o
462,216 338,660 =
E
30. B{IBi1E 30. TAXATION PAYABLE
201445 20134F
AR¥Fr AREFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE At + M 32 (AR LAT payable 1,330,118 1,113,423
ERETSHR Income tax payable 387,200 340,083
1,717,318 1,453,506
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31. RITREMEER

RITER - BEA
HiE® - HEMA

=1

DN

1FAIZENR
ZME - BRBE2E

ZH2F - BETHEBESF

HaiB55F

B RBEETIFER
ElpiE/Or]

(R b e

BESNT (RE¥KES)
— RARKFHE
— B TEHE
— AZETTEHE

RIA T HARRAEER

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Bank loans, secured
Other loans, secured

The borrowings are repayable:

Within one year or on demand

More than one year, but not exceeding two
years

More than two years, but not exceeding five
years

More than five years

Less: Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities

Amount due after one year

Analysis of borrowings by currency
— Denominated in RMB
— Denominated in HK$
— Denominated in US$

20145 20134
AR¥F T ARBFoT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,480,217 864,110
315,000 390,000
1,795,217 1,254,110
20145 20134
AR¥T T ARBFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,314,317 256,910
365,900 827,200
115,000 60,000
= 110,000
1,795,217 1,254,110
(1,314,317) (256,910)
480,900 997,200
20145 20134
AR¥For ARBFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,658,900 1,234,600
136,317 =
= 19,510
1,795,217 1,254,110
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B1.EBTREMEBE &)

R ERREETIRITREMERTIA
BYRE37FTER RO AR B E AR o

R2014F12A31BMEEBIEZEE
5 A R #980,217,0007T (20134 :
A R #864,110,0007T) © 4F #| & <
F1.54%%F8% (20134 : 2.84% &
9.53%) ' AEBREMmMAZREREF
ZER - HHREEATEHEE - R2014
F1N2ANENEBRENENF2.59%F
10% (20134 : 10%%£12.8%) © K &
ERmAZ AR EERERR -

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Certain bank and other loans as at the end of the reporting
period were secured by the pledge of assets as set out in Note 37.

Borrowings include RMB980,217,000 (2013: RMB864,110,000)
variable rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from
1.54% to 8% (2013: 2.84% to 9.53%) per annum at 31
December 2014, and exposed the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The remaining borrowings are arranged at fixed rate,
the effective interest rate ranged from 2.59% to 10% (2013:
10% to 12.8%) per annum at 31 December 2014, and exposed
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

32. BAERE 32. SENIOR NOTES

20145 20134
AR¥ETFT ARET T
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’'000

R EY R BRE (B Carrying amount at the beginning of the
period 904,753 -
4T B B R IB %8 Net proceeds on the date of issue 1,819,134 891,952
R Exchange gain (4,469) (6,955)
B Interest expenses 180,586 20,425
EARHLE Interest paid (187,984) (669)
12 A31BRIRREE Carrying amount at December 31 2,712,020 904,753

(a) 2013FEETERE

M20135F11 848 - KA A 7 R K
& %899.561%M A R EITHRME
f£150,000,000% 7t (¥ A R #&
921,705,0007T) B ERE % E &
ZR (20138 =0 ZHK])) BF
FHES13.875% 0 AFEFX
- E2018F11 A48 BiIZEER
HIEE -

(a) 2013 USD Notes

On 4 November 2013, the Company issued guaranteed
senior fixed rate notes to the public with aggregate nominal
value of US$150,000,000 (approximately RMB921,705,000)
(the “2013 USD Notes”), at 99.561% of the principal
amount of the 2013 USD Notes, which carry fixed interest
of 13.875% per annum (interest payable semi-annually in
arrears) and will be fully repayable at par by 4 November
2018.
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32. B EE ©)

(a) 2013FEXTTEE (&)

32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

(a) 2013 USD Notes (Continued)
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013FXTRERFINKESFR H
FrAERRAR ([#XFT]) £ - B
EREX (FE) BERAAMER
E%  BARBRBAETHERR
(REBHBDERKIZHRBERIN) 12
- WABEEEEERER - AE
BERNBITAFER EANREHE
RARNEMBEEREEES -

MR20165F11 4B A1 © ANA R A BE
FriEiEmE b 230 (M3EHH) 2013
FEITLEE  BOERASFR20134F
ETEEKRLEI100% S H0E A%
BREA (WZEEAZEEAS
BHH1%MQBEER A SRR
Z20165F11 B4 W@ F B (3%
HE S A AS A 2 A& F = hn100fE &
R BAASENESHEIRS
) BEREZE (BETEE) BRA
M ERT RANFIB (0F) -

R20165F 11 A48 Al » AN 2 &) "] BE
BB O] 5 % 7K © ®E35%MJ20134F
ELER  BREA2013FETE
BARESEE113.875% MEFEE O
HHE (B EEH) WEST KA
ME (WAF)  UHEEERTEER
RSB - AR E TGG
FEBR o

The 2013 USD Notes are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Singapore Stock
Exchange”), are senior obligations of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, guaranteed by certain of the Company’s
existing subsidiaries other than those established under
the laws of the PRC. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to the other secured obligations of each
guarantor, to the extent of the value of assets serving as
security.

At any time prior to 4 November 2016, the Company may
at its option redeem the 2013 USD Notes, in whole but not
in part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount
of the 2013 USD Notes plus the applicable premium (which
defined as to the greater of (1) 1% of the principal amount
of such senior notes and (2) the excess of the amount
equivalent to the principal amount and related interest
up to 4 November 2016 discounted at a rate equal to
an adjusted treasury rate plus 100 basis points over the
principal amount), as of, and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

At any time prior to 4 November 2016, the Company may
redeem up to 35% of the principal amount of the 2013
USD Notes at a redemption price of 113.875% of the
principal amount of the 2013 USD Notes, plus accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date, with the proceeds from sales of certain
kinds of its capital stock, subject to certain conditions.



BOFB | RMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. BREE (&)

(a)

(b)

2013FEXTEE (&)

MR2016F 11 A4BH 2% » &AA 7
AT BERF N NS B B 2 20 ak 5852013
FELERE  BEHEAZR TR
CHEEDL  BMEFTEERAH
(BTEEH) MEFT RARTFHE
(E) WA TXAREFI1A
ARRRMI2EARRNER) -

A

20164
20174

EERn RPERAOBRENQ
R EBERIIREER MRS HRER
K-

2013F XL EBREAFEIIERD
BR B 1TRAI S $£4,292,0003 7T (4
A R #26,375,0007T) @ M20134F
ETEBNERENER14.83% °

IR FTIRE » 2013FETE
BER2014F12831BEN AR EE
#49 %145,047,0003 7t (49 A R #
887,543,0007T) * NIRE_EBHEA
A EBEE -

2014F AR¥EE

MN20145F1 8228 - KRRARIRAE
FH100% [ A RETHEMEARE
1,100,000,0007T B EREB L E L
ZRE([2014FARBERE] -
EFEFMEE11%  BAEBFEFI
F2017F 1228 B EEREE
;ﬁ °

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

(a)

Period

2016
2017

(b)

2013 USD Notes (Continued)

At any time and from time to time on or after 4 November
2016, the Company may redeem the 2013 USD Notes,
in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the
percentage of principal amount set forth below plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including)
the redemption date if redeemed during the twelve month
period beginning on 4 November of each of the years
indicated below.

FEE
Redemption Price

106.93750%
103.46875%

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the early
redemption options is insignificant at initial recognition and
the end of the reporting period.

The net carrying amount of the 2013 USD Notes is stated
net of issue expenses totalling US$4,292,000 (approximately
RMB26,375,000) and the effective interest rate of the 2013
USD Notes is 14.83% per annum.

The fair value of the 2013 USD Notes at 31 December 2014
with reference to the quoted market price available on
the Singapore Stock Exchange amounted to approximately
US$145,047,000 (approximately RMB887,543,000), which
is measured at fair value hierarchy of Level 2.

2014 CNY Notes

On 22 January 2014, the Company issued guaranteed
senior fixed rate notes to the public with aggregate nominal
value of RMB1,100,000,000 (the “2014 CNY Notes”), at
100% of the principal amount of the 2014 CNY Notes,
which carry fixed interest of 11% per annum (interest
payable semi-annually in arrears) and will be fully repayable
at par by 22 January 2017.
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32. B EE ©)

(b) 2014FE ARHERE (&)

32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

(b) 2014 CNY Notes (Continued)
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2014F AREEEREFI R E™

BEREX (FE) BRAARKE
%EH  AARRBREETHEBA
7] (RIEH BER KB A BIBRIN)
ER - WABEBEIERER - 8l
EAERNBITIRAFER ETEE
BERANEMEEMEMLEL -

201791 A228 /1 » &N Q&) AJBE
BB R 250 (MIEHD) 2014
FAREERE  BREHESN2014
FARBEEEARESE100% 5 N#E

AHRE (RER (NZEEEZERE
REEMI%RQOBENRE K
R ERSEEERIHANERE
FE GZHEERFE2%INE) BB
reBEMNESB s BEmE)  ERE
E(ETEBE) BRABNERTR
RIFE (WFE) -

It SN 2017818228 g0 K
NE) AR B B & % A2 KE35%
H2014F ARBEE BEHEAR
2014F ARBEEEARSEE111% 10
ZEOHE(ETEER) E@%ﬁ
MAMFE (20F) - AEE

ER T ZNIECS SR N |‘§2 %*
T ARBR ©

EERA REBELONBRENRS
R BERVIREER K &R E B RE&
1€ o

2014 A R ¥ 2 4% R | % B 7
ENENRBRBETAIEARE
26,310,0007T © M2014F A R #
ZEEMNEBERFENER11.97% °

The 2014 CNY Notes are listed on the Singapore Stock
Exchange, are senior obligations of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, guaranteed by certain of the Company’'s
existing subsidiaries other than those established under
the laws of the PRC. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to the other secured obligations of each
guarantor, to the extent of the value of assets serving as
security.

At any time prior to 22 January 2017, the Company may at
its option redeem the 2014 CNY Notes, in whole but not in
part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2014 CNY Notes plus the applicable premium (which
defined as to the greater of (1) 1% of the principal amount
of such senior notes and (2) the excess of the amount
equivalent to the principal amount and related interest
up to maturity date of such senior notes discounted at a
rate equal to 2% per annum over the principal amount),
as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not
including) the redemption date.

In addition, at any time prior to 22 January 2017, the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the principal amount
of the 2014 CNY Notes at a redemption price of 111% of
the principal amount of the 2014 CNY Notes, plus accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date, with the proceeds from sales of certain
kinds of its capital stock, subject to certain conditions.

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the early
redemption options is insignificant at initial recognition and
the end of the reporting period.

The net carrying amount of the 2014 CNY Notes is stated
net of issue expenses totalling RMB26,310,000 and the
effective interest rate of the 2014 CNY Notes is 11.97% per
annum.
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32. BREE (&)

(b)

(c)

2014FE AREERE (&)

ER2BEIRFTME - 2014F AR
ZEEMN2014F12A31BE 0 2 £ B
BE% A AR®1,031,239,0007T °
TERE_BHRAREEE -

2014FETEE

MR2014F7 8318 © KN R 7 & K
& %899.101% M A R E TR M@
{8125,000,000% 7T (X A R #
770,588,0007T) B ERE % E B
ZE(204FETEEK]) - BE
FEREB12.75%  BEELEX
- £22019F7A31BEKEAED
HEE -

2014 F ETEBR IR L™ - B
EREX (FE) BRARMER
&% AARRREETHEARR
(RIEHBREK IR FIBRIN) 42
R MUABEEEBEEAKE  BIF
BERNBITAFER ETREE
RABMEMEIEFSETEE -

M2017%67 A318 81 * AN & A BE
REEER 2 (MIEHD) 2014
FERILEE BREMAFN20145F
ETEEAREFEI00% S NEH %
BRERE WZEELEELASD
EH1% RQBERASER RET
E2017F7HA31B B EF B (%
SR TR A FEF = HN100MEE
) BAASENSHE LIRS
%) BREZ (BTEE) BR B
BAR T AR FIE (WnF) -

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

(b) 2014 CNY Notes (Continued)

(c)

The fair value of the 2014 CNY Notes at 31 December 2014
with reference to the quoted market price available on
the Singapore Stock Exchange amounted to approximately
RMB1,031,239,000, which is measured at fair value
hierarchy of Level 2.

2014 USD Notes

On 31 July 2014, the Company issued guaranteed senior
fixed rate notes to the public with aggregate nominal value
of US$125,000,000 (approximately RMB770,588,000) (the
“2014 USD Notes”), at 99.101% of the principal amount of
the 2014 USD Notes, which carry fixed interest of 12.75%
per annum (interest payable semi-annually in arrears) and
will be fully repayable at par by 31 July 2019.

The 2014 USD Notes are listed on the Singapore Stock
Exchange, are senior obligations of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, guaranteed by certain of the Company’'s
existing subsidiaries other than those established under
the laws of the PRC. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to the other secured obligations of each
guarantor, to the extent of the value of assets serving as
security.

At any time prior to 31 July 2017, the Company may at its
option redeem the 2014 USD Notes, in whole but not in
part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2014 USD Notes plus the applicable premium (which
defined as to the greater of (1) 1% of the principal amount
of such senior notes and (2) the excess of the amount
equivalent to the principal amount and related interest up
to 31 July 2017 discounted at a rate equal to an adjusted
treasury rate plus 100 basis points over the principal
amount), as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to
(but not including) the redemption date.
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32. B EE ©) 32.SENIOR NOTES (Continued)
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MR2017F7A318 A1 © NARAJBE
B B O] 5 % /A © B35%M20144F
ELEE  BREAR2014FETLE
BARSE112.75%MEFEERE B
H(ETESER) MBS RARMTF
B (nh) - HEEAETEHRERA
FIBREZ - AR E TIRGR
PR ©

R2017F7A31B 8 2% » KR A
A e B K NS B 0] 2 20 ek 2692014
FELEE  BREAEZERTIA
CEEOL  BMEFEED A H
(BETE&ER) WETERMNFE
(nAE) (MR T RS FNTA
31 HFEBA12ME A RER ) -

() 2014FEEREE (&) (c)

2014 USD Notes (Continued)

At any time prior to 31 July 2017, the Company may
redeem up to 35% of the principal amount of the 2014
USD Notes at a redemption price of 112.75% of the
principal amount of the 2014 USD Notes, plus accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date, with the proceeds from sales of certain
kinds of its capital stock, subject to certain conditions.

At any time and from time to time on or after 31 July 2017,
the Company may redeem the 2014 USD Notes, in whole
or in part, at a redemption price equal to the percentage of
principal amount set forth below plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date if
redeemed during the twelve month period beginning on 31
July of each of the years indicated below.

BEE
B Period Redemption Price
20174 2017 106.3750%
20184 2018 103.1875%

EXZRn RFEEDNBREND
R EER VIR TER R E B R R
K -

2014F ETERREFEIIERE
HBREE1TRISZ 2,955,000 7T (49
A R #18,226,0007T) © M20144F
ELEENEBRFNEER13.67% °

KRB ZATME - 2014FELE
B2014F12A31BEN AR BE
%4 /114,806,000% 7T (4 A R #&
702,498,0007T) * IRE R A
RIEEE -

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the early
redemption options is insignificant at initial recognition and
the end of the reporting period.

The net carrying amount of the 2014 USD Notes is stated
net of issue expenses totalling US$2,955,000 (approximately
RMB18,226,000) and the effective interest rate of the 2014
USD Notes is 13.67% per annum.

The fair value of the 2014 USD Notes at 31 December 2014
with reference to the quoted market price available on
the Singapore Stock Exchange amounted to approximately
US$114,806,000 (approximately RMB702,498,000), which
is measured at fair value hierarchy of Level 2.
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33. B 33. SHARE CAPITAL
KRB EHE x| HER
T TE7T AR®FT
Number of Equivalent
shares Amount to

‘000 usb’000 RMB’000

FRXEEO.013= LA TR AR Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each
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JETE Authorised:
R2013F1 818 (Afita) At 1 January 2013 (note a) 50 50 342
7R2013F6 A148B 9 Sub-division on 14 June 2013 4,950 = =
7201346 A 14BN Increase on 14 June 2013 (note a)
(Ktzta) 1,995,000 19,950 122,912
MN20135F12 8318 & At 31 December 2013 and
2014412 A318 31 December 2014 2,000,000 20,000 123,254
BEEITRER Issued and fully paid:
201341 A1H At 1 January 2013 50 50 342
R2013F6 148 0¥ Sub-division on 14 June 2013 4,950 = =
IR EFTEITRD (ffath)  Issue of shares by global
offering (note b) 400,000 4,000 24,653
BEAR(BTT (Mfata) Issued by capitalisation (note a) 1,195,000 11,950 73,615
F2013F12A31H & At 31 December 2013 and
2014412318 31 December 2014 1,600,000 16,000 98,610
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33.

34.

R ()
Hist :

(@) ARRRLEMMILE  SXERASD
50,0003 JT. * 2 /350,000 & & A% -
F1.00%E T °

RIBEARARER2013F6 140818
WEMRZE - ANARDEERATEBRE
B1.00E K EBAR D 7 A 1000% 8
B - FAE(EC.0135TT © MARFMA
7 % 2% F50,0003% JT # Z20,000,000
3 JT 0 £ E HN 8 n1,995,000,0008%
% 5 /2,000,000,0008% : 1M & A &
BEEELAHABEEREREEET
400,000,000/% 7% - AR AN (B AR A Pt
IR EEEREUNARRARASER
#11,950,0003 JT i E EH & & &N A &
1,195,000,000/% %17  # 2 EAAE o

(b) M2013%F78  ARRHALAFAESE
REBEAMBEEL 2EREE - 1T
400,000,000/ i » + & R%0.013E 7T -
BEBAETR.498TT - KRR ERFR
BTG - 2FRTE T EELZEER

SHf7 -
RIRERETE

RIZAERA T BUAR FOAR - AARIAF
BB ARAS N —RBEH HBEE
B ERERERNKRGTE - AEENTE
ERRZEHTAREENENREHN
RHES  MREFERSBNIREE
TRARSHNEEFAFEN —EAD
HEtE - RRARBENFEImE - AEE
MEREERRESELREMNK -

33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

34.

Notes:

(a)

The Company was originally incorporated with an authorised
share capital of US$50,000 divided into 50,000 ordinary shares of
US$1.00 each.

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the shareholders of the
Company passed on 14 June 2013, each ordinary share with a
nominal value of US$1.00 in the Company’s authorised share
capital was sub-divided into 100 ordinary shares with a nominal
value of US$0.01 each and the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from US$50,000 to US$20,000,000
divided into 2,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an additional
1,995,000,000 shares; and conditional on the share premium
account of the Company being credited as a result of the issue of
400,000,000 shares by the Company pursuant to the Hong Kong
public offering and global offering, the Directors were authorised
to capitalise an amount of US$11,950,000 standing to the credit of
the share premium account of the Company by applying such sum
to pay up in full at par 1,195,000,000 shares of the Company.

In July 2013, 400,000,000 shares of US$0.01 each were issued
pursuant to the initial public offering of the Company by way
of Hong Kong public offering and global offering at a price of
HK$1.49 per share. All the shares which were issued by the
Company during the year rank pari passu with each other in all
respects.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’'s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by the
local municipal government. The Group entities in the PRC
contribute funds which are calculated on a certain percentage
of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits
of the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.
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35. U BB T B 2 |

BIEERMEEXHERERKREESE
ERAR ([BERER] —RAAADH
REFREERFREMEFNQR) B
2013F 12 ASH AT M Mk © &R AR
EEUREHARE137,424,0007T |
BIREREBREEERRAR ([E
RETS ] FEZPREI100%KE) 1
2 EIRHE - RRAEREEREERY
AR #127,424,0007C - 2 X WEE R
HZE2014F12A31B IEFEK °

BEERGEEFHEMMNEGKREE
EAERERAANR2014F10815H 5] M H9
Wi EREEEEARBOARE
35,000,000C Y0 i EiBEES (3FE LE
BR$R35% MK HE) M2 P AR - R R EGE
REZEBRRERARE25,000,0007T °
=X WEERE E20144128318 1t
FETER ©

USRI E RS - P RERLE
FESNEEFELT

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to the agreement dated 8 December 2013 entered
between Modern Green Development and Modern Construction
Investment Management Co., Ltd. EREZNEEEGRAA
(“Modern Construction”), a company controlled by Mr. Zhang
Lei, the shareholder and director of the Company, Modern
Green Development acquired the entire equity interests in
Beijing Modern MOMA Investment Management Co., Ltd. it
REREHBKEEEREAR AR ("Modern Moma”) which held
100% equity interests in Suizhong Changlong, together with the
assignment of the outstanding shareholder loan of approximately
RMB127,424,000, in consideration amounted to approximately
RMB137,424,000. The acquisition was completed during the
year ended 31 December 2014.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 15 October 2014 entered
between Modern Green Development and Hangzhou Huagin
Investment Management Co., Ltd. #/NEHREEEER A A,
Modern Green Development acquired the entire equity interests
in Shanghai Yujing which held 35% equity interests in Shanghai
Shengming, together with the assignment of the outstanding
shareholder loan of RMB25,000,000, in consideration amounted
to approximately RMB35,000,000. The acquisition was
completed during the year ended 31 December 2014.

The net assets of Modern Moma, Suizhong Changlong and
Shanghai Yujing at the date of acquisition are as follows:

ik
=
Van
]
i
B
o
|
<
>
Il
<
o

o
o

=

>

=
Q

>

o
n
3.
>

g
Q)
°

.
3.
=
()

o

211



B Ot B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

] 35. WM B F) (@) 35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
z
g ERES
P= BHRE /S &%
m ARBFIT ARETT ARETT
S Modern
: Moma
E Suizhong  Shanghai
Changlong Yujing Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

TAUREE B B U EE 1Y Assets acquired and liabilities

EERBEIRANESE : recognised at the date of

acquisition:

ME - BB MR Property, plant and equipment 201 - 201

FEMHEERE Prepaid lease payment 136,642 = 136,642

ReBtENER Interest in a joint venture = 35,005 35,005

BRDFEYE Properties under development for sale 143,059 = 143,059

H R 3R R TR R Other receivables and prepayment 4,035 127,750 131,785

RITERAES Bank balances and cash 1,341 98 1,439

JE A & B AR B FIE Amounts due to then shareholder (127,424) (25,000)  (152,424)

H At e TR Other payables (147,854)  (127,853)  (275,707)
WEENEEZE Net assets acquired 10,000 10,000 20,000
EHERY Assignment of debt 127,424 25,000 152,424
URE AR E Total consideration satisfied by cash  (137,424) (35,000)  (172,424)
WBEENFERERS Net cash outflow arising on

acquisition:
[mEREKA Cash paid (137,424) (35,000)  (172,424)
DB RITEB LIRS Bank balances and cash acquired 1,341 98 1,439
(136,083) (34,902) (170,985)

BE2014F 128318 EFE - B RE The subsidiaries acquired did not contribute any significant
B RARNE SRS BEELERER results to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014.
FEER °
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36. HEH B2 A

M2014F3831H » AEBELEREE
SR EFEME N B A R35% /A%
REMK R A ARE140,000,0007T & A
R#80,500,0007T (FFIESHAHIEE19) o

R2014F8A31H  AEBHEWER
AR ZEE KA E EI0%KE KB
A AR #80,000,0007T (515 & 1AM 5
19) °

R2014%F9H30H » M EWEITL B
BEENRELE  REBAXEHEE
SHYIEHIRE (FEISERHIEE19) ©

M2013F3 8250 ERMEEXEHRE
REZRFLBROEZDZ  UAREBAR
#10,000,0007T 1 & A B A R E (K E
WHEIRE MEREREEET R
BEMY 2 PR AE -

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

36. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 31 March 2014, the Group disposed of 35% equity interests
in two subsidiaries, Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian
at considerations of RMB140,000,000 and RMBS80,500,000
respectively (details are set out in Note 19).

On 31 August 2014, the Group disposed of 40% equity
interests in a subsidiary, Wuhan MGD at a consideration of
RMB80,000,000 (details are set out in Note 19).

On 30 September 2014, the Group lost control over HKNo.5,
as a result of deemed disposal arose from an issue of ordinary
shares to Great Wall (details are set out in Note 19).

On 25 March, 2013, Modern Green Development entered
into a share transfer agreement with Modern Construction to
dispose of 100% equity interests in a subsidiary, Modern Moma,
which held 100% equity interests in Suizhong Changlong at a
consideration of RMB10,000,000.

20144 20134
ARKFT ARETFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000

KREBRHENEEREEDN Analysis of assets and liabilities over which

control was lost:

M - BE k& Property, plant and equipment 1,639 =
RIEHIBEE Deferred tax assets 1,448 _
BAAERUE Prepaid lease payment - 146,652
BRBFEYE Property under development for sale 3,076,565 98,746
Hfth MR R FB AT 5K Other receivables and prepayments 1,072,296 -
M AN BIFRIE Amounts due from the Group 35,857 -
RITHESRRRE Bank balances and cash 37,743 217
E 5 R EfERR Trade and other payables (1,060,991) (135,549)
e A EE IR Amounts due to the Group (2,363,841) (100,424)
HENEEFE Net assets disposed of 800,716 9,642
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36. HEME QR (#) 36. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
20145 20134
ARETFT ARETFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERARE : Consideration received:

BUWEE Cash received 300,500 10,000
Bl REs%E Total consideration received 300,500 10,000
o E A R e Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:

HeRE Cash consideration 300,500 10,000

HENEEFE Net assets disposed of (800,716) (9,642)

REEFI R The Group’s remaining interests and classified

(DERREEbERER) as interests in joint ventures 531,730 -

HEMBARREFHE RIS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and re-

(PBERINEERERR) W& measurement of remaining interests classified as
interests in joint ventures 31,514 358
HEELENESRATE Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
HEeRE Cash consideration 300,500 10,000
B HERNRTESRIRS Less: bank balances and cash disposed of (37,743) (217)
262,757 9,783
HZE2013F12A31HIEFE - AR During the year ended 31 December 2013, a gain amounted to
AR BRIl Y A B & B A R P E A RMB358,000 on disposal of subsidiaries to a company controlled
W zsm AR #5358,00070 B IS FERR o by a shareholder of the Company was recognised in equity.
FrEMBARERNEEBE20145F12 4 The subsidiaries disposed of did not have significant contribution
BHIEFERS SR RRETENE to the Group’s revenue, profits and cash flow during the year
AN NEK o ended 31 December 2014.
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37. EHEE 37.PLEDGE OF ASSETS B
RBEMRBERUTEE - tERAS The following assets were pledged to secure certain banking %'PI\HQ
EEERNE TRITREMEEARMAE and other facilities granted to the Group and mortgage loans B
MHEERERIZIEEFOER granted to buyers of sold properties at the end of reporting

period: =

>

20144 20134 4

ARMTF T ABRMETFIT s

2014 2013 &

RMB’000 RMB’000 ':i

3

KEYE Investment properties 388,556 195,194 %

AT ERIE Prepaid lease payments - 777,923 =2

BEpYyE Properties under development 1,223,378 390,675 O

B E W Properties held for sale 137,352 319,197 _Q

ME - BB NERE Property, plant and equipment 369,384 117,355 -

RITER Bank deposits 1,145,997 125,930 =5

XPEREIEAESR Guarantee deposits for housing provident 3
ERBERTER fund loans provided to customers 9,218 4,775
3,273,885 1,931,049

38. EAR R Hfth & 38. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

RERE IR - REE B LA TARE : At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
commitments:
2014% 20134
ARMTF T AE®F T
2014 2013
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
EEEREES S Contracted but not provided for in the
R B - consolidated financial statements:
— EEERPYENT T — Expenditure in respect of properties
under development 1,210,143 1,515,033
—BEME  BEK — Expenditure in respect of property,
REHZ plant and equipment 591 18,547
— BAWE T EAERNSE - Expenditure in respect of acquisition
of land use rights - 1,276,221
— BEAWEMEARRZ — Expenditure in respect of acquisition
of a subsidiary - 10,000
1,210,734 2,819,801
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39. HAREE 39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
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AEERETRITRONRIBRERM
BR ZFEBRESMALKENE
BRI LWRBER - REBEEROMK
o WMZEERIERIRBHRIA - AKE
ARAERKRTEEERERNZBER
ERE BB REMER - B - K
SEEREEBMMENEERBE -
ERERBEBERBERRH B HE
it YR BRERGEEEZRE
EZRR BVEHER  ERANNA
REEBMTRE - I RAKEH
AR BRBEREOERRE  RE
EERBERIK -

REHRRNREEERESELT

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks in connection with the
mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there
is default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with accrued interests thereon and any penalty
owed by the defaulted purchasers to banks. The Group is then
entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The
guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the
individual property ownership certificate. In the opinion of the
Directors, the fair value of guarantee contracts is insignificant at
initial recognition. Also, no provision for the guarantee contracts
at the end of the reporting period is recognised as the default
risk is low.

The amounts of the outstanding guarantees at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

201445 20134

AR¥FT ARMTF T

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

IR Mortgage guarantees 2,680,397 2,128,391
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39. HAREE (&)

40.

M2013F2H ' EREEEERILAE
RAEEMEREZBRAE (KR AIH
ME2ENBAR  [\WAZRALER
E] AXREEHEFREXATH
ERRGEMBAT EHE—REMRELE
FEEREALABEENESOEEE
SE(EEEESE]) MHEER -
201528 - HEREFEREEZRERE
EX WAERAEFSHERBEEEE
SENEXREEET BRAEBEUSIE
BBEMBRTEEA - ARREEEER
BB ENEMTAIEEAERES
RIATBE I P 2R BB 1B - WRR A%
FERFAREFNGRERTSHAEE
IR ERERTFEZE - R
2014512 A31 BT/ B o

REHEERRE
AEEESHEA

REE2014F12A31B IEFEERD
YIEE S WAL B ARE36,488,0007T
(20134 : AR%34,560,0007T) ° A&
ERHELHERARNDER—FE2-_+F
RN BB EHSAERENAS -

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

40.

In February 2013, Modern Green Development and Shanxi
Modern Green Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. LLI7EE £
AEEWEMZEAER QA (an indirect owned subsidiary of
the Company, “Shanxi Modern Green Real Estate”) were
involved in arbitration proceedings with a Hong Kong based
hotel management group (the “Hotel Management Group”)
specialising in the management of hotel residences and serviced
apartments in relation to management services of the Group’s
planned serviced apartments. In February 2015, the arbitration
proceedings were suspended at the request of Modern Green
Development, Shanxi Modern Green Real Estate and the Hotel
Management Group as the disputes were being resolved by
other means. The management of the Company has re-assessed
the likelihood of claim payment borne by the Group and
evaluated overall situations based on latest information, and is
of the view that the ultimate outcome of this legal proceedings
will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position
of the Group, with no provision was made as at 31 December
2014.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT
The Group as a lessor

Property rental income recognised during the year ended 31
December 2014 amounted to approximately RMB36,488,000
(2013: RMB34,560,000). The properties held by the Group for
rental purpose have committed tenants from one year to twenty
years with fixed rental.
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40. REHERIE &)

RBERR  ARECEBBEPUATR
REEEMEEFKIATA -

40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments
as follows:

20145 20134

AR¥TT ARKEFIT

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FRN Within one year 27,019 32,467
F_FEERF (BIEEEMTE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 53,555 67,748
AFi& After five years 37,673 35,195
118,247 135,410

4. IR GBI RIR S

RIEARFR2013F6 A 148 MR B
iR 8l ([MERERTE]) ARRES
g((E5g) IMNAEKEERLE
RENREBARARRD - (ERAEEEHA
SEMNERSET SRR E SRR

MR2014%12 8318 @ IR & 5+ & 7] 4#
BIHNBFRHEREEDBITRA
BB BB BEITRDEI0% - BER
160,000,0008% f& 1 o R &L 2= % tH B &
L1218 B HAR - REt8I T2 H
ENRSESTESBBREHBHE %
TR #91% + 18 & $316,000,0000% A%
?- BRENTEEZLEAELTINR
2E (R BRHBHBIAEERESR
FreRixtn B T WM E : (bh)REFER T A
HARTS(E & ¥ B B X AT S A 3R E R TR
BHDEHFHWHE  R(OBRHEE -

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 14 June 2013, the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) may grant options
to eligible employees to subscribe for shares in the Company,
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group.

The total number of securities available for issue under the
scheme together with the percentage of the issued share capital
that it represents is 10% of outstanding shares, representing
160,000,000 Shares as of 31 December 2014. The maximum
entitlement of each participant under the scheme in any 12
month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1%
of the shares in issue as of the date of grant, representing
16,000,000 shares. The exercise price of the options shall be at
least the higher of:(a) the official closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant; (b) the average of the official closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the 5 Business Days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.
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4. LB NS &)

MR2014F9H48 » ARRANERER
& ££25,700,00017 BB AR 7 LA R BB & £E
25,700,000 R A Al fn - HER AR
AT BB ETRMNA1.61% - B
RO BREFBOT

REBNEE2014F128318 ILEE
MAREREANEIEE T B
TR 4R X AR #1,275,0007T (2013

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

On 4 September 2014, the Company granted an aggregate
of 25,700,000 options to eight Employees to subscribe for an
aggregate of 25,700,000 shares in the Company, representing
approximately 1.61% of the shares issued by the Company as
at the date of grant. The details of the options granted are as
follows:

The Group recognised total expense of RMB1,275,000 (2013:
nil) for the year ended 31 December 2014 in relation to
share options under the Share Option Scheme granted by the

FE) e

BREHE
Number of
options
R2014F9 A3R R T ESMBAUE 13,900,000
Share options granted to directors
On 3 September 2014
R2014FIA3RR TFRENERE 11,800,000
Share options granted to employees
On September 3, 2014
BiREeg
Total share options 25,700,000

R2014F12 831 BAEI17{E
Exercisable at 31 December 2014 -
R2015612A31 BRI{T{E
Exercisable at 31 December 2015 6,425,000

EEREEANAARARENE T
BIRIRRIT A AITT (LR A A -

Company.

e BREa NS

Contractual life
Vesting period of options
Bl BEZ201559 A3 HRE25% 2
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2015 2 years
R B BZ201649 A30 BE25% 3%
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2016 3 years
R BHZ201749A38 8E25% 45
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2017 4 years
R BEE20185F9 A3RHIRI25% 5%
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2018 5 years
BB HZ201559 A3R HfE25% 2%
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2015 2 years
R BHZ201659 A3R HfE25% 3%
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2016 3 years
R REZ201759 43R 8R25% 4%
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2017 4 years
R B HZ201859 30 Bf25% 5%
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2018 5 years

The exercise of the Share Options by the eligible employees is
conditional upon the fulfilment of certain financial indicators as

set out by the Company.
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i 41. LR N RS (8) 41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
g (Continued)
E AARREBEEREFESNES REE The Company granted options to subscribe shares to directors
= BRERERONERE  FHEOT and other employees under the Share Option Scheme with the
g following details:
=
S ATERNAREHE
= Maximum Exercisable Shares
R2015F  H2016F  R2017F  R2018F  R2019F it
Kt A 9A3A8 9A3A 9A3A 9A3AR 9A3H A7 2
at at at at at Total
3 September 3 September 3 September 3 September 3 September shares
Date of Grant 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 granted
= 201459R4H
Directors 4 September 2014 Nil 3,475,000 3,475,000 3,475,000 3,475,000 13,900,000
&8 201459 R4H
Employees 4 September 2014 Nil 2,950,000 2,950,000 2,950,000 2,950,000 11,800,000
6,425,000 6,425,000 6,425,000 6,425,000 25,700,000

The fair values of the share options were calculated using the
binominal model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

BRENAABER _BARLGE -
BENBAZERIDT

BRERE B 5
Share option vesting date
20156 9H4H 2016F9H4H 20179 9H4H 2018F9H4H

4 September 2015 4 September 2016 4 September 2017 4 September 2018
BB 20149740 201459R48 201459748 20149748
Date of grant 4 September 2014 4 September 2014 4 September 2014 4 September 2014
IR B HIROfEHS 11987 11987 11987 1.1987T
Share price at the date of grant: HK$1.19 HK$1.19 HK$1.19 HK$1.19
1T6EfE 1.26/87C 12687 1,26/ 7T 1.26/87T
Strike Price HK$1.26 HK$1.26 HK$1.26 HK$1.26
g
Volatility 50% 52% 53% 54%
BRESH (F)
Life of the option (year) 2 3 4 5
ERBRANE
Risk-free rate of interest 0.42% 0.77% 1.04% 1.27%
BEx
Dividend Yield 9.5% 9.5% 9.5% 9.5%
REPEEE (TET)
Call option value (HK$'000) 1,341 1,562 1,672 1,719

HRARRNR FEkmE - B LKIE
RIBN G B3 B ] BB A A TR A SR BT AT
A BB RANELREZSE

Due to short trading history of the Company, the historical
volatility is based on historical share price movement of
comparable companies in the relevant periods matching
expected life of the share option.
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2. BEHEERERS 42. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS
(a) MEEHIR - AEBEEUW TS (a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group has amounts

TR FRIERAFEHIIAT

receivable from the following related parties and the details
are set out below:

201445 20134
AR¥ETFT AREFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
RELEZEFNAT Companies controlled by
Mr. Zhang Lei
IAE —EREBR AR Jiangxi First Estate Service Co., Ltd.*
(DCImE—mEl) ("Jiangxi First Estate") 463 -
PN Associate
IERERIER Beijing MNS 355,000 =
EELE Joint ventures
7 8 FETS Nanchang Moma 179 -
EELENHEAR Subsidiary of a joint venture
MR E AR Hunan Modern Green 148,752 -
B DR (K1) Total non-trade balance (note i) 504,394 =
RESXEEZEFNAF Company controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei
E—MERS (bR=) AR AF* First Estate Service (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
(TdbmE—MZ]) (“Beijing First Estate”) 1,137 =
W E —EREER AR Hunan First Estate Service Co., Ltd.*
i JES)) ("Hunan First Estate”) 1,931 =
1PN Associate
ItRERIER Beijing MNS 7,867 =
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il A2. BB T R R R 5 (#) 42.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
s TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
2
= (a) (#&) (a) (Continued)
=
5
= 20145 20134
~ AR¥FT ARETT
2 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
o 2 Joint ventures
LR Anhui Moma 19,163 -
tFEEER Beijing CIFI Modern 21,469 =
HHS HKNo.5 10,606 _
REERILR Wuhan MNS 6,786 -
B S st eriaEm (Matii) Total trade balance (note ii) 68,959 =
573,353 -
* EREEER N AR XA *  The English names of the companies which operate in the
HRE - KRB e PRC are for reference only and have not been registered.
Kt - Notes:
(i)  M20145F12A3VBERBIFEES (i) Balances at 31 December 2014 are of non-trade nature,
ME - mER REREAEREXK unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
Fr{EE -
(i) M2014F12A31B@EH R E FE (i) Trade receivables from related parties at 31 December 2014
WHBEER  RERAREXK are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, with
RREE - RBEAH (BEKREER aged within a year based on invoice date which approximated
HEES) BRIR R —5F the revenue recognition date.
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2. BEEMAERRRS (&)

RER - ANEE N T 5 BT 8

HRIBRFBEHINMT

RELE
HEER
)=Fipe
ZHER

RELENHELAR
e R AR
e ER

FEDEHEE (M)
RELEZHNAT

ERBERBRERR DA
(TiEBIE))

FEBEBRERMEEE (ER) BRAR

([F—EmRERE])
ERE-ME
BHRRREM (LX) BRAF*

ERREEEBRAA
([EREREXE])

B RERERE (Hiti)

* FEHEIAEE B 2 A AY XS E

H2ZE  PARE e

42. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group has amounts
payable to the following related parties and the details are

set out below:

Joint ventures
Nanchang Moma
Nanchang Xinjian
Anhui Moma

Subsidiaries of a joint venture
Hunan Modern Green
Hunan Modern Moma

Total non-trade balances (note i)

Companies controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei

Beijing Tongzheng Equipment Maintenance
Co., Ltd.* ("Beijing Tongzheng”)

First Moma Equipment Maintenance (Beijing)
Co., Ltd.* ("First Moma Equipment”)

Beijing First Estate

Modern Enlightment Technology (Beijing)
Co., Ltd.*

Modern Investment Group Co., Ltd.*
("Modern Group”)

Total trade balance (note ii)

20145 20134
AR¥F T AREF T
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
47,226 =
30,717 =
94,404 =
67 =
10,538 =
182,952 =
1,759 643

32 =

= 11,907

116 116
1,324 1,324
3,231 13,990
186,183 13,990

* The English names of the companies which operate in the

PRC are for reference only and have not been registered.
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2. BEEMAEERRRS (&)

(i) M2014F12A31BEHBIFES
ME - EIKE - RERAREXK

FEEE -

8

&

(i) FEATRAEE T H & 5 e A BB MK
- RERERERBEE - A
TRARERSHR  REFRAH
Z25ME Z 1% E 0 FE A B EsE 75 5K
HEERE DT

DR
1E24F
2E3F
3FEMNE

42. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) (Continued)
Notes:
(i) Balances at 31 December 2014 are of non-trade nature,

unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

(i)  Trade payables to related parties are unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand. The following is an aged analysis
of amounts due to related parties of trade nature based on
invoice date at the end of each reporting period:

20145 20134

AR¥FT AER®FT

2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

Less than 1 year 1,791 12,550
1-2 years - 1,324
2-3 years 1,324 -
More than 3 years 116 116
3,231 13,990




2. BEEMAERRRS (&)

(©)

AER - ARE R BTN
TS :

BBLaR

Name of related party

RELEEFNAA
Companies controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei

ERE-ME
Beijing First Estate

IR

Beijing Tongzheng

L REBHBREERR DA
([IEREHHH])

Beijing Moma Preschool Education
Technology Operations Co., Ltd.*
("Beijing Moma Preschool”)

F-EREHFELER (IR) ARDA*
(ABERBHHEELER
(ItR) BRAR)

First Moma Commercial Operation
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
(formerly known as Modern Resort
Business Operation Management
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*)

F-EBBIEMERE (ER) ARAR*

(A EHTEMELL (EX) BRAF

First Moma Real Estate Brokerage
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
(formerly known as Tong Zheng Lian
Hang Real Estate Brokerage (Beijing)
Co., Ltd.*

IS

Hunan First Estate

B O B 75 R 3% M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

42. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) During the year, the Group entered into the following

transactions with its related parties:

REME

Nature of transaction

HeWA

Rental income

MEEEREE

Property management services expenses
MEEERBEE

Property management services expenses

HEHRA

Rental income

HEUA

Rental income

FHEREREE

Real estate agency services expenses

FHEREREE
*)

Real estate agency services expenses

NEEERGE

Property management services expenses

20144
AR%FT
2014
RMB’000

801
22,938
4,563

254

9,880

Tk

&

]

i

B

of

Pl

20134 ™

AREFT |

2013 <

RMB’000 9

()

3

&

=

o

757 o

=

2

25,911 =

o

2,505 -

3.

254 3
136
1,790
3,169
7,542
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2. BEEMAEERRRS (&)

(c)

(%)
Ly

Name of related party

E-MERBHILER LA

Hubei First Property Service Co., Ltd.*
IRFE—D%E

Jiangxi First Estate
EReRENER (Ir) ARAA
Moma Club Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*

RS

Modern Construction

ERRAEEE

Modern Group
WEE—MERBERRA*
Shanxi First Estate Service Co., Ltd.*
F— BB

First Moma Equipment

BE AT
Associate

TRERILER
Beijing MNS

RELE

Joint ventures

ZRER

Anhui Moma

I RBEER
Beijing CIFI Modern

3257

Shanghai Shengming
&85

HKNo.5
REERIKR
Wuhan MNS

s EREEEN A RN E XS
HBE  BEEL -

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) (Continued)
RIME

Nature of transaction

NEEERGE

Property management service expenses

NEEERBE

Property management services expenses
R ON

Rental income

NEEEREE

Property management services expenses
MEX

Interest expense

MEXH

Interest expense

NEEBRBE

Property management services expenses

NEEERBE

Property management services expenses

MEHA

Interest income

RESMEFIFBAFRA

Income from provision of technical know-how
FMEHRA

Interest income

RESMEFIFBAFRA

Income from provision of technical know-how
FMERA

Interest income

FERA

Interest income

NEEBRBE

Property management services expenses
FERA

Interest income

42. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

2014
AREFTT
2014
RMB‘000
3,304
3,714
1,081

485

696
10,309

46

7,867

1,510
28,655
803
21,348
3,873
10,606

6,786

20134
ARETT
2013
RMB’000
1,883
3,771
720

1,538

10,768

* The English names of the companies which operate in the

PRC are for reference only and have not been registered.
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2. BEEMAERRRS (&)

€ -,

BRR— 2@ L EHE AR
AHBRBERHIRES6 -

HE20106012A31BIEFEE - K
SEERMEEEN —BEEBRE
EREEEEXEEZEESN2010F
MA9B T YW ipEFERAILERE
R TEHEREN—IEMHEE
B AREAL 071,000 %
T EMEREGENZEETAE
FREFHEEZETZES - HE
2014F12A31BEFE - A5 E
ERZRIERBETIHARKE
R FTHEEH A R - £5AA
R #407,0007T (2013F : AR ¥
407,0007T) °

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

42. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(©)

(Continued)

Details of disposal of subsidiaries to a related party are
disclosed in Note 36.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, an employee of
Modern Green Development of the Group used the property
developed by Beijing Modern City Real Estate pursuant
to the agreement dated 29 November 2010 entered into
between Modern Green Development and the employee,
with market value amounted to RMB4,071,000, the title of
the property will be transferred to the employee upon his
completion of the service period of 10 years. The Group
recognised this transaction as staff cost and contribution
from a company controlled by the shareholder amounted to
RMB407,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013:
RMB407,000).
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il 2. BT BRI S (4) 42.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
s TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
=
=
,E; (d) ATARIRERR - S FE404 (d) At the end of the reporting period, the future minimum
= ANEEE R HA AR B BT AR IK lease payment from related parties whereby the Group acts
§ HEBERIE as a lessor and included in Note 40 is as follows:
=
2 20145 20134
AREFT AREFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERE-YE Beijing First Estate
—FA Within one year 801 933
FEFEFERF In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BEEREMF) 200 1,056
1,001 1,989
b T RS 4h 3 Beijing Moma Preschool
—FR Within one year 241 241
F_FEFRF In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BRREEMF) 60 302
301 543
BRIR B RER DA HE S KA In addition to rental income from Beijing Moma Preschool,
Hh - A REREHEREAR QA Beijing Modern Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. dt &
(Mt=ER ) B 84b 5 EERS 4 #m REMERZEAR AR (“Beijing Modern”) has entered into
20098 H6HEI L M &t - a tenancy agreement with Beijing Moma Preschool dated
EETYHENEEDN TR - B2011 6 August 2009, to lease certain properties for operation
FIH21H & £2029F8H318 1k of preschool for a term of 20 years commencing from
RER20%F - FI=F %M - BHEW 21 September 2011 to 31 August 2029, with a rent free
EEOFEREFHEMES for the first three years and at a rent to be negotiated
commencing from the fourth year term of the lease
agreement.
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2. BEEMAERRRS (&)

(e) HEAREEABETIRS

MEAREEABHEYE

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

42. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e) Transaction with key management

20145 20134
ARM T ARBFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
Sale of a property to a key management
personnel 13,208 -

MREEASHM (RAFEXMN
TEZOME) NFBHRME
10 °

43. AR by B 12

AEBEEEEEANUBERASENER
REFERLE  ARNEBBLEBRER
R BBR R AR AL R - AEBEHE
BRERFEBEFETE -

AEBNEARBEEFER  BfE
N RZ2AEENEERBERENGRE
TRBEREARARBEE AEIEE
@ (BREBHTERA - FHEREEEN)
BATF - ARARNEARNRIBARRITER
EBRERARREEAREER (B
EBETRARFEE) B -

SEEHENEARME - EAREN
—%5  EBEEAARARREEE
AB AR - TRREE T ER
BREALHE -

The details of remuneration of key management personnel,
representing emolument of the Directors paid during the
year are set out in Note 10.

43. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the borrowings and senior notes disclosed in
Notes 31 and 32, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, reserves and retained profits. The capital structure of
the Company consists of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital, and take
appropriate actions to balance its overall capital structure.

ik
=
Van
]
i
B
o
|
<
>
Il
<
o

o
o

=

>

=
Q

>

o
n
3.
>

g
Q)
°

.
3.
=
()

o

229



B Ot B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

g 44. £ T H 44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
>
= (a) &M I AR (a) Categories of financial instruments
s
-
B 20145 20134
S ARMTFT  AREFT
~ 2014 2013
E RMB’000 RMB’000
KEH The Group
SREE Financial assets
Bk & e W R IE Loans and receivables (including bank
(BERTEHREIER) balances and cash) 6,442,031 2,967,381
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments 114,236 34,336
SRaE Financial liabilities
AT 2N BE Liabilities measured at amortised cost 6,168,846 2,674,861
VN | The Company
SREE Financial assets
B & e WRIE Loans and receivables (including bank
(BRERITHEBREES) balances and cash) 672,179 583,106
SRaE Financial Liabilities
KA 2N BE Liabilities measured at amortised cost 2,829,294 937,511

(b) £REKREEBFERBE (b) Financial risk management objectives and

230

AEENTIESRTABREES R
H Al fE YR - FEURBARE T 5R0R ~ &
RERE  RITEHRERE - BH
K ELAD R R - FEASBREE T 3RIR -
RITREMEEARBERRE - %
FeRTANFBHN S HEEM
i HzEem T AR ER R
AR RZ F B R R BR B T3 » AN
SEEEBSZSRBETERER
B UARE (R BE B S A AU IR EUE B
i

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amounts due from related parties,
restricted cash, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, amounts due to related parties, bank and other
borrowings and senior notes. Details of these financial
instruments are set out in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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44. £F T H ()

(b) SREMEEBFEREE (&)

ARBMEESE T RS RERIKH
BARIEA - RITEBREES R
TER - BERE  BNHEAR
RIE - B 5K E MR RIE KRN
BRE - ARBERERREZES
BTAEBENRRR DB HHZE
B 1T B % BE AR AR AR 3R R4
5 R B BB A UL IR BUE B 1
I

5 B

AR BT £ BRI R BN
% B % A [ B B T
% (RTX) -

REBERAFEARZNT SRR
HEE N EZZRRO A E

(1) MEREE

RRIRITERRFR - ZRH
R RRITERE RBATEK
MR B P B A RRTTRTERA R
K AmBERITRIE IR S EHZ
BFR) MRITHIGHE LR
KB MARBEREAZRER
EFERAR

AEEN AR BEMEERE
ZHRAMFESMEERELRRE
B - AEBERRY SN BT
MITETREANEPEATE
FEER - R BEEERE
FERRERYPEANEE

By o

AEBEAXESRAEARA
MR E R - BB AK
nBECEREE -

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

The Company’s major financial instruments include amounts
due from subsidiaries, bank balances and cash, bank
borrowing, senior notes, amount due to a subsidiary, trade
and other payables, and dividend payable. The management
of the Company considers that the risk associated with
these financial instruments is minimal and will manage and
monitor the exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effectively manner, should the
risk exists.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the market risks of
changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates
risks and other price risk (see below).

There has been no significant change to the Group’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk over the year.

(1) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances and deposits, restricted cash
and bank borrowings which carry at prevailing deposit
interest rates and variable rate based on the interest
rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China and
London Interbank Offered Rate.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to its fixed rate other borrowings and senior notes. The
Group currently does not use any derivative contracts
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
the management will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.
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44. €@ T H ()
(b) *REBREEEERKE (&)

w5 EkE (&)
(1) M@ (&)

S

i

ATEREDN HRIES |ME
HIRMRITEBRRTFR - ZR
IR e MF RRITEENEE,
B LA K% B R 4 P 4R B B0 AR RE
B (RBEEFEFRTTE)
MERE o 2 & AERR R EE
A B I ) 2 [ B B & DA T K
20(A 5% (BUZ RRITIEEM
5) RITB10MEEE (BHRTT
R R IF AR R BIZR S M
5 REE - AERED T
EIRITEE - |RITAEBRRIFR
ARZRHIREF RS ER]

fis K & £ F+ N (52010 E 26
(BMZBRITEEMS) M
FRBHMmE SRR TE - AR
£ B & =2014F12A8318 1t
FEEEN (HBRAEE R
ME) BRL EIHARE
1,245,0007T (20134 : A R
#909,0007T ) °

fi K = 7+ R FR101E = 26
(BRERITE AR RIF RIARZ R
FIEEME)  MABEME
HHERFTE  AIXNEEEZE
2014128318 I &£ E &
i A G SR A AR
2,958,000 (20134 : A B
#2,152,0007T) °
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared based
on the exposure to interest rates on bank balances
and deposits, restricted cash and variable rate bank
borrowings at the end of each reporting period and
the stipulated change taking place at the beginning
of the financial year and held constant throughout
the year. A 20 basis points increase or decrease for
variable rate bank borrowings and a 10 basis points
increase or decrease for bank balances and deposits
and restricted cash are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represent management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rate in respect of bank
borrowings, bank balances and deposits and restricted
cash, respectively.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 20
basis points in respect of variable rate bank borrowings
and all other variables were held constant, the Group'’s
profit (net of interest capitalisation effect) would
decrease/increase by approximately RMB1,245,000
(2013: RMB909,000) for the year ended 31 December
2014.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 10
basis points in respect of bank balances and deposits
and restricted cash and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s profit would increase/decrease by
approximately RMB2,958,000 (2013: RMB2,152,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The sensitivity analysis is not representative as the
exposure at the end of the reporting period does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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(b) SREMEEBFEREE (&)
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BRRR
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X ABERR o KR20145F
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

2)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risks through its
available-for-sale investments. At 31 December 2014,
the management considers that the Group’s exposure
to fluctuation in equity price is minimal. Accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of the group entities is RMB
in which most of the transactions are denominated.
Foreign currencies denominated transactions arise from
the Group’s overseas operation, such as purchases of
land held for further development and certain expenses
incurred. Certain bank balances and bank borrowings
are denominated in foreign currencies, while senior
notes are issued in US$ and expose the Group to
currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

BE =N
Assets Liabilities
M®12H318 M"12H31H
At 31 December At 31 December

20144 20134 20145 20134
AR¥TFT ARKEFTT AREFT AR®FT
2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
84,873 279,901 1,682,725 934,045
2,487 31,999 136,317 -
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44. €@ T H ()

(b) SREMREEBREREE (&)

s EE (&)
(3) HNERR (&)

REREHR - NRBASNE
AHEMEREENREBARGBZ

BREEWT
e us$
BIT HK$

AEENART B B EINE
MR - BEIRE I IME
R\ - RN R E B
EXRIMNERR

TRFINRE R E RS
TEBENTAEERARAY
BREINE R ANRBIEXH5%
MEEREESNBRE -
5% /A E 2 EIE A8 ABPE
R 51 Jo e B R R ) B RS S R
xR RIREEEHIMEE KK
BEAEEBNFG - BHRE
DITE BRSNS SHER R E
HE¥IRE  YREREHR
FROMNETE R 5% E BB H
BE o

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(3) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Company’'s foreign

currency denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:
BE =N
Assets Liabilities
M®12H31H8 M12H31H
At 31 December At 31 December

20144 20134 20145 20134
ARYFrr ANREFT AR¥FrT AREFT
2014 2013 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB*000 RMB’000

81,463 277,937 1,682,725 934,045
1,755 31,702 - =

The Group and the Company currently do not have a foreign
currency hedging policy but the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The following tables detail the Group’s and the Company’s
sensitivity to a reasonably possible change of 5% in exchange
rate of each foreign currency against RMB while all other
variables are held constant. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates.
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44. TRAT H (&) 44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) REAMREEBEERBE (4) (b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

SRR (&) Market risk (Continued)

(3) SNERK (&) (3) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
REEEEEROGRE DT An analysis of sensitivity to currency risk for the Group
W is as follows:

2014%F 20134
AR®F ARETT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEFHERFEM CRd) Increase (decrease) in post-tax profit
for the year
—EARBHETRE — if RMB weakens against US$ (79,893) (32,707)
— H AR ATRE - if RMB weakens against HK$ (6,691) 1,600
—BEAREBEETHE — if RMB strengthens against US$ 79,893 32,707
— HEAREN B TIHE — if RMB strengthens against HK$ 6,691 (1,600)
TREIIARRE R 8 The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to
RREFHE ¢ currency risk:
2014%F 20134
ARBETFT ARETT
2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB’000
FRERESNEN CRd) Increase (decrease) in post-tax profit
for the year
—HEARBHETLRE — if RMB weakens against US$ (80,063) (32,805)
—EARENEITTRE — if RMB weakens against HK$ 88 1,585
—EARENZTTHE - if RMB strengthens against US$ 80,063 32,805
—BEARENATHE — if RMB strengthens against HK$ (88) (1,585)
HBRETELEERED IR The currency risk sensitivity analysis for RMB against
201311 H K2014F7H % US$ for the Group and the Company are not
T AEEREARTARKEH representative of the exposure for the Group and the
ETHEKRREERE SN Company for the year ended 31 December 2014, as
TREAEERARBEE the US$ Senior Notes were issued in November 2013
201412 A318 IEFE 8 R and July 2014 respectively.

o
ZN

ik
=
Van
]
i
B
o
|
<
>
Il
<
o

o
o

=

>

=
Q

>

o
n
3.
>

g
Q)
°

.
3.
=
()

o

235



B Ot B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2014F12A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2014

44. €WMTIH (@) 44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) EREKREEBERBER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and
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=EREREE

MR2014F128318 » A&E B A Y
FrHRERBITEERAEE MRS
I RARMAS W EHAERE
EHBEENSAEERR - JIE
4+ B A HIFEARABRRAMIIESE
EREMEENREE - AR
IFTEBEN X ARBESTE - A1
EERBEERK  BRITEER
Fr A RER EREX IR 37T B U O] 1B HA (&
%o N ARBRESHMEBHRE
B E IR R R E 5 K H e SR
Ko e U BB 5 SRIB R AT YR B & &R o
E2IREHTBRABERFP S RE
MR RBEREE  YHASE
EREARNBELCRREHIERL
EIRIB R FTAG R AL AT ©

AEBEE 5 RYIGRHNE SRR &
BEXRER - AR ZARD BN %
BEXZHFREP -

policies (Continued)
Credit risk management

At 31 December 2014, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
and financial guarantees issued by the Group is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the amount of contingent liabilities disclosed
in Note 39. In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring
procedures are carried out to ensure that follow up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual
trade and other receivables and amounts due from
related parties at each of the end of the reporting period.
The amounts presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position are net of allowances for bad and
doubtful debts, estimated by the Group’s management
based on prior experience and their assessment of the
current economic environment.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade receivables, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.
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44. ERT B () 44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) £REKREEBERBEER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and

=ERREE (&)

HREHREERTHREROYEM
FOARBEARTRHEFPABENE
E5 BB ARIBERMART
RHER  EREBESZSA/ERY
HEBEEMNT0% - MRBEHFRER
HFARBEEERE  ABAREN
RITA BRAKEE R REREN
REMABRENE - EILFER
T AEEADRKEWHER I
EMHEBEME - Fitt - BEE
RBNE B EERSIBWER
EBREARERE - EEERS
HRZFRE AN REER - MY
ENMESRERSHE  #EHRT
MEBTHEBERMEARINEER
BEERBR RS EFRS
AEENEERRERERE -

BREF I RERESTREE
BRTREEFRNRTHTENS
BRIT #RBE2EERAREA
fR -

policies (Continued)
Credit risk management (Continued)

For properties that are pre-sold but development has not
been completed, the Group typically provides guarantees
to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties
for an amount up to 70% of the purchase price of the
individual property. If a purchaser defaults on the payment
of its mortgage during the period of guarantee, the bank
holding the mortgage may demand the Group to repay
the outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the
sales deposit received and resell the reprocessed properties.
Therefore, the management considers it would likely
recover any loss incurred arising from the guarantee by the
Group. The management considers the credit risk exposure
to financial guarantees provided to property purchasers is
limited because the facilities are secured by the properties
and the market price of the properties is higher than the
guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit rating agencies or state-owned banks
in the PRC.
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44. €WMTIH (@) 44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) EREKREEBERBER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and
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RBEL R EE

AEENBERDEBEREERR
BoBBMRBEEEZRNTE -
EXEBRTEERDESHNR - AT
HedemES RRKBANEEDN
HA REBERERE

TRHAVNAKEITE SR B ER
RBEHEHA - FREAKEA
EAMFNERAHNEREAER
MRRATRERK KT BRENE
RAHERE - MABRERF
BHX - QIR SBEARE LR
R RIGH o e F R E 2 A FI R R
EHEREE RN KA - RIZAH N
TRIIFTEFIRSRBETANE
BIEHED -

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk management

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use
of borrowings. The Directors closely monitor the liquidity
position and expect to have adequate sources of funding to
finance the Group’s projects and operations.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period. The amounts included
below for non-derivative variable rate financial liabilities
is subject to changes if changes in interest rates differ to
those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of
the reporting period.
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44. €T H (&) 44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) £REKREEBERBEER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
B ELREREE (1) Liquidity risk management (Continued)
nETY  REXEE AERRE

BRAI= FHME 123% BB3F REAE REE
% AEBTT AREFT ARETT ABETT ARETR
Weighted Repayable on

average  demand or Total
effective  less than 1 Over 3 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate year 1-3 years years  cash flows amount

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
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8 Non-interest bearing - 1,661,609 - - 1,661,609 1,661,609
ERIA Fixed interest rate

instruments 11.55 1,080,675 1,851,221 2,005,120 4,937,016 3,527,020
REIA Variable interest rate

instruments 3.64 731,373 337,349 89,562 1,158,284 980,217
HBEREY Financial guarantee contracts - 2,680,397 - - 2,680,397 -
R20145128318 At 31 December 2014 6,154,054 2,188,570 2,094,682 10,437,306 6,168,846
it 8 Non-interest bearing - 515,998 - - 515,998 515,998
EEIA Fixed interest rate

instruments 13.81 157,209 812,343 1,057,528 2,027,080 1,294,753
REIA Variable interest rate

instruments 5.31 310,694 500,089 170,723 981,506 864,110
BBERAY Financial guarantee contracts - 2,128,391 - - 2,128,391 -
20135128318 At 31 December 2013 3,112,292 1,312,432 1,228,251 5,652,975 2,674,861
BRI R A Y AL E A The amounts included above for financial guarantee
MIE RS FE RO ZLEE » A& contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
B 15 45 22 BE AT B 1 Sk & B (R be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
SHENNSRSLE BERRS guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
HEASREYTEER - ZN 42 B3 5 ] 4 counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at
SR ENRE LT AT AT o AT the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
bR A S T T AR R (R it is more likely that no amount will be payable under the
HEZEMAI e mAR - Migd @ arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
= K A] AE 1 BIBUR A Y T T B depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
RS REWSE LB EEERY under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
T BE M o that the financial receivables held by the counterparty

which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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ﬁ 44. SRLTH (&) 44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

>

= (b) EREKREEBERBER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and

,E; policies (Continued)

=

m

§ REELTEEEIE (&) Liquidity risk management (Continued)

—

N

E TRAJNARRRETECRBER The following table details the Company’s remaining
Fler & #EHH - contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.

mERE  REXEE FERRE

BRAZ FOME 123% BB3F RELE REE
% ARETT ARETr AREFT ARETT  ARETrT
Weighted Repayable on

average  demand or Total
effective less than Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1-3 years 3years  cash flows amount

% RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000

T8 Non-interest bearing - 117,274 - - 117,274 117,274
EEIA Fixed interest rate
instruments 10.29 345,873 1,731,247 2,005,120 4,082,240 2,712,020
12014128318 At 31 December 2014 463,147 1,731,247 2,005,120 4,199,514 2,829,294
it 8 Non-interest bearing - 13,248 - - 13,248 13,248
TEIA Fixed interest rate
instruments 14.83 112,609 401,667 1,057,528 1,571,804 904,753
FETIA Variable interest rate
instruments 2.84 20,019 - - 20,019 19,510
120134127318 At 31 December 2013 145,876 401,667 1,057,528 1,605,071 937,511
(c) 2REE (c) Fair value
TREENESHBEBENAREER The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
BRI S RES T AR EN A etermined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
BURRBRERENMAEEN d ined i d ith I d prici
DEEBEAEE - models based on discounted cash flow analysis.
BEDA NERBEHK  RAA The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
AN /Y A= /7 AN
21T 3R 3 A BB TS YR 3R financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
7~ 77 v =] VA 7

X e . cost in the Company’s statement of financial position and
RPARBRAIIEE 2 BE E K consolidated statement of financial position approximate

AN T E= 4
iﬂﬁﬁ\ﬁ’q,ﬂﬁﬁﬁéﬁi,ﬁjaﬁﬁm&ﬁ their respective fair values at the end of each reporting
BEME - period.
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45. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(a) Financial information of the financial position of the

Company:

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Interest in joint ventures

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amount due from a related party
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Accrued charges and other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Amounts due to related parties
Dividend payable
Bank borrowing due within
one year

Net current (liabilities) assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Senior notes

ft et

Notes

45(c)

45(d)

45(d)

45(e)

20145 20134
AR¥Fx AREFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,713,821 750,926
941,967 =
2,655,788 750,926
1,856 =
4,127 5,688
10,606 =
93,383 577,418
109,972 583,106
115,368 11,882
612 1,096

593 =

701 270

= 19,510

117,274 32,758
(7,302) 550,348
2,648,486 1,301,274
98,610 98,610
(162,144) 297,911
(63,534) 396,521
2,712,020 904,753
2,648,486 1,301,274
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i 45. X DRI BER (2 45. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY
ﬁg (Continued)
£
g (b) RARIRAKFEED : (b) Movement of capital and reserves of the Company:
=
S BA  RGEE  BREEE  2HEA it
~ ANEEFT ANEEFT ANEEFT ANEEFT ANEEFTL
E Share Share  Share option  Accumulated

capital premium reserve losses Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R2013F1A18 At 1 January 2013 342 - - (108) 234
RIHEA BT Capitalisation issue of shares 73,615 (73,615) = = -
8 EEE MR AR Issuance of shares in connection with
listing 24,653 448,698 - - 473,351
BORMES Share issue expenses - (16,105) - - (16,105)
EEER Loss for the year - - - (41,974) (41,974)
& Dividend - (18,985) - - (18,985)
M2013%F12A31H At 31 December 2013 98,610 339,993 - (42,082) 396,521
EERREE Employee share option scheme = - 1,275 _ 1275
FEER Loss for the year = = = (324,170) (324,170)
& Dividend - (137,160) - - (137,160)
R2014F12 318 At 31 December 2014 98,610 202,833 1,275 (366,252) (63,534)
() RfBRARMNEE (c) Investment in subsidiaries
201445 20134
ARB¥TT AEKEFIT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
IEETHIRD IR Unlisted shares, at cost 917 409,500
BIERKTBARNEE Deemed capital contribution to subsidiaries 1,712,904 341,426
1,713,821 750,926
(d) EW (1) BB ARKIE (d) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries

FE W () M B A B X IE B & K The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries are unsecured,

- RERERERKERE - interest-free and repayable on demand.
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45. XN BB ER (&) 45

(e) S|ITHEM

R2013F 108 * AR R BRITIE
5% B 5 B & 5X3,200,000% 7T
F = B2.6% 5 1w IR 1T R EIF
B BRAAREMNBARINIES
I - BHR2014F 518 -

46. TEME R EFE 46
46(a) A& X A1 FA20144F 2013612 A31
HEZEMBARGERT :
EMERL/
NRER 2% B
Place and date
of incorporation/
Name of Company establishment
ERNELR
Direct subsidiaries
BEMBERAH] RERAEE
2007 1A238
Great Trade Technology Ltd. BVI
23 January 2007
BENEAR
Indirect subsidiaries
AEERARAT &E
2007412 A28H
Jiu Yun Development Co., Ltd. Hong Kong

28 December 2007

B O B 75 R 3% M =
the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(e) Bank borrowing

In October 2013, the Company borrowed from a bank a
variable rate short-term loan of US$3,200,000 at interest
rate of 2.6% plus quoted London Interbank Offered Rate.
The loan was secured by a deposit placed by a subsidiary of
the Company and was fully repaid in 2014.

. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

46(a) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2014 and 2013 are as follow:

REBELRE
Equity interest
attributable to the Group
M2A318
At 31 December
EERE / ERERR
20145 0135 BRORGRZ/BERE TEER
Authorised/registered and
issued and fully paid/

2014 2013 paid-up capital Principal activities

100% 100% EERRAS0,000% T RERR
BETRERRAIET

100% 100% Authorised US$50,000 Investment holding

Issued and fully paid US$1

100% 100% JEEMA10,000/E7T REER
BT RERRZ10,000E7T
100% 100% Authorised HK$10,000 Issued Investment holding

and fully paid HK$10,000
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il 46. TEME R EFE #) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
ﬁg (Continued)
=
=
5 AEEEERE
= Equity interest
§ attributable to the Group
~ MM2A31H
E At 31 December
AL/ EERE / ERERR
NAEH BB AH 2014% 0135 BRARARZ /BHRE TEER
Place and date Authorised/registered and
of incorporation/ issued and fully paid/
Name of Company establishment 2014 2013 paid-up capital Principal activities
EREBIREREE (R) E 100% 100% sH&A AR 5,000,000 BRERREN
BRRE* (W) 2005494295 BHRAARHS,000,0007
Modern Moma Project PRC 100% 100% Registered RMB5,000,000 Project management
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* 29 September 2005 Paid up capital RMB5,000,000 and consulting
(note ii)
FRGRIRERER i 100% 100% & AR#20,000,0007 BEERER
BRRE (W) 2011528158 EARA AR%20,000,0007T
Beijing Green Project Management ~ PRC 100% 100% Registered RMB20,000,000 Construction project
Co., Ltd.* (note ) 15 February 2011 Paid up capital management
RMB20,000,000
trERBNHEES Gl 100% 100% sHEAARH1,000,0007 NRERBRRS
ERARNA* (Wit 2013%4A 228 BHRAARK1,000,0007
Beijing Green Power Commercial PRC 100% 100% Registered RMB1,000,000 Property development
Operation Management 22 April 2013 Paid up capital RMB1,000,000 related services
Co., Ltd.* (note i)
BfaRE* (Hiti) e 100% 100% HfEAARE200000000  BREAEEREH
20065630 AR AKH200,000,0007
Modern Green Industrial* PRC 100% 100% Registered RMB200,000,000 Investment management
(note i) 30 June 2006 Paid up capital RMB200,000,000  and consulting
EREELER (M) T 100% 100% FHMERARKS00,000000  WERE RER
2000694218 EQRAARMS00,000000C  BELE
Modern Green Development* PRC 100% 100% Registered RMB800,000,000 Property development,
(note i) 21 September 2000 Paid up capital RMB800,000,000  investment and

hotel operation

ERBHETENE el 100% 100% &R AR 30,000,000 NRER
RRERAR* (M) 2002454308 E&RA AR#30,000,0007

Beijing Aoxinjiyuan Real Estate PRC 100% 100% Registered RMB30,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (note j) 30 May 2002 Paid up capital RMB30,000,000



46. TEM B QA RFHE (&)

AR/
NRER R HRAH
Place and date
of incorporation/
Name of Company establishment
ERER (Hti) el
2000624158
Beijing Modern (note i) PRC
15 February 2000

ERERLARER (LR) BRAR
(TERERAH ) (Hetiii) 2011547198
Modern Oupulasi Technology PRC

(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* 19 April 2011

("Modern Oupulasi”) (note iif)
K RREEHERE HE

BBRAR (Hriti) 2001411 A 138
Beijing Dongjun Real Estate PRC

Development Co., Ltd.* (note i) 13 November 2001
oEH (hR) BERE e

BRAR (Hiti) 2006937228

New Power (Beijing) Architectural PRC

Technology Co., Ltd.* (note i) 22 March 2006
IAERAEEE i

BRAF* (Hrati) 200787 16A
Shanxi Modern Green PRC

Development Co., Ltd.* (note i) 16 August 2007
AERIZERE i

(frzti) 200787168
Shanxi Modern Green Real Estate PRC

(note i) 16 August 2007

(Continued)
REBEGRE
Equity interest
attributable to the Group
R12A31A
At 31 December
20145 2013F
2014 2013
100% 100%
100% 100%
55% 55%
55% 55%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

B O B 75 R 3% M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

EERE / ERERR
BRATRMRE / BERE
Authorised/registered and
issued and fully paid/
paid-up capital

&R AR #60,000,0007

B AR AR 860,000,000
Registered RMB60,000,000

Paid up capital RMB60,000,000

&R AKH3,000,0007T
ERIRAARH3,000,0007
Registered RMB3,000,000
Paid up capital RMB3,000,000

& A AR #569,000,0007

B AR AR 569,000,007
Registered RMB569,000,000

Paid up capital RMB569,000,000

&R AR #30,000,0007C
EHRA AR%30,000,0007
Registered RMB30,000,000
Paid up capital RMB30,000,000

& A A K 190,000,0007
EARA AR 190,000,007
Registered RMB190,000,000
Paid up capital RMB190,000,000

M E A& AR 150,000,007
E4RA AR™150,000,0007
Registered RMB150,000,000
Paid up capital RMB150,000,000

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

IRXH

Principal activities

ESEISE

Property development
and investment

R E)

Technology development
and consulting

MERERE

Property development

R E)

Technology development
and consulting

WEER

Property development

MERE

Property development
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46. TEMB R AIFE (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

FREEERE
Equity interest
attributable to the Group

R12R318
At 31 December
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Gk

Name of Company

EREX (i)
BRAR* (Hrti)

Hunan Modern Green Development
Co., Ltd.* (note i)

IREREESR
BRAF (M)

Jiangxi Modern Green
Development Co., Ltd.* (note i)

NIBGES
BRRE (W)
Jiujiang Moma Development
Co., Ltd.* (note i)

MLBEEXR
BRRA (i)

Hubei Wanxing Development
Co., Ltd.* (note )

NIERBRES
BRAR* (frzti)

Jijiang Modern Green
Development Co. Ltd.* (note ii)

ERER (i)

Modern Moma (note j)

g (i)

Suizhong Changlong (note i)

MR,/
KR A
Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Gl

2005694 14R
PRC

14 September 2005

i

2009% 128226
PRC

22 December 2009

R
20106124228
PRC
22 December 2010

e
2010414278
PRC
27 January 2010

hE

201462 A18H
PRC

18 February 2014

HE

2011F1 8118
PRC

11 January 2011

TE
2008417288
PRC
28 January 2008

20148

2014

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2013

2013

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

0%

0%

0%

0%

EERE / ERERR
BRTRMR /BARK
Authorised/registered and
issued and fully paid/
paid-up capital

A A& AR 200,000,00070

E iR AR 200,000,000
Registered RMB200,000,000

Paid up capital RMB200,000,000

& A AR %180,000,0007T
EHRAAR™180,000,0007
Registered RMB180,000,000
Paid up capital RMB180,000,000

FHfE A AR 140,000,000
FARRA ARE140,000,0007T
Registered RMB140,000,000
Paid up capital RMB140,000,000

& A ARE%100,000,0007T
EARAAR™100,000,0007
Registered RMB100,000,000
Paid up capital RMB100,000,000

&R A K 30,000,0007
EARAARE30,000,0007
Registered RMB30,000,000
Paid up capital RMB30,000,000

&R AR 10,000,007

B &R AR10,000,00070
Registered RMB10,000,000

Paid up capital RMB10,000,000

& AR AR ®10,000,0007C
EHRAAR™10,000,0007
Registered RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital RMB10,000,000

IREH

Principal activities

ES

Property development

L

Property development

DEER

Property development

EL

Property development

NEER

Property development

BRI

Investment holding

NEERE

Property development
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46. TEM B R EAFE (2 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

H_%Et
(Continued) EDE
i
2FEE§1E g
Equity interest -
attributable to the Group %
R12R318 5
At 31 December a
it/ EERA/ HREAR 5
AR RINSR ALY W4E  013F BRERME/ BERE 3330 &
Place and date Authorised/registered and ,:i
of incorporation/ issued and fully paid/ 3
Name of Company establishment 2014 2013 paid-up capital Principal activities %
>
sEeRE # w0 FEE ERESARMSONOINT  MEEE &
BRAR (i) 201453128 T ARE50,000,0007 3
Wuhan Green Development PRC 99.02% N/A Registered RMB50,000,000 Property development :
Co., Ltd.* (note ii) 12 March 2014 Paid up capital RMB50,000,000 ?,
3
trgEERREREES Gl 53.75% TR HMERARES00,000000r — REEEBREH
(BRa%) * ((HhEEe]) 2014448178 BARAARH800,000,0007T
Beijing Green Spring Equity PRC 53.75% N/A" Registered RMB800,000,000 Investment management
Investment Fund, LLP* 17 April 2014 Paid up capital RMB800,000,000  and consulting
("Green Fund")
TREREEER e 53.75% TEA FMEKRARE2000000000  NERE
RARRE (W) 201441 A8H BARA AR 200,000,000
Beijing Modern Moma PRC 53.75% N/A" Registered RMB200,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (note i) 8 January 2014 Paid up capital RMB200,000,000
Lssgs (i) Gl 100% 0% FEMEARAKH10,000,0007T RARRK
2013%10A23R BARAAR%10,000,0007
Shanghai Yujing* (note i) PRC 100% 0% Registered RMB10,000,000 Investment holding
23 October 2013 Paid up capital RMB10,000,000
ERmE (IR) BHESRE hE 100% TER &R AR100,0007 BHERE R
ARRE* (M) 2014%10A9A EABAARE100,0007T
Modern Pinye (Beijing) Real Estate  PRC 100% N/A " Registered RMB100,000 Real estate brokerage
Brokerage Co., Ltd.* (note i) 9 October 2014 Paid up capital RMB100,000 services
FEEREE (fRHE) FEETEHM 100% 100% 100%2&#TRETEIMNERER - NELR
BRARRT 2012104158 BHATRI00ET
America Modern Green Texas, US 100% 100% 100% of issued and outstanding ~ Property development
Development (Houston), LLC 15 October 2012 membership interest in

consideration at an aggregate
contribution of US$100
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+ 46. TEMB R AIFE (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
ﬁg (Continued)
=
=
(= —
£ AEBAHER
= Equity interest
§ attributable to the Group
~ M2A31A
E At 31 December
MR,/ EERE /ARERR
NRER BB AH 2014% 013% ERTRAZ/ BERA TEER
Place and date Authorised/registered and
of incorporation/ issued and fully paid/
Name of Company establishment 2014 2013 paid-up capital Principal activities
Crown Point Regional Center LLC ~ EB{EmEHI 100% 100% JEERA100%T REBRERS
201063318 EARA100%T
Crown Point Regional Center, LLC ~ Texas, US 100% 100% Authorized USD100 Investment immigration
31 March 2010 Paid up capital USD100 services
IRERGZEREZRER i 100% 100% &R AR30,000,0007T RERR
ARRA* 2013%12A3H ERRAARH30,000,0007T
(IBRaeEeER]) (HH)
Beijing Modern Green Investment PRC 100% 100% Registered RMB30,000,000 Investment holding
Fund Management Co., Ltd.* 3 December 2013 Paid up capital RMB30,000,000

("Modern Green Fund
Management”) (note i)

Hfst - Notes:

() BEARVARPEERAF - (i) These companies are PRC limited liability companies.

(i) ZERRHAREBINERF] - (i)  These companies are wholly foreign-owned companies.

(i) ERBARHA—RHINEGERF - (iliy Modern Oupulasi is a sino-foreign joint venture company.

* FEHRBARE R A Al X ST E RS *  The English names of the companies which operate in the PRC are
£ WARE e for reference only and have not been registered.

EERBINEEREHANEBEEREE The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the

BREAFECZHWBAR - EERE opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets

AR EMmMHB AR - BERAMREE of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the

ERBRILE - opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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46. TEM B QA RFHE (&)

WO ERERFEZREZNIFEZE
i) NS

TRINTEBEAFERERNA
SEERAMBARFIE

HZE2014F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2014

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

46(b)Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that
have material non-controlling interest

The table below shows details of a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling
interest:

FERERTED
RERREELH
Proportion of
equity interests and
voting rights held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests

PREFERERNER EHE S

Bl
WEAR M IREXBE 20145 2013% 20145 213% 20145 20135
ARETT ARETT AR¥TR ARETR
Place of
incorporation
and principal
Name of subsidiary place of business 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
HEES H Mz TEA TER Gyl
Green Fund PRC note N/A 20,375 N/A 369,616 N/A

MiaE - F2014F6R12H » NARIEE
2EWNBRARAIERGEESE
BRERDEEEHEREMNE
BESEERAT ([RAEMIR
BED T ABRHRAREE
AIREINBREZHE ([
Bzl BEBERERZE &
RN AREEHFBE RE
MREEBARBREBARE
370,000,0007T 2 B 5 B 2 77
AMFEESELRE - WKA
HEESZEBEFBREBA °

RE&RE R  LERFEESD
ZEEEA  EREREESER
REBEBA  UHGEESH
BEIRE - Ft - REESUAR
SEMBARSIR - mARAEM
REERA 2 BRFEMIAIFER
IR

Note: On 12 June 2014, Modern Green Fund Management, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Modern
Green Development entered into a partnership admission
agreement and an amended and restated limited partnership
agreement (the “Investment Agreements”) with Minsheng
Royal Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“MRAM"). Pursuant to the
Investment Agreements, the parties agreed that, among others,
MRAM invested in Green Fund by way of subscription for the
senior units in the amount of RMB370,000,000 and become a
senior limited partner in Green Fund.

Pursuant to the Investment Agreements, and taking into
account of the legal form of Green Fund, Modern Green
Fund Management is the general partner and has control
over Green Fund. Therefore Green Fund is accounted for
as a subsidiary of the Group and the senior units held by
MRAM is accounted for as non-controlling interests.
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il 46. TEME R EFE #) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
ﬁg (Continued)
£
= WOEEERFERERZNIERE 46(b)Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that
= MRS (&) have material non-controlling interest (Continued)
o
=
E EBBEERFERESHAER Summarised financial information in respect of a Group's
E MERARKBMBERBEEHRT 0 subsidiary that has material non-controlling interest is set
T o ATHHBERBEREER out below. The summarised financial information below
NRBIEEHATR S © represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
HEEED Green Fund
2014%F 20136
AREFT AREFT
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 612,898 -
EREBEE Non-current assets 199,171 -
mEaE Current liabilities 10,489 _
T ARE Total equity 801,580 -
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46. TENB A RIFE (@) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
WO EEERFEREZNHLE 46(b)Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that
MELDREE (&) have material non-controlling interest (Continued)
HERS (&) Green Fund (Continued)

220145 HZE2013%
12A31BLLEE 128318ILFE
ARKF T ARSTFT
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Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

RMB'000 RMB'000

Uz Revenue 31,162 =
A 2 Expenses (8,379) =
FE R F Profit for the year 22,783 =
ST ENRIR & R e Net cash outflow from operating activities (793,268) =
A EHNIR S RAERE Net cash inflow from financing activities 800,000 -
BHEmAFEE Net cash inflow 6,732 =
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Summary of Financial Information

£

YA

B 5t A1 1|7
PSR

FAFIE

AL
ZAUNEIE ZSUN
TR

Sl (X7) BF
AR%S

EERAME

mEE
mAR

ZAUNCIE 2PN
RN Fi
FEIE R =

RESULT

Revenue

Profit before taxation
Income taxes expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earning per share (basic),
RMB cents

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to
owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

BZE12A3MALLEE

For the year ended 31 December
201445 20134 20124 20114
AR¥BEET NR¥BET NR¥BET AREBET
2014 2013 2012 2011
RMB million  RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million
4,079 3,469 1,965 3,153
1,167 1,022 798 965
(626) (494) (320) (521)
541 528 478 444
521 529 471 432
20 (1) 7 12
541 528 478 444
32.6 38.1 39.3 36
15,178 11,053 8,391 7,920
(11,944) (8,582) (6,891) (6,845)
3,234 2,471 1,500 1,075
2,861 2,472 1,501 1,047
373 (1) (1) 28
3,234 2,471 1,500 1,075
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